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FORM 8-K/A
As used in this Current Report on Form 8-K, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "we," "us," "Big Flash," and "the Company," refer
to Big Flash Corporation, a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries.
This Information Statement and other reports that we file with the SEC contain certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties relating to, among other things, the closing of the Merger transaction and our future financial performance or future events.
Forward-looking statements give management's current expectations, plans, objectives, assumptions or forecasts of future events. All
statements other than statements of current or historical fact contained in this Information Statement, including statements regarding our future
financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forwardlooking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "anticipate," "estimate," "plans,"
"potential," "projects," "ongoing," "expects," "management believes," "we believe," "we intend," and similar expressions. These statements
involve known and unknown risks, estimates, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results
set forth in the information statement. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. You should be aware that our
actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements due to a number of factors such as:
o continued development of our technology;
o lack of product revenues
o successful completion of clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approval to market
o ability to protect our intellectual property
o dependence on collaborative partners
o ability to generate positive cash flow
o ability to raise additional capital if and when necessary
o dependence on key personnel;
o competitive factors;
o the operation of our business; and
o general economic conditions.
These factors should be considered carefully and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward looking statements These
forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and except to the extent required by federal securities laws, we
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is
made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our business or the extent
to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking
statements.
Section 2 - Financial Information
Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets
On April 28, 2006, we directly and indirectly through our Canadian holding corporation, completed the acquisition of 100% of the issued and
outstanding shares and warrants of IntelGenx Corp. ("IntelGenx"), a Canadian corporation based in the Province of Quebec, Canada. Following
completion of the acquisition, IntelGenx will continue its operations as a controlled subsidiary of Big Flash (the "IntelGenx Acquisition").
We acquired the shares of IntelGenx held by its principal shareholders pursuant to a share exchange agreement dated April 10, 2006 which we
entered into with IntelGenx and the principals of IntelGenx. We also acquired 100,000 common share purchase warrants of IntelGenx pursuant
to a securities purchase agreement which we entered into with Patrick J. Caruso, in exchange for 100,000 common share purchase warrants of
Big Flash. We also acquired 3,191,489 common shares of IntelGenx from [34] investors. These investors had subscribed for and purchased
their IntelGenx shares pursuant to subscription agreements entered into and accepted by IntelGenx on April 28, 2006 and letters of transmittal
and acceptance and powers of attorney executed by the investors.
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Terms of Share Exchange Agreement
Our special purpose Canadian subsidiary, 6544361 Canada Inc., completed the acquisition of the 10,991,000 common shares of IntelGenx held
by Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe and Joel Cohen (the "IntelGenx Principals") pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement and other agreements
among Big Flash, its wholly owned subsidiary 6544631 Canada Inc. ("Exchangeco"), the IntelGenx Principals and Equity Transfer Services
Inc. ("Equity"). Under the Share Exchange Agreement, Exchangeco acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of IntelGenx
held by the IntelGenx Principals in exchange for 10,991,000 Class A Special Shares of Exchangeco ("Exchangeable Shares"). At closing of the
Share Exchange Agreement, Big Flash, Exchangeco, the IntelGenx Principals and Equity entered into an Exchange and Voting Trust
Agreement (the "Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement") pursuant to which 10,991,000 shares of Big Flash common stock (the "Trust
Shares") were issued to Equity, in its capacity as trustee for the Principals, as security for Big Flash's covenants under the provisions of the
Exchangeable Shares. At closing, Big Flash, Exchangeco and Equity also entered into a support agreement ("Support Agreement") which,
among other things, sets forth the terms and conditions upon which the IntelGenx Principals may exchange the Exchangeable Shares for a
corresponding number of shares of Big Flash common stock. Big Flash may satisfy its obligations by instructing the Trustee to deliver one Big
Flash common share for each such Exchangeable Share. Big Flash, Exchangeco, Equity and the IntelGenx Principals also entered into an
escrow agreement (the "Escrow Agreement") pursuant to which the IntelGenx Principals have deposited into escrow with Equity, as escrow
agent, all of the Exchangeable Shares and they have undertaken to deposit with Equity any Trust Shares for which the Exchangeable Shares
may be exchanged from time to time, over a term of 3 years following closing. The Escrow Agreement provides that the Exchangeable Shares
and any Trust Shares held in escrow may not be sold, assigned or transferred, except as expressly permitted under the Escrow Agreement, and
shall be released from escrow at the end of the 3-year term.
The Trustee, as the holder of record of the Trust Shares, shall be entitled to all of the voting rights, including the right to vote in person or by
proxy the Trust Shares on any matters, questions, proposals or propositions whatsoever that may properly come before the stockholders of Big
Flash or at a meeting of Big Flash stockholders or in connection with respect to all written consents sought by Big Flash from its stockholders
(the "Voting Rights"). The Voting Rights shall be and remain vested in and exercised by the Trustee. As further particularized in the Exchange
and Voting Trust Agreement, the Trustee shall exercise the Voting Rights only on the basis of instructions received from the IntelGenx
Principals entitled to instruct the Trustee as to the voting thereof at the time at which the stockholders meeting is held or a stockholders' consent
is sought.
To the extent that no instructions are received from an IntelGenx Principal with respect to the Voting Rights to which such person is entitled,
the Trustee shall not exercise or permit the exercise of such Voting Rights.
Under the terms of the Exchangeable Shares, the IntelGenx Principals will have the right to exchange the Exchangeable Shares for a
corresponding number of shares of Big Flash common stock at any time after closing of the transaction. Prior to the exercise of such exchange
rights, Equity will be the owner of record of the Trust Shares and will retain power to vote the Trust Shares or grant consent in regard to any
and all matters presented for approval by the holders of Big Flash common stock. Under the terms of the Exchange and Voting Trust
Agreement, Equity, in its capacity as trustee, will act in regard to such matters only in accordance with instructions given by the IntelGenx
Principals, respectively.
In its capacity as trustee, Equity does not have any powers of disposition over the Trust Shares except as expressly required under the
Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and the Support Agreement.
All of such Exchangeable Shares and the Trust Shares were issued pursuant to the exemptions from registration provided under National
Instrument 45-106 under Canadian securities laws and will be exempt from registration under the
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Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to Section 4(2) of that Act and Regulation D - Rule 506 and/or Regulation S promulgated
thereunder.
Immediately prior to closing of the Share Exchange Agreement, IntelGenx issued 3,191,489 common shares to 34 investors ("Investors")
pursuant to private placement subscription agreements at an issue price of (Cdn.) $0.47 per share. At closing, all of the 3,191,489 common
shares of IntelGenx held by the Investors were transferred to Big Flash pursuant to Big Flash in exchange for 3,191,489 shares of Big Flash
common stock pursuant to letters of transmittal and acceptance and powers of attorney executed by the Investors.
At closing, we entered into a securities purchase agreement ("Caruso Securities Purchase Agreement") with Patrick J. Caruso pursuant to which
we purchased from Mr. Caruso warrants to purchase 100,000 common shares of IntelGenx at (Cdn.) $0.47 per share on or before March 15,
2008 in exchange for which we issued to Mr. Caruso warrants entitling the holder to purchase 100,000 shares of Big Flash common stock at
$0.41 per share on or before April 28, 2008. Additionally, at closing, we entered into a business consultancy agreement ("Caruso Consulting
Agreement") with Mr. Caruso pursuant to which we issued to Mr. Caruso 325,000 shares of Big Flash common stock as a non-refundable
retainer, and in full payment of investor relations services to be rendered by Mr. Caruso under the agreement.
After giving effect to the issuance of the 10,991,000 shares of Big Flash common stock under the Share Exchange Agreement, the issuance of
3,191,489 shares of Big Flash stock to the Investors, the issuance of 100,000 warrants of Big Flash pursuant to the Caruso Securities Purchase
Agreement and the issuance of 325,000 shares of Big Flash common stock pursuant to the Caruso Consulting Agreement, the number of Trust
Shares that will be issued to Equity as trustee for the Vendors in the aggregate will constitute 68.7% of the approximately 16 million shares of
Big Flash common stock that will be issued and outstanding. After giving effect to the issuance of the shares of Big Flash in connection with
the IntelGenx acquisition, Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe and Joel Cohen will, pursuant to rights attached to the Exchangeable Shares to be issued to
them under the Share Exchange Agreement, be entitled to acquire and beneficially own, respectively, 4,709,643, 4,709,643 and 1,571,713
shares of Big Flash common stock constituting, respectively, 29.4%, 29.4% and 9.8% of the Big Flash common stock that will be issued and
outstanding.
Prior to the completion of the IntelGenx acquisition and except for the Share Exchange Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, neither IntelGenx nor the shareholders of IntelGenx were or have been engaged in any direct or indirect transaction with Big Flash
and the IntelGenx acquisition is not considered a related party transaction.
Pursuant to the terms of the Support Agreement, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares will economically benefit to the same extent as direct
shareholders of Big Flash in the event of any dividend or other distribution.
Exchangeco shall on any day ("Redemption Date") to be determined by Exchangeco's board of directors after the tenth anniversary of the date
of the IntelGenx acquisition, redeem the then outstanding Exchangeable Shares for an amount per Exchangeable Share (the "Redemption
Price") equal to (I) the current market price of a Big Flash common share on the last business day prior to the Redemption Date (which may be
satisfied in full by Exchangeco causing an instruction to be given to the Trustee to deliver, in respect of each Exchangeable Share held by each
respective holder thereof, one Big Flash common share, and obtaining written confirmation of such delivery by the Trustee), plus
(ii) the unpaid dividend amount, if any, on each such Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record date which occurred
prior to the Redemption Date.
The Exchangeable Shares may, at any time prior to the Redemption Date, be exchanged by any of the IntelGenx Principals in exchange for the
same number of shares of Big Flash common stock. The number of shares of Big Flash common stock to be transferred to the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares upon such exchange will be subject to corresponding adjustment in the event of any Big Flash
-4-

securities dividend, forward split, reverse split, or similar event. The holders of the Exchangeable Shares will also benefit to an identical extent
as all other Big Flash shareholders in the event of a tender offer or other similar transaction.
All Big Flash events related to payment of dividends, redemption or purchase or any capital distribution in respect of Big Flash common shares
or any shares other than the Exchangeable Shares, redemption or purchase of any shares other than the Exchangeable Shares, or issuance of any
other exchangeable shares, shall in each case be subject to approval by holders of not less than 66.6% of then-outstanding Exchangeable
Shares. In addition, Big Flash must obtain the same consent prior to any action to reclassify, subdivide, re-divide or make any similar change to
the outstanding shares of Big Flash, or effect an amalgamation, merger, reorganization or other transaction affecting the Big Flash shares of
common stock.
Business of IntelGenx
IntelGenx is a drug delivery company established in 2003 and headquartered in Montreal (Quebec), which focuses on the development of oral
controlled-release products for the generic pharmaceutical market as well as novel mucosal delivery systems. IntelGenx was incorporated on
June 15, 2003 by Ingrid Zerbe.
IntelGenx currently has two unique, proprietary platform technologies that it uses to develop products: a Tri-Layer Tablet technology which
allows for the development of oral controlled release products, and a Quick Release Wafer technology for the rapid delivery of
pharmaceutically active substances to the oral cavity. IntelGenx's Tri-layer technology is aimed at reducing manufacturing costs significantly
as compared to competing delivery technologies. The wafer technology allows for the instant delivery of pharmaceuticals to the oral mucosa.
IntelGenx's business strategy is to develop pharmaceutical products based on its proprietary drug delivery technologies and license the
commercial rights to competent partner companies once the viability of the product has been demonstrated.
The company currently has two unique, proprietary platform technologies that it uses to develop products: (a) a Tri-Layer Tablet technology
which allows for the development of oral controlled release products, and (b) a Quick Release Wafer technology for the rapid delivery of
pharmaceutically active substances to the oral cavity. The Company's Tri-layer technology is very versatile and reduces manufacturing costs
significantly as compared to competing delivery technologies. The wafer technology allows for the instant delivery of pharmaceuticals to the
oral mucosa and presently has no direct competition.
IntelGenx's business strategy is to develop pharmaceutical products based on its proprietary drug delivery technologies and license the
commercial rights to competent partner companies once the viability of the product has been demonstrated. The company focuses on lifecycle
management opportunities of existing blockbuster products using the 505(b)(2) approach to obtaining FDA approval. Under ss.505(b)(2) of the
US Food And Drug Act, the product will enjoy 3 years of market exclusivity after launch. Pharmaceutical companies will partner with drug
delivery companies who possess innovative technologies to develop these special dosage formulations.
IntelGenx has established a strategic partnership with Keata Pharma Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of PharmEng International Inc. based in
Markham, Ontario. Under this partnership, Keata Pharma provides pharmaceutical manufacturing services to the company and promotes
IntelGenx' product development services to interested pharmaceutical companies. In addition, IntelGenx and Keata are co-developing generic
products for the European generic market.
Technology Platforms
IntelGenx's Tri-Layer platform technology represents a new generation of controlled release layered tablets to modulate the release of active
compounds. The technology is based on a tri-layer tablet with an active core layer and two erodible cover layers. The release of the active from
the core matrix initially occurs in a first-order fashion. As the erodible layers start to disintegrate, the permeation of the active ingredient
through the cover layers increases. The
-5-

Tri-Layer tablet can thus produce linear (zero-order) kinetics for releasing a chemical compound over a desired period. The erosion rate of the
cover layers can be customized according to the physico-chemical properties of the active drug.
IntelGenx's Instant Delivery Film technology is made up of a thin (25-35 micron) polymeric film comprised of USP components that are safe
and approved by the FDA for use in food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic products. Derived from the edible film technology used for breath
strips and initially developed for the instant delivery of savory flavors to food substrates, the Instant Delivery Film has distinct advantages over
existing fast dissolving oral tablets which make it the application system of choice for indications requiring rapid onset of action like migraine,
motion sickness and nausea.
Intellectual Property and Patent Protection
We plan to aggressively continue to protect IntelGenx Corp.'s intellectual property and technology by applying for patent protection in the
United States and in the most relevant foreign markets in anticipation of future commercialization opportunities.
IntelGenx Corp. intends to file core technology patents covering the use of its platform technologies in any pharmaceutical products. IntelGenx
Corp. also relies on trade secrets, common law trademark rights and trademark registrations and intends to protect its intellectual property
through non-disclosure agreements, license agreements and appropriate restrictions and controls on the distribution of information.
----------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------------------ ----------------------Patent No.
Title
----------------------- -----------------------US 6,231,957
Rapidly disintegrating
flavor
wafer
for
flavor enrichment
----------------------- -----------------------US 6,660,292
Rapidly disintegrating
film
for
precooked
foods
----------------------US Appl.
10/123,142
----------------------US Appl. 60/755,280

-----------------------Flavored film
-----------------------Multilayer Tablet

----------------------- -----------------------US Appl. 60/748,298

Multi-Vitamin And
Mineral Supplement

US Appl. 60/772,547

Delayed Release Oral
Dosage Form And Method
Of Making Same

Subject
-----------------------------------The composition,
manufacturing,
and use of rapidly disintegrating
flavored
films
for
releasing
flavors to certain substrates
-----------------------------------Composition and manufacturing of
flavored films for releasing
flavors to precooked food
substrates
-----------------------------------Composition and manufacturing
method of multi-layered films
-----------------------------------Formulation and Method of
Preparation of Multilayered
Tablets
------------------------------------

Date submitted/issued
----------------------May 15, 2001

----------------------December 9, 2003

----------------------April 16, 2002
----------------------December 30, 2005
-----------------------

Formulation And Method of
December 7, 2005
Preparation of Prenatal
Multivitamin Supplement
----------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------------------ -----------------------

Formulation And Method Of Making February 13, 2006
Bilayer Tablets Containing
Delayed-Release Diclofenac And
Misoprostol
----------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------------------ -----------------------
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Product Portfolio
IntelGenx Corp. has assembled a product portfolio that includes an attractive blend of generic products that will generate short-term revenues
and high-potential opportunities that are based on the company's proprietary delivery technology.
INT0001/2004. This is the most advanced generic product involving IntelGenx's trilayer technology. Equivalency with the reference product
Toprol XL and its European equivalent Beloc-ZOK has been demonstrated in-vitro. The product has been tested in phase I studies.
INT0003/2005. The company has entered a development agreement with Cary Pharmaceuticals for the development of a once-daily tablet
product containing an antidepressant and a nicotine antagonist. The product is intended for smoking cessation.
INT0004/2006. The formulation development for a total of four strengths, two of them being 505(b)(2) submissions, are ongoing.
INT0005/2005. IntelGenx is developing a bilayer tablet containing a fixed-dose combination of a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug and a
synthetic prostaglandin. Formulation development is completed and a pilot bio batch has been manufactured.
INT0006/2005. IntelGenx has entered into a development agreement with Novavax Inc., a pharmaceutical company based in Malvern, PA for
the development and manufacturing of a prenatal vitamin supplement product involving the company's proprietary manufacturing technology
and expects to commence commercialization of the product in Q4/2006.
INT0007/2006. A wafer product based on IntelGenx's proprietary edible film technology is in its early development stage. The product is
intended for the treatment of erectile dysfunction (ED).
The key product opportunities are summarized in the following table:
-------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------------Product
-------------------------------------------INT0001/2004
-------------------------------------------INT0003/2005
-------------------------------------------INT0004/2006
-------------------------------------------INT0008/2006
-------------------------------------------INT0006/2005

Indication
---------------------------CHF, Hypertension
---------------------------Smoking cessation
---------------------------Antidepressant
---------------------------nicotine antagonist
---------------------------Pre-natal vitamin
supplement
-------------------------------------------- ---------------------------INT0005/2005
Osteoarthritis
-------------------------------------------- ---------------------------INT0007/2006
ED
-------------------------------------------- ----------------------------
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Status
---------------------------------Pivotal batches in preparation
---------------------------------Pilot biobatch completed
---------------------------------Formulation development
---------------------------------Early formulation development
---------------------------------Manufacturing scale-up
---------------------------------Pilot batch completed.
---------------------------------Pre-formulation activities
----------------------------------

Marketing
IntelGenx develops pharmaceutical products based on its proprietary drug delivery technologies and licenses the commercial rights to
competent partner companies once the viability of the product has been demonstrated.
The company is positioning its delivery technology as an opportunity for lifecycle management of products for which the patent protection of
the active ingredient is about to expire. While the substance patent cannot be extended, patent protection can be obtained for a new and
improved formulation, which has to be filed with the FDA under a 505(b)(2) application and will enjoy a three year market exclusivity.
IntelGenx' management believes that these "505(b)(2) products" represent the most lucrative opportunity for the company to date.
IntelGenx also focuses on generic products that are not 505(b)(2) candidates but that have certain barriers to entry where development and
manufacturing are more complex and therefore limit the number of potential entrants into the generic market.
Research and Development
IntelGenx is currently working on several 505(b)(2) opportunities using its Tri-Layer and Quick Release Wafer platform technologies. The
company sources its 505(b)(2) projects in two ways: either it develops a potential product to proof of concept stage and then solicits potential
pharmaceutical partners, or potential partners approach IntelGenx directly or through the use of an intermediary with a particular product
candidate for the company to work on. The pharmaceutical partners pay for the development costs and in return get the exclusive distribution
rights for the products. IntelGenx receives development milestone payments from its partners and royalties upon commercialization. Currently,
development fees and milestone payments account for 100% of the company's revenues, and 53% of the company's R&D expenses were used
to support partner programs.
In the future, in order to increase revenue, IntelGenx plans to take selected high-potential candidates through the development process itself and
then sign distribution agreements with pharmaceutical partners. This strategy is aimed at achieving higher down payments and larger royalty
payments on sales.
Competition
The company operates in a highly competitive environment. In order to establish itself as a viable industry partner and secure a stable growth,
the company has to continue to invest into R&D in order to further strengthen its technology base, and be able to manufacture its products
through its manufacturing partner at competitive costs.
Government Regulation
The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulated. The company has to remain current with FDA and other regulatory requirements in order to
get new products approved. The consequence will be higher R&D expenses in order to meet regulatory requirements. The company is
responding to these regulatory challenges by focussing on 505(b)(2) opportunities that, by applying its drug delivery technology to existing
drugs, give the company access to high-potential product opportunities by limiting R&D expenses and time-to-market compared to NDA
products.
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Employees
As of May 1, the company has 7 full-time and one part-time employee. Five full-time employees and the part-time employee are directly
involved in product development activities. The technical staff includes 3 Ph.D.'s, and one MD. The company believes that with its highly
qualified staff it is well prepared to provide high quality R&D services to its clients.
Facilities
The company currently occupies 3,100 square feet of leased space at a rate of Can. $8.29/square foot in an industrial zone in Ville St.-Laurent,
Quebec, Canada under a 5-year renewable lease agreement. The company is looking into expanding its laboratory space in order to continue to
support ongoing product development activities and allow the addition of further development programs. This may require the company to
move to a different location. Management has therefore entered into conversations with the current landlord to look for alternative facilities that
would meet the company's need for additional space at affordable costs.
Management
J. Rockwell Smith and Geoff Williams have each resigned as a director and officer of Big Flash. The remaining director, Edward F. Cowle, in
order to fill the vacancy created by Mr. Smith and Mr. Williams' resignations and to increase the size of the board of directors, has appointed
the following persons to serve as new directors, effective immediately upon completion of our acquisition of IntelGenx: Horst Zerbe, Ingrid
Zerbe and Joel Cohen. Following these appointments, Mr. Cowle also resigned as a director and officer. Horst Zerbe was appointed as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Big Flash following Mr. Cowle's resignation.
Information on our new directors and executive officers is set forth below:
Name
-------

Age
-----

Position
----------

Horst Zerbe

59

Director, President and Chief
Executive Officer

Joel Cohen

34

Director, Chief Financial Officer

Ingrid Zerbe

52

Director, Director of Finance and
Administration

----------------------------------------

The business experience for the past five years of each of the persons listed above and other key personnel and consultants, is set forth below:
Horst G. Zerbe. Dr. Zerbe has more than 20 years experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He has been the President and Chief Executive
Officer of IntelGenx Corp. since 2005; prior thereto, from 1998 to 2005, he served as the president of Smartrix Technologies Inc. in Montreal;
prior thereto, from 1994 to 1998, he was Vice President of R&D at LTS Lohmann Therapy Systems in West Caldwell, NJ. He has published
numerous scientific papers in recognized journals and holds over 30 patents.
Joel Cohen. Mr. Cohen has extensive experience in biotechnology and high tech financings and in financial analysis. From 2002 until present,
Mr. Cohen has been consulting CFO for Osta Biotechnologies a publicly traded company on the TSX venture. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. Cohen
was an investment banker at Canaccord Capital Corporation, where he specialized in biotechnology financings. He has worked on numerous
IPOs and private and public financings worth over $100
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million for various companies including Neurochem, Adherex, Bioniche, Diagnocure, Qbiogene and Aeterna. Mr. Cohen holds a Bachelor of
Commerce degree in Finance from Concordia University and is a Chartered Financial Analyst.
Ingrid Zerbe. Mrs. Zerbe is co-founder of IntelGenx. She holds a bachelor degree in economics from the business school in Bottrop, Germany,
and a bachelor degree in social sciences from the University of Dortmund, Germany. Ingrid served as the president of IntelGenx since its
incorporation until December, 2005. Prior to founding IntelGenx, she worked in the travel industry.
Key Personnel and Consultants
Pompilia Szabo. Dr. Szabo serves as IntelGenx Corp.'s Director of Research and Development and is a recognized scientist with 10 years
experience in the pharmaceutical industry and academia. Prior to joining IntelGenx Corp. in 2005, she served as Director of R&D at Smartrix
Technologies from 2000 to 2005.
Nadine Paiement. Ms. Paiement serves as IntelGenx Corp.'s Head of Formulation. She holds a M.Sc. degree in Polymer Chemistry from
Sherbrooke University, and is co-inventor of IntelGenx' trilayer technology. Prior to joining IntelGenx, she worked for five years as a
formulation scientist at Smartrix Technologies, Inc.
Legal Proceedings
There are no material pending legal proceedings to which Big Flash or IntelGenx Corp. is a party or to which any of our property is subject
and, to the best of our knowledge, no such actions against us are contemplated or threatened.
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following information relates to the operations of IntelGenx Corp. and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and
notes thereto appearing elsewhere in the Form 8-K/A.
Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year ended December 31, 2004
Because IntelGenx Corp. is still developing its platform technologies and related products, it has not realized significant revenues to date,
except for $257,374 in 2004, and $19,168 in 2005 from R&D services provided. Management believes that we may begin to realize increased
sales revenues by early 2007.
General administrative expenses increased by $35,978 (89%) from $40,350 for the year ended December 31, 2004 to $76,328 for the year
ended December 31, 2005. The increase is attributed to increasing activities to commencement of our business operations.
Costs related to research and development decreased from $131,547 in 2004 to $91,969 in 2005, which reflects the discontinuation of some
projects started
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in 2004. Management believes that with funding provided by the private placement of common stock, research and development expenses will
increase significantly during the remainder of 2006 and into 2007.
IntelGenx Corp. incurred interest expense of $1,921 in 2004 compared to $5,946 in 2005. Management believes that interest expense will
increase in 2006 compared to 2005 due to an increase in long-term debt related to the purchase of equipment.
IntelGenx Corp. recorded a loss of $125,520 in 2005 compared to earnings of $99,006 in 2004. Management believes that we will continue to
operate at a net loss until such time as we can complete our business development efforts and begin to realize increased sales.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2005, IntelGenx Corp. had cash on hand of $10,938, compared to $6,481 at December 31, 2004. IntelGenx Corp. also had
accounts receivable of $5,858 at December 31, 2005 compared to $18,159 at December 31, 2004 and income taxes recoverable of $9,400 at
December 31, 2005 compared to zero at December 31, 2004. IntelGenx Corp. also had investment tax credits receivable of $69,576 at
December 31, 2005 compared to $51,704 at December 31, 2004.
At December 31, 2005, IntelGenx Corp. had accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $67,322 compared to $53,432 at December 31, 2004.
Of these liabilities, approximately $31,600 (2004 - $45,000) was payable to shareholders. IntelGenx Corp. had income taxes payable of zero at
December 31, 2005 compared to $10,124 at December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2005, IntelGenx recorded a current liability of $14,000
(2004 - zero) which was the current portion of the long term debt.
Management believes that current cash on hand, when combined with the proceeds of private placement completed at the closing of the Share
Exchange Agreement, will be sufficient to satisfy our cash requirements for the next 12 - 18 months, which we estimate to be approximately
$900,000. However, if cash is needed during the next 12 months, it may be necessary to seek additional funds, either by private or public
sources and/or the sale of securities. Presently, there are no firm plans as to the source of any future funding and there is no assurance that such
funds will be available or, that even if they are available, they will be available on terms that will be acceptable to us.
At December 31, 2005, IntelGenx Corp. had total assets of $199,134 and stockholders deficiency of $31,827, compared to total assets of
$200,774 and stockholders equity of $95,361.
Net Operating Loss
IntelGenx Corp. has accumulated approximately $100,000 of Canadian and provincial income tax losses as of December 31, 2005, which may
be carried forward and offset against taxable income and income taxes in future years. The use of these losses to reduce future income taxes
will depend on the generation of sufficient taxable income prior to the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards after the year 2015. In
the event of certain changes in control, there will be an annual limitation on the amount of net operating loss carryforwards which can be used.
No tax benefit has been reported in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 because there is a 50% or greater chance that
the carryforward will not be used. Accordingly, the potential tax benefit of the loss carryforward is offset by a valuation allowance of the same
amount.
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Plan of Operation
Management expects that the net proceeds from the private placement completed at the closing of the Share Exchange Agreement will be
sufficient to fund the operations of the Company for the next 12 to 18 months. Although the Company does not anticipate requiring to raise
additional funds at this time, the Company may decide to raise funds through further private placements of Big Flash common stock depending
on changes in market conditions and business opportunities.
i. IntelGenx will continue to develop the products mentioned in the Product Portfolio section on page 7 of this Form 8-K. IntelGenx may also
perform research and development on other potential products as the opportunities present themselves. IntelGenx will continue working on
several 505(b)(2) opportunities using its Tri-Layer and Quick Release Wafer platform technologies.
In the future, in order to increase revenue, IntelGenx plans to take selected high-potential candidates through the development process itself and
then sign distribution agreements with pharmaceutical partners. This strategy is aimed at achieving higher down payments and larger royalty
payments on sales The Company does not plan to acquire a facility for manufacturing purposes. The Company purchases various pieces of
equipment from time to time as needed.
The Company intends to hire new personnel mostly for research and development on a progressive basis as the Company enters into additional
partnership agreements with pharmaceutical partners and increases its research and development activities.
Inflation
In the opinion of management, inflation has not and will not have a material effect on our operations in the immediate future. Management will
continue to monitor inflation and evaluate the possible future effects of inflation on our business and operations.
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth certain information as of April 30, 2006 with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock, after
giving effect to our acquisition of IntelGenx Corp., by (i) each stockholder known to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common
stock, (ii) by each of our directors and executive officers, and (iii) all of our directors and executive officers as a group. The address of each
person listed below, unless otherwise indicated, is c/o IntelGenx Corp., 6425 Abrams, Saint-Laurent, Quebec H4S 1X9. Unless otherwise
indicated in the table footnotes, shares will be owned of record and beneficially by the named person. For purposes of the following table, a
person is deemed to be the beneficial owner of any shares of common stock (a) over which the person has or shares, directly or indirectly,
voting or investment power, or (b) of which the person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership at any time within 60 days after the effective
time of the acquisition of IntelGenx Corp. "Voting power" is the power to vote or direct the voting of shares and "investment power" includes
the power to dispose or direct the disposition of shares.
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Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner
------------------------

Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership
---------------------

Percent of
Class (1)
-------------

5% Beneficial Owners
---------------------------

Horst Zerbe (2) 4,709,643.5 29.4% Joel Cohen (2) 1,571,713 9.8% Ingrid Zerbe (2) 4,709,643.5 29.4%
Directors and Executive Officers
All directors and executive officers 10,991,000 68.6% as a group (3 persons)
(1) Based on approximately 16,000,000 shares outstanding following the acquisition of IntelGenx Corp. (2) The shares indicated are
Exchangeable Shares in the capital stock of 6544631 Canada Inc., a Canadian special purpose corporation which wholly owns IntelGenx Corp.
as a result of the completion of the Share Exchange Agreement. The Exchangeable Shares are exchangeable for 10,991,000 shares of Big Flash
common stock currently held by Equity Transfer Services Inc., as trustee. Please see above "Terms of Share Exchange Agreement".
Executive Compensation
Prior to the acquisition of IntelGenx Corp., we have not had a bonus, profit sharing, or deferred compensation plan for the benefit of
employees, officers or directors. We have not paid any salaries or other compensation to our officers, directors or employees for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. We anticipate paying the following compensation for the year ending December 31, 2006.
Name and Position
------------------------

Horst Zerbe
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Annual Salary (1)
--------------------

$157,657

Bonus (1)
-------------

50%

Benefits (1)
-------------

$13,513

(1) All figures have been converted from Canadian dollars into US Dollars at an effective rate of 0.9009 US dollar per Canadian dollar
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTION
None.
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DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
We have an authorized capital of 20,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, and 20,000,000 shares of Preferred stock,
par value $0.00001 per share. As of April 30, 2006, 16,007,489 shares of common stock were outstanding, held of record by 72 persons
Common Stock
The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters voted on by stockholders, including the election of directors.
Except as otherwise required by law, the holders of common stock exclusively possess all voting power. The holders of common stock are
entitled to dividends as may be declared from time to time by the Board from funds available for distribution to holders. No holder of common
stock has any preemptive right to subscribe to any securities of ours of any kind or class or any cumulative voting rights. The outstanding
shares of common stock are, and the shares, upon issuance and sale as contemplated will be, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non
assessable.
Registration Rights
Following our acquisition of IntelGenx Corp., the following holders of our common stock will have rights to register those shares for sale to the
public under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"):
Name of Registered
Securityholder
--------------------------------------Equity Transfer Services Inc.
Equity Transfer Services Inc.
Equity Transfer Services Inc.
Patrick J. Caruso
1146992 Ontario Limited
Reiza Rayman
Shangrila Capital L. P.
David P. Coffin-Beach
Jonathan Clapham
Roger Wright
Wendelyn Financial Limited
Peter Shippen
Sigmond Soudack
Philip Turk
John Vaughan
Peter Turk
Sammy Tassone
Susie Tassone

Number and Kind
of Registrable Securities
---------------------------------------4,709,643.5 Big Flash Shares (1)
4,709,643.5 Big Flash Shares (1)
1,571,713 Big Flash Shares (1)
325,000 Big Flash Shares
and 100,000 Big Flash Warrants
106,383 Big Flash Shares
53,191 Big Flash Shares
212,766 Big Flash Shares
53,191 Big Flash Shares
212,766 Big Flash Shares
53,191 Big Flash Shares
21,277 Big Flash Shares
35,000 Big Flash Shares
106,383 Big Flash Shares
53,191Big Flash Shares
31,915 Big Flash Shares
31,915 Big Flash Shares
106,383 Big Flash Shares
63,830 Big Flash Shares
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Carmelo Buttice
Redwood Asset Management Inc.
Carlo Sansalone
Frank Calandra
Fabio Chianelli
Frank Calandra
Jackie Chang
Bulent Pakdil
DRD Capital Inc.
Frank Calandra In Trust
2099419 Ontario Inc.
Fevzi Ogelman
Jenny Altman
2100538 Ontario Inc.
2098205 Ontario Inc.
S. Paul Pathak
Elliot Birnboim
Risa Sokoloff
Dan Chitiz
Manoj Pundit

74,468 Big Flash Shares
212,766 Big Flash Shares
53,191 Big Flash Shares
212,766 Big Flash Shares
53,191 Big Flash Shares
212,766 Big Flash Shares
53,191 Big Flash Shares
21,277 Big Flash Shares
74,468 Big Flash Shares
63,830 Big Flash Shares
36,170 Big Flash Shares
375,641Big Flash Shares
127,659 Big Flash Shares
265,958 Big Flash Shares
138,297 Big Flash Shares
21,277 Big Flash Shares
10,638 Big Flash Shares
10,638 Big Flash Shares
10,638 Big Flash Shares
21,277 Big Flash Shares

--------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------TOTAL
3,516,489 Big Flash Shares
and 100,000 Big Flash Warrants

Notes:
1. These shares are currently held by Equity Transfer Services Inc. pursuant to the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement as security for the
obligations of Big Flash under the terms of the Exchangeable Shares and the IntelGenx Principals (comprising Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe and
Joel Cohen) shall be entitled to exchange his or her Exchangeable Shares for these Big Flash Shares subject to the terms of the of the
Exchangeable Shares.
MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON OUR COMMON EQUITY AND OTHER STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
There is not currently, nor has there ever been, a public trading market for our common stock. We have made an initial application to the
NASD to have our shares quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board. Our application consists of current corporate information, financial statements
and other documents as required by Rule 15c2-11 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
Inclusion on the OTC Bulletin Board permits price quotations for our shares to be published by such service. Although we have submitted an
application to the OTC Bulletin Board, we do not anticipate a public trading market in our shares in the immediate future. Any secondary
trading of our shares may be subject to certain state imposed restrictions. We do not have any plans, proposals, arrangements or understandings
with any person concerning the further development of a trading market in any of our securities.
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The ability of individual stockholders to trade their shares in a particular state may be subject to various rules and regulations of that state. A
number of states require that an issuer's securities be registered in their state or appropriately exempted from registration before the securities
are permitted to trade in that state. Presently, we have no plans to register our securities in any particular state. Further, our shares most likely
will be subject to the provisions of Section 15(g) and Rule 15g- 9 of the Exchange Act, commonly referred to as the "penny stock" rule. Section
15(g) sets forth certain requirements for transactions in penny stocks and Rule 15g-9(d)(1) incorporates the definition of penny stock as that
used in Rule 3a51-1 of the Exchange Act.
The SEC generally defines penny stock to be any equity security that has a market price less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions.
Rule 3a51-1 provides that any equity security is considered to be a penny stock unless that security is: registered and traded on a national
securities exchange meeting specified criteria set by the SEC; authorized for quotation on The NASDAQ Stock Market; issued by a registered
investment company; excluded from the definition on the basis of price (at least $5.00 per share) or the issuer's net tangible assets; or exempted
from the definition by the SEC. Broker- dealers who sell penny stocks to persons other than established customers and accredited investors
(generally persons with assets in excess of $1,000,000 or annual income exceeding $200,000, or $300,000 together with their spouse), are
subject to additional sales practice requirements.
For transactions covered by these rules, broker-dealers must make a special suitability determination for the purchase of such securities and
must have received the purchaser's written consent to the transaction prior to the purchase. Additionally, for any transaction involving a penny
stock, unless exempt, the rules require the delivery, prior to the first transaction, of a risk disclosure document relating to the penny stock
market. A broker-dealer also must disclose the commissions payable to both the broker-dealer and the registered representative, and current
quotations for the securities. Finally, monthly statements must be sent to clients disclosing recent price information for the penny stocks held in
the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks.
Consequently, these rules may restrict the ability of broker-dealers to trade and/or maintain a market in our common stock and may affect the
ability of stockholders to sell their shares.
Presently, there are approximately 72 holders, of record of our common stock. We have designated Interstate Transfer Company, 6084 South
900 East, Suite 101, Salt Lake City, Utah 84121, as our transfer agent.
Dividend Policy
We have not declared or paid cash dividends or made distributions in the past on our common stock, and we do not anticipate that we will pay
cash dividends or make distributions in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain and invest future earnings to finance operations.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
In connection with the acquisition of IntelGenx Corp., we issued a total of 10,991,000 to Equity Transfer Services Inc. and an additional
3,191,489 shares of common stock and warrants entitling the holder to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at $0.41 per share prior
on or before April 28, 2008. Additionally, we issued 325,000 shares of our common stock to Patrick J. Caruso pursuant to the Caruso
Consulting Agreement as a non-refundable retainer, and in full payment of investor relations services to be rendered by Mr. Caruso under the
agreement.
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The issuance of shares of our common stock and warrants to acquire shares of our common stock pursuant to the terms of the IntelGenx
Acquisition were made outside the United States only without registration under the Securities Act by reason of the exemption afforded by
Regulation S / Sections 4(2) of the Securities Act and/or Rule 506 promulgated thereunder. The shares and warrants and the shares issuable
upon exercise of the warrants are deemed restricted securities as defined by Rule 144 under the Securities Act and, accordingly, the common
stock and warrants are subject to restrictions on transfer and may be sold, assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of by a holder only if
subsequently registered or if federal and other exemptions from registration are available and an opinion of legal counsel to that effect is
obtained.
We have entered into a registration rights agreement pursuant to which we shall, within 90 days, file a registration statement under the
Securities Act for the public sale or resale of shares of our common stock. Purchasers of shares will have the limited right to include, or
"piggyback" their common shares in the registration statement. However, any investment banker and/or underwriter that we may engage in
connection with the registration statement and public offering may, in its discretion, severely restrict or completely negate the ability of
purchasers hereunder to include their shares in any such registration statement and public offering. Thus, the right to piggyback shares into a
registration statement will be subject to and contingent upon approval by such investment banker and/or underwriter.
INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Our Bylaws provide that we shall indemnify all directors, officers and other persons to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation
Law of Delaware. Under the indemnification provisions of our Bylaws, any director or officer who, in that person's capacity as such, is made or
threatened to be made a party to any suit or proceeding, may be indemnified if the Board of Directors determines the director or officer acted in
good faith and in a manner reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation. Our Bylaws, and the Delaware
General Corporation Law further provide that indemnification is not exclusive of any other rights to which individuals may be entitled under
our Charter, Bylaws, any agreement, any vote of stockholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise.
We also have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was our director, officer, employee, or agent, or
is or was serving at our request as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other
enterprise. Any such insurance may insure against any expense, liability, or loss incurred by any of the aforementioned persons in any capacity
or arising out of their status as a director, officer, employee or agent, whether or not we would have the power to indemnify the person against
liability under Delaware law. Presently, we have not acquired such insurance.
Section 5 - Corporate Governance and Management
Item 501 Change in Control of Registrant
As a result of our acquisition of IntelGenx Corp. that closed on April 28, 2006, there has been a change in the control of our company by way
of the 14,282,489 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock being issued to the stockholders
of IntelGenx Corp. and an additional 325,000 shares of our common stock being issued to Patrick J. Caruso pursuant to the Caruso Consulting
Agreement. Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe and Joel Cohen, the former principal stockholders of IntelGenx Corp., received exchangeable shares in a
Canadian holding corporation formed by us and which are exchangeable for 10,991,000 shares of our common stock.
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Item 5.06 Change in Shell Company Status
On April 28, 2006, we directly and indirectly through our Canadian holding corporation, completed the acquisition of 100% of the issued and
outstanding shares and warrants of IntelGenx Corp. ("IntelGenx"), a Canadian corporation based in the Province of Quebec, Canada. Following
completion of the acquisition, IntelGenx will continue its operations as a controlled subsidiary of Big Flash (the "IntelGenx Acquisition").
We acquired the shares of IntelGenx held by its principal shareholders pursuant to a share exchange agreement dated April 10, 2006 which we
entered into with IntelGenx and the principals of IntelGenx. We also acquired 100,000 common share purchase warrants of IntelGenx pursuant
to a securities purchase agreement which we entered into with Patrick J. Caruso, in exchange for 100,000 common share purchase warrants of
Big Flash. We also acquired 3,191,489 common shares of IntelGenx from 34 investors. These investors had subscribed for and purchased their
IntelGenx shares pursuant to subscription agreements entered into and accepted by IntelGenx on April 28, 2006 and letters of transmittal and
acceptance and powers of attorney executed by the investors.
Please See section 2 Financial Information, Item 2.01 Acquisition or disposition of Assets.
Costs and Expenses
IntelGenx has agreed to pay all legal and other expenses associated with the preparation and execution of the transaction documents and related
agreements and documents contemplated thereby and the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Share Exchange Agreement and
the agreements and instruments referenced in that agreement. We estimate that the total costs and expenses in connection with the transaction
will be approximately $450,000, which consists of professional fees, printing and mailing costs, consulting and due diligence costs, filing fees
and other miscellaneous expenses, including all costs and expenses IntelGenx Corp. incurs in connection with the transaction.
Section 2 - Financial Information
Item 2.01 Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.
See Item 1.01 above for disclosures in regard to the Acquisition or Disposition of Assets, incorporated herein by reference thereto.
Section 3 - Securities and Trading Markets
Item 3.02 Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
See Item 1.01 above for disclosures in regard to the Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities, incorporated herein by reference thereto.
Section 9 - Financial Statements and Exhibits
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits
(a) Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired.
See Exhibit below
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.
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See Exhibit below
(c) Exhibits.
99.1

Share Exchange Agreement by and between Big Flash Corporation.,
6544631 Canada Inc., Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe, Joel Cohen and
IntelGenx
Corp.
dated April 10, 2006 including the following
agreements attached as schedules:
(a) Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement to be executed at
closing by and among Big Flash Corporation, 6544631 Canada Inc.,
Equity Transfer Services Inc. and Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe and
Joel Cohen;
(b) Support Agreement to be executed at closing by and among
Big Flash Corporation, 6544631 Canada Inc. and Equity Transfer
Services Inc.; and
(c) Escrow Agreement to be executed at closing by and among
Big Flash Corporation, 6544631 Canada Inc., Equity Transfer
Services Inc. and Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe and Joel Cohen;

99.2

Audited financial statements for IntelGenx Corp. for the period from
June 15, 2003 (inception date) to December 31, 2005.

99.3

Unaudited pro forma combined
Corporation and IntelGenx Corp.

financial

statements

of

Big

Flash

SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
BIG FLASH CORPORATION
Dated:

May 4, 2006

By:
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/s/ Horst Zerbe
---------------------------------Horst Zerbe
President

EXHIBIT 99.1
SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT
THIS SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT is made as of the 10th day of April, 2006.
BETWEEN:
HORST ZERBE, INGRID ZERBE AND JOEL COHEN,
(each a "Vendor" and collectively, the "Vendors")
-and6544631 CANADA INC.,
a company incorporated pursuant to the federal laws of Canada with its principal office at 95 Wellington Street West, Suite 1704, Toronto,
Ontario M5J 2N7, ("Exchangeco")
-andBIG FLASH CORP.,
a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, having its principal office at 56 West 400 South, Suite 200, Salt Lake City,
Utah, 84101, United States of America

("Big Flash")
-andINTELGENX CORP.,
a corporation incorporated pursuant to the federal laws of Canada with its principal office at 6425 Abrams Street, Saint-Laurent, Quebec H4S
1X9

(the "Company")
WHEREAS the Vendors are the registered holders and beneficial owners of an aggregate of 10,991,000 common shares in the capital of the
Company as set out in Schedule "B" hereto (the "Purchased Shares");
WHEREAS Exchangeco is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Big Flash;
AND WHEREAS the Vendors have agreed to sell and Exchangeco has agreed to purchase all of the Purchased Shares on the terms and
conditions set out in this Agreement;
NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES THAT, in consideration of the premises, covenants, terms, conditions representations
and warranties hereinafter set forth, the Parties agree each with the other as follows:
ARTICLE 1 - PURCHASE AND SALE OF SHARES
1.1 Purchase and Sale. Subject to the conditions and upon the terms hereinafter set forth, Exchangeco agrees to purchase and the Vendors agree
to sell to Exchangeco all of their right, title and interest in and to the Purchased Shares.
1.2 Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Purchased Shares shall consist of an aggregate of 10,991,000 Exchangeable Shares to be issued
to the Vendors as
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set out in Schedule "B" hereto. At Closing, Exchangeco will deliver to the Vendors certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares, all such
Exchangeable Shares to be issued as fully paid and non-assessable, and registered in the names of the Vendors and in the denominations set
forth in Schedule "B" hereto. At the Closing, Big Flash will issue the Big Flash Shares to the Trustee as security for Big Flash's covenants
under the provisions of the Exchangeable Shares, including without limitation section 8 thereof, in accordance with the terms of the Exchange
and Voting Trust Agreement.
1.3 Support Agreement, Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and Escrow Agreement. On or before Closing: (a) Big Flash, Exchangeco and
the Trustee shall enter into the Support Agreement in the form attached hereto as Schedule "E" and the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement,
in the form attached hereto as Schedule "G"; and (b) Big Flash, Exchangeco, the Vendors and the Escrow Agent shall enter into the Escrow
Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Schedule "F". Such Support Agreement and Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement are incorporated
herein by reference thereto and the Vendors, jointly and severally, shall each have all rights and remedies of enforcement of the Support
Agreement and the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement as contemplated in each such agreement.
1.4 Accounting Consequences. It is intended by the parties hereto that the purchase and sale of the Purchased Shares under this Agreement
shall qualify for accounting treatment as a recapitalization under U.S. generally-accepted accounting principles.
1.5 Tax Treatment.
(a) It is intended that the transactions contemplated in this Agreement shall generally constitute (i) a taxable exchange for United States federal
income tax purposes (not qualifying under Sections 368 or 351 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) to persons
who are otherwise subject to taxation in the United States on the sale or exchange of Purchased Shares, and (ii) a tax deferred reorganization
for Canadian federal income tax purposes for the Vendors. At the option of each Vendor, Exchangeco covenants and agrees to elect, jointly
with each such Vendor if applicable (referred to in this section as an "Electing Vendor"), in accordance with the provisions of subsection 85(1)
of the Tax Act (and the corresponding provisions of any applicable provincial tax legislation) in the prescribed form and within the prescribed
time for the purposes of the Tax Act, and shall therein agree to elect in respect of the Purchased Shares of the Electing Vendor such amount as
the Electing Vendor's proceeds of disposition thereof as the Electing Vendor may determine, subject to the provisions of subsection 85(1) of
the Tax Act (and the corresponding provisions of any applicable provincial tax legislation). Each of the Electing Vendors and Exchangeco
agree to execute all such documents and forms to make the election contemplated in this section.
(b) Horst Zerbe and Ingrid Zerbe, with their professional advisors, have made a bona fide determination that the Purchased Shares are
"qualified small business corporation shares" as defined in subsection 110.6(1) of the Tax Act as of the date hereof. Based on such
determination, it is the desire and intention of Horst Zerbe and Ingrid Zerbe and Exchangeco that the "agreed amount" for the transfer of their
respective Purchased Shares (the "Vendor's Shares") be the lesser of the fair market value of the Vendor's Shares and the aggregate of the
Vendor's adjusted cost base thereof plus an amount equal to the Vendor's unused capital gain deduction as provided in subsection 110.6(2.1) of
the Tax Act. However, it is agreed between each of Horst Zerbe and Ingrid Zerbe and Exchangeco that should any competent taxing authority
at any time issue or propose to issue any assessment or assessments that would impose any liability for tax (other than the alternative minimum
tax provided for in section 127.5 of the Tax Act) on the basis that a Vendor's Shares are not "qualified small business
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corporation shares", or that the capital gain of a Vendor resulting from the within transaction is not otherwise eligible for the exemption
pursuant to subsection 110.6(2.1) of the Tax Act (or the corresponding provision of any applicable provincial tax legislation) and if all appeals
requested by a Vendor have been exhausted, then the "agreed amount" shall be adjusted nunc pro tunc pursuant to the provisions of this
paragraph to be such amount as will eliminate such liability for tax (except for the alternative minimum tax as provided for section 127.5 of the
Tax Act) and the Vendors and Exchangeco shall do all things necessary to reflect such change, including filing amended elections, provided
that such adjustment shall not result in any additional Exchangeable Shares being issued to the Vendors.
1.6 Securities Law Exemptions and Resale Restrictions. The sale of the Purchased Shares and the issuance of the Exchangeable Shares to the
Vendors shall be made in reliance on an exemption from the registration and prospectus filing requirements contained in section 2.16 of
National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions ("NI 45-106"). The issuance or transfer of the Big Flash Shares to the
Vendors on the exchange of their Exchangeable Shares shall be made in reliance on section 2.16 of NI 45-106 and the exemption from the
registration requirement of U.S. Securities Law contained in Regulation S promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The
Vendors hereby acknowledge that as a result:
(a) any Exchangeable Shares that they receive pursuant to this Agreement will be subject to resale restrictions in accordance with applicable
Canadian Securities Law and U.S. Securities Law and that as a result the certificates representing such Exchangeable Shares will be affixed
with the following legends describing such restrictions:
(i) the certificates representing such Exchangeable Shares or Big Flash Shares will be affixed with the following legend describing such
restrictions:
THE SECURITY OR SECURITIES EVIDENCED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS, AND MAY NOT BE
OFFERED OR SOLD TO ANY PERSON EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE. THE HOLDER HEREOF
AGREES THAT: (1) IT WILL NOT RESELL OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THE SHARES EVIDENCED HEREBY EXCEPT (A) IN AN
OFFSHORE TRANSACTION COMPLYING WITH RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S OR (B) PURSUANT TO THE
EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE) OR ANOTHER
THEN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR, (C) IN A TRANSACTION
THAT DOES NOT REQUIRE REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR ANY APPLICABLE STATE LAWS, OR (D)
PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION STATEMENT WHICH HAS BEEN DECLARED EFFECTIVE UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT
(AND WHICH CONTINUES TO BE EFFECTIVE AT THE TIME OF SUCH TRANSFER); (2) PRIOR TO ANY SUCH TRANSFER, IT
WILL FURNISH TO THE COMPANY OR ITS AGENTS SUCH CERTIFICATIONS, LEGAL OPINIONS, OR OTHER INFORMATION
AS THE COMPANY OR SUCH AGENTS MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO CONFIRM THAT SUCH TRANSFER IS BEING MADE
PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION
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REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR STATE SECURITIES LAWS; AND (3) IT WILL DELIVER TO EACH PERSON TO
WHOM THE COMMON STOCK EVIDENCED HEREBY IS TRANSFERRED A NOTICE SUBSTANTIALLY TO THE EFFECT OF THIS
LEGEND.
UNLESS PERMITTED UNDER SECURITIES LEGISLATION, THE
HOLDER OF THIS SECURITY MUST NOT TRADE THE SECURITY
BEFORE THE DATE THAT IS 4 MONTHS AND A DAY AFTER
THE LATER OF (i) [insert the distribution date],
AND (ii) THE DATE THE ISSUER BECAME A
REPORTING ISSUER IN ANY PROVINCE OR TERRITORY.
and
(ii) the certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares will be affixed with a legend describing such restrictions, including, without
limitation, the following:
THE CLASS A SPECIAL SHARES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE
SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS, PRIVILEGES, TERMS, CONDITIONS AND
RESTRICTIONS AS SET FORTH IN THE SHARE EXCHANGE
AGREEMENT, THE SUPPORT AGREEMENT AND THE EXCHANGE AND VOTING
TRUST AGREEMENT, RESPECTIVELY, COPIES OF EACH OF
WHICH ARE ON FILE AT THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY.
PURSUANT TO THE EXCHANGE AND VOTING TRUST AGREEMENT,
THE HOLDER OF THIS SECURITY IS ENTITLED TO INSTRUCT THE
TRUSTEE UNDER THE EXCHANGE AND VOTING TRUST AGREEMENT
AS TO THE EXERCISE OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ATTACHED TO A
NUMBER OF BIG FLASH SHARES EQUAL TO THE NUMBER OF SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE WITH
RESPECT TO EACH MEETING OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BIG FLASH AND EACH CONSENT SOUGHT TO BE OBTAINED
FROM THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BIG FLASH, OR TO ATTEND SUCH MEETING OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BIG FLASH AND
TO EXERCISE PERSONALLY SUCH VOTING RIGHTS. THE HOLDER OF SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE
SHOULD REFER TO THE EXCHANGE AND VOTING TRUST AGREEMENT FOR A DESCRIPTION OF SUCH VOTING RIGHTS
AND THE MANNER IN WHICH THEY MAY BE EXERCISED."
(b) the resale exemptions provided under Canadian Securities Law and U.S. Securities Law may not be generally available because of the
conditions and limitations of such exemptions, and that Exchangeco and Big Flash are under no obligation to take any action other than the
actions specified in section 1.8 of this Agreement and commercially reasonable actions to make any of said exemptions available to the
Vendors; and
(c) only Big Flash can register the Big Flash Shares or file a prospectus or registration statement to qualify the Big Flash Shares for immediate
resale and Big Flash has made representations to the Vendors that it will do so only in accordance with section 1.8 of this Agreement.
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1.7 Securities Law Compliance. The Vendors hereby agree that they shall not sell, transfer or otherwise deal with the Exchangeable Shares or
the Big Flash Shares without obtaining a favourable opinion of counsel or such other evidence as may be required by Exchangeco or Big Flash,
that the proposed dealing will not be in violation of U.S. Securities Law.
1.8 Prospectus Filing. No later than 90 days after the Closing, Big Flash shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to file with, and obtain
receipts from, the Ontario Securities Commission for a non-offering preliminary prospectus and (final) prospectus for the purpose of having
Big Flash deemed to be a reporting issuer under the securities laws of the province of Ontario and permitting the Vendors to rely upon the
prospectus exemption set out in sections 2.6 and 2.7(2) or section 2.8 of National Instrument 45-102 Resale of Securities for the first trade by
the Vendors in the Big Flash Shares to be issued or transferred to the Vendors upon exchange of the Exchangeable Shares.
ARTICLE 2 - CLOSING MATTERS
2.1 Date, Time and Place of Closing. The Closing shall take place at the Closing Time on the Closing Date at the offices of Chitiz Pathak LLP,
located at 154 University Avenue, Suite 500, Toronto, Ontario M5H 3Y9 or such place as the Parties may agree on.
2.2 Mutual Conditions of Closing. The Parties shall be obliged to complete the purchase and sale of the Purchased Shares only if each of the
conditions precedent set out in Part 1 of Schedule "C" hereto have been satisfied in full at or before the Closing Time. Each of such conditions
precedent is for the benefit of each of the Parties, and the Parties may by mutual consent waive any of them in whole or in part in writing.
2.3 Conditions for Big Flash's and Exchangeco's Benefit. Big Flash and Exchangeco shall not be obliged to complete the purchase of the
Purchased Shares or the issuance and/or transfer of the Big Flash Shares and Exchangeable Shares unless each of the conditions set out in Part
2 of Schedule "C" shall have been satisfied on or before the Closing Date. Each of such conditions precedent is for the exclusive benefit of Big
Flash and Exchangeco and they may waive any of such conditions in whole or in part in writing.
2.4 Conditions for the Vendors' Benefit. The Vendors shall not be obliged to complete the sale of the Purchased Shares unless each of the
conditions set out in Part 3 of Schedule "C" shall have been satisfied on or before the Closing Date. Each of such conditions precedent is for the
exclusive benefit of the Vendors and the Vendors may waive any of them in whole or in part in writing.
2.5 Failure to Satisfy Condition. If any condition set forth in Schedule "C" is not satisfied at the Closing Time, or if it becomes apparent that
any such condition cannot be satisfied at the Closing Time, any Party entitled to the benefit of such condition (the "First Party") may terminate
this Agreement by notice in writing to the other Parties and in such event:
(a) unless the other Parties can show that the condition or conditions which have not been satisfied and for which the First Party has terminated
this Agreement are reasonably capable of being performed or caused to be performed by the First Party or have not been satisfied by reason of
a default by the First Party hereunder, the First Party shall be released from all obligations hereunder; and
(b) unless the First Party can show that the condition or conditions which have not been satisfied and for which the First Party has terminated
this Agreement are reasonably capable of being performed or caused to be performed by the other Party or have not
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been satisfied by reason of a default by the other Party hereunder, then the other Party shall also be released from all obligations hereunder.
2.6 Deliveries on Closing. On the Closing Date:
(a) Exchangeco will deliver to or to the direction of the Vendors certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares in accordance with Section
1.2 above;
(b) the Vendors will deliver to or to the direction of Exchangeco certificates representing their Purchased Shares duly signed off for transfer,
together with all other documentation required to transfer title to their Purchased Shares to or to the direction of Exchangeco, provided that if
there are no certificates representing the Purchased Shares, the Vendors shall each deliver to Exchangeco, or as directed by Exchangeco, an
executed stock power of attorney or other document evidencing the transfer of the Purchased Shares from the Vendors to or to the direction of
Exchangeco; and
(c) Big Flash, Exchangeco and the Trustee shall execute and deliver the Support Agreement; Big Flash, Exchangeco, the Vendors and the
Trustee shall execute and deliver the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement; and Big Flash, Exchangeco, the Vendors and the Escrow Agent
shall execute and deliver the Escrow Agreement.
ARTICLE 3 - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
3.1 Representations and Warranties of the Vendors. The Vendors hereby jointly and severally represent and warrant to Exchangeco and Big
Flash as set out in Part 1 of Schedule "D", provided that each Vendor shall be deemed to have severally made those representations set forth in
paragraphs (a) to (i) of Schedule "D" (collectively, the "Individual Representations"), and acknowledge that Exchangeco and Big Flash are
relying on these representations and warranties in entering into this Agreement and performing their obligations under the same.
3.2 Representations and Warranties of Big Flash. Big Flash represents and warrants to the Vendors as set out in Part 2 of Schedule "D" and
acknowledges that the Vendors are relying on these representations and warranties in entering into this Agreement and performing their
obligations under the same.
3.3 Representations and Warranties of Exchangeco. Exchangeco represents and warrants to the Vendors as set out in Part 3 of Schedule "D"
and acknowledges that the Vendors are relying on these representations and warranties in entering into this Agreement and performing their
obligations under the same.
3.4 Representations and Warranties of the Company given by Vendors and the Company. The Vendors and the Company hereby jointly and
severally represent and warrant to Exchangeco and Big Flash as set out in Part 4 of Schedule "D" and acknowledge that Exchangeco and Big
Flash are relying on these representations and warranties in their entirety in entering into this Agreement and performing their obligations under
same.
3.5 Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing for a
period of one year from the Closing Date, after which time, if no claim shall have been made against a Party with respect to any incorrectness
in or breach of any representation or warranty, that Party shall have no further liability under this Agreement with respect to that representation
or warranty.
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3.6 Certificates and Instruments Included. All statements contained in any certificate or any instrument delivered by or on behalf of a Party
pursuant to or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be deemed to be made by such Party under this
Agreement.
ARTICLE 4 - INDEMNIFICATION
4.1 Mutual Indemnification for Breaches of Covenant or Warranty. Subject to the limitation period set out in section 3.5, above, each of Big
Flash and Exchangeco hereby covenant and agree with the Vendors and the Vendors and the Company hereby jointly and severally covenant
and agree with Big Flash and Exchangeco, provided that with respect to Individual Representations, the Vendors severally covenant and agree
with Big Flash and Exchangeco (the parties covenanting and agreeing to indemnify another party under this Article 4 are hereinafter
individually referred to as "Indemnifying Party" and the parties that are being indemnified by another Party under this Article 4 are hereinafter
individually referred to as the "Indemnified Party") to indemnify and save harmless the Indemnified Party, effective as and from the Closing
Time, from and against any Claims which maybe made or brought against the Indemnified Party and/or which it may suffer or incur as a result
of, or arising out of any non-fulfillment of any covenant, obligation or agreement on the part of the Indemnifying Party under this Agreement
or any incorrectness in or breach of any representation or warranty of the Indemnifying Party contained in this Agreement.
ARTICLE 5 - INTERIM OPERATIONS
5.1 Company Carrying on Business to Closing
(a) Up to the Closing Time, the Vendors shall cause the Company to (1) carry on its business in the normal and ordinary course; (2) preserve
the ongoing goodwill of the Company; and (3) ensure that key employees, if any, and key independent contractors continue their association
with the Company and undertake to notify Big Flash of any event or occurrence during such period which might reasonably be considered to
have a materially adverse effect on the assets or the business of the Company.
(b) Unless otherwise contemplated herein or approved by Big Flash in writing, during the period from the date hereof until the earlier of the
Closing Date or termination of this Agreement, neither the Company shall not:
(i) except in the ordinary course of business, sell, transfer or dispose of or create any mortgage, pledge, waiver or other encumbrance or a
security interest on or in respect of the whole or any part of its assets;
(ii) enter into any transaction or material contract not in the normal and ordinary course of business;
(iii) borrow money or incur any indebtedness for money borrowed except as disclosed to and agreed by Big Flash, acting reasonably;
(iv) make loans, advances or other payments, excluding routine reimbursements to employees of the Company for expenses incurred in the
ordinary course and such amounts as contemplated in this Agreement;
(v) make any capital expenditures except as disclosed to and agreed to by Big Flash, acting reasonably;
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(vi) issue, sell or agree to issue or sell any shares, rights, options, warrants or other securities of the Company save and except for (i) the
issuance of a combination of 3,200,000 common shares and 100,000 warrants to purchase common shares to private placement investors
acceptable to Big Flash, acting reasonably, where such shares are issued for $0.47 per share and each warrant entitles each holder to purchase
one common share of the Company for (Cdn.) $0.47; (ii) 325,000 common shares issuable to Jelf Caruso, at (Cdn.) $0.0001 per share, pursuant
to a loan agreement between the Company and Jelf Caruso, dated March 15, 2006, as amended;
(vii) declare any dividends or distribution;
(viii) purchase, cancel, retire, redeem or otherwise acquire any of the Company's outstanding securities, rights, options, warrants or other
securities other than as contemplated herein;
(ix) change, amend or modify the charter documents or by-laws of the Company, other than as disclosed to and approved by Big Flash;
(x) merge or amalgamate with or agree to merge or amalgamate with, or purchase substantially all of the assets of, or otherwise acquire any
business; or sell or lease or agree to sell or lease, any material properties or assets or approve or undertake any other material transaction or
furnish or cause to be furnished any information concerning the business, properties or assets of any Persons (other than to Big Flash) which is
interested in any such transactions; or
(xi) except as required by law, not to initiate, propose, assist or participate in any activities in opposition to or in competition with this
Agreement, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to undertake any transaction or negotiate any transaction which would be or
potentially could be in conflict with this Agreement and not to take actions of any kind which may reduce the likelihood of success of the
completion of this Agreement.
5.2 Big Flash Carrying on Business to Closing
(a) Up to the Closing Time, Big Flash shall (1) carry on its business in the normal and ordinary course; (2) preserve the ongoing goodwill of
Big Flash; and (3) ensure that key employees and key independent contractors continue their association with Big Flash and undertake to notify
the Vendor of any event or occurrence during such period which might reasonably be considered to have a materially adverse effect on the
assets or the business of Big Flash.
(b) Unless otherwise contemplated herein or approved by the Vendors in writing, during the period from the date hereof until the earlier of the
Closing Date or termination of this Agreement, Big Flash shall not:
(i) sell, transfer or dispose of or create any mortgage, pledge, waiver or other encumbrance or a security interest on or in respect of the whole or
any part of the assets of Big Flash;
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(ii) enter into any transaction or material contract not in the normal and ordinary course of business;
(iii) borrow money or incur any indebtedness for money borrowed except as disclosed to and agreed by the Vendors, acting reasonably;
(iv) make loans, advances or other payments, excluding routine reimbursements to employees of Big Flashfor expenses incurred in the ordinary
course and such amounts as contemplated in this Agreement;
(v) make any capital expenditures except as disclosed to and agreed to by the Vendor's, acting reasonably;
(vi) issue, sell or agree to issue or sell any shares, rights, options, warrants or other securities of Big Flash, other as approved by the Vendors;
(vii) declare any dividends or distribution;
(viii) purchase, cancel, retire, redeem or otherwise acquire any of Big Flash's outstanding securities, rights, options, warrants or other securities
other than as contemplated herein;
(ix) change, amend or modify the charter documents or by-laws of Big Flash;
(x) merge or amalgamate with or agree to merge or amalgamate with, or purchase substantially all of the assets of, or otherwise acquire any
business; or sell or lease or agree to sell or lease, any material properties or assets or approve or undertake any other material transaction or
furnish or cause to be furnished any information concerning the business, properties or assets of any Persons (other than to the Vendors) which
is interested in any such transactions; or
(xi) except as required by law, not to initiate, propose, assist or participate in any activities in opposition to or in competition with this
Agreement, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to undertake any transaction or negotiate any transaction which would be or
potentially could be in conflict with the completion of this Agreement and not to take actions of any kind which may reduce the likelihood of
success of the completion of this Agreement.
ARTICLE 6 - INTERPRETATION AND GENERAL
6.1 Definitions. Where used in this Agreement and the recitals and any schedules hereto, each of the following words will have the meanings
ascribed to them in Schedule "A" hereto.
6.2 Interpretation. In this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided:
(a) all references in this Agreement to a designated "paragraph" or other subdivision or to a Schedule is to the designated paragraph or other
subdivision of, or Schedule, to this Agreement;
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(b) the words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder" and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular
paragraph or other subdivision or Schedule;
(c) the headings are for convenience only and do not form a part of this Agreement and are not intended to interpret, define, or limit the scope,
extent or intent of this Agreement or any provision hereof;
(d) the singular of any term includes the plural, and vice versa, the use of any term is equally applicable to any gender and, where applicable, a
body corporate, the word "or" is not exclusive and the word "including" is not limited (whether or not non-limited language, such as "without
limitation" or "but not limited" or words of similar import, are used with reference thereto);
(e) any accounting term not otherwise defined has the meanings assigned to it in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
applicable to the United States of America or Canada depending on whether it relates to a person whose financial statements are prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America or Canada, respectively;
(f) any reference to a statute includes and is a reference to that statute and to the regulations made pursuant thereto, with all amendments made
thereto and in force from time to time, and to any statute or regulations that may be passed which has the effect of supplementing or
superseding that statute or regulations; and
(g) any other term defined within the text of this Agreement has the meaning so ascribed.
6.3 Schedules. The following are the Schedules to this Agreement and are incorporated herein and form part of this Agreement:
Schedule
-------A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I

Description
----------Definitions
Shareholdings
Conditions of Closing
Representations, Warranties and Covenants
Support Agreement
Escrow Agreement
Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement
Material Contracts
Intellectual Property

6.4 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Schedules and other documents to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement,
constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties pertaining to the matters contemplated herein and supersedes all prior agreements,
understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, and there are no warranties, representations and other agreements
between the Parties in connection with the subject matter hereof except as specifically set forth in this Agreement or any other agreement or
document to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement.
6.5 Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder must be made in writing and will be deemed to have been
duly given if delivered personally or by courier to the addressee at the address appearing on
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the first page hereof or to such other address as may be given in writing by the Party. Any notice given by personal delivery shall be deemed to
be received on the date of delivery. Any notice sent by courier shall be deemed to be received on the next Business Day following the deposit
of the communication with the courier service.
6.6 Time of Essence. Time shall be of the essence in all respects of this Agreement.
6.7 Further Assurances. The Parties shall with reasonable diligence do all things and provide all reasonable assurances as may be required to
complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and each Party shall provide such further documents or instruments required by any
other Party as may be reasonably necessary or desirable to give effect to this Agreement and carry out its provisions.
6.8 Transaction Expenses. Each Party to this Agreement will bear all costs and expenses incurred by it in negotiating this Agreement and in
closing and carrying out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. All costs and expenses related to satisfying any condition or
fulfilling any covenant contained in this Agreement will be borne by the party whose responsibility it is to satisfy the condition or fulfil the
covenant in question.
6.9 Amendment. No supplement, modification, waiver or termination of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by both
Parties.
6.10 Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall constitute a waiver of any other provision (whether or not similar) nor
shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.
6.11 Assignment. This Agreement and the rights or obligations hereunder or thereunder may not be assigned by either Party without the prior
written consent of the other Parties.
6.12 Enurement. This Agreement shall be binding on and enure to the benefit of both Parties and their respective successors and permitted
assigns. In addition all obligations of the Parties under this Agreement shall also be binding upon any and all directors, officers, employees,
consultants, advisors and agents of each Party as well as all parent corporations, subsidiaries, related and affiliated companies thereof.
6.13 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario without
giving effect to provisions of conflicts of law thereto. Each Party irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the
Province of Ontario with respect to any matter arising hereunder or related hereto.
6.14 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be prohibited, void or unenforceable in whole or in part, such void or
unenforceable provision shall not affect or impair the validity of any other provision of this Agreement and shall be severable from this
Agreement. Any such prohibition or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any
other jurisdiction.
6.15 Independent Legal Advice. Each of the Vendors acknowledges that he or she has been advised to seek independent legal counsel in
respect of this Agreement and the other agreements and documents referred to herein and the matters contemplated herein. To the extent that
any vendor declines to receive independent legal counsel in respect of this Agreement, such Vendor hereby waives the right, should a dispute
later develop, to rely on its lack of
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independent legal counsel to avoid its obligations, to seek indulgences from the other Parties hereto, or to otherwise attack, in whole or in part,
the integrity of this Agreement and the documents related thereto.
6.16 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by the Parties in one or more counterparts by original or by facsimile, each of which when
so executed and delivered shall be an original and such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have duly executed this Agreement on the day and year first above written.
BIG FLASH CORP.
Name:

/s/ Edward F. Cowle
-------------------------------President

Title:

Name:

/s/ Geoff Williams
-------------------------------Secretary

Title:

6544631 CANADA INC.

Name:
Title:

Name:
Title:

INTELGENX CORP.
Name:
Title:

Name:
Title:

Witness

Witness

Witness

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

/s/ Horst Zerbe
-------------------------------CEO, Director

/s/ Ingrid Zerbe
-------------------------------Director

/s/ Horst Zerbe
---------------------------------------Horst Zerbe

/s/ Ingrid Zerbe
---------------------------------------Ingrid Zerbe

/s/ Joel Cohen
---------------------------------------Joel Cohen

-13-

SCHEDULE "A"
DEFINITIONS
Where used in this Agreement and the recitals and any schedules hereto, each of the following words will have the following meanings:
(a) "Agreement" means this agreement, including the preamble and the schedules hereto, as it may from time to time be supplemented or
amended in effect.
(b) "Big Flash" means Big Flash Corp.
(c) "Big Flash Financial Statements" means the audited financial statements of Big Flash for the 2005 and 2004 fiscal years.
(d) "Big Flash SEC Documents" shall mean all forms, reports, statements, schedules, registration statements and other documents required to
be filed by Big Flash with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (including any such forms, reports, statements, schedules
and other documents filed subsequent to the date hereof).
(e) "Big Flash Shares" means the shares in the common stock of Big Flash exchangeable for the Exchangeable Shares.
(f) "Bulletin Board" means the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, an over-the-counter securities market operated by the National Association of
Securities Dealers.
(g) "Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which Canadian chartered banks are open for the transaction of domestic
business in Toronto, Ontario.
(h) "Canadian Securities Law" means the securities laws of any province or territory of Canada in which recipients of any shares issued or
transferred under this Agreement may reside, and the regulations, rules and policies promulgated thereunder, in each case as amended from
time to time.
(i) "Canadian Securities Regulators" means the securities commissions or other Governmental Authorities authorized to administer and enforce
securities laws in any province or territory of Canada.
(j) "Claim" means any claims, demands, actions, causes of action, damages, losses, costs, fines, penalties, interest, liabilities and expenses,
including, without limitation, reasonable legal fees and other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with any of the foregoing.
(k) "Closing" means the completion of the purchase of the Purchased Shares by Exchangeco in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement.
(l) "Closing Date" means the date hereof, or such earlier or later date as the Parties may agree on.
(m) "Closing Time" means 2:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the Closing Date, or such earlier or later time on the Closing Date as the Parties may
agree to.
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(n) "Company" means IntelGenx Corp., a corporation incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act.
(o) "Company Financial Statements" means the audited financial statements of the Company for the 2005 and 2004 fiscal years.
(p) "Constating Documents" means (i) the articles or certificate of incorporation and the bylaws of a corporation; (ii) any charter or similar
document adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation, or organization of a Person and (iii) any amendment to any of the
foregoing.
(q) "Court Order" shall mean any judgement, decision, consent decree, injunction, ruling or order of any federal, provincial, state or local court
or governmental agency, department or authority that is binding on a specified person, persons, entity or entities or its or their property under
applicable law.
(r) "Encumbrance" means any mortgage, charge, pledge, hypothecation, debenture, lien, security interest, encumbrance, claim, option, right of
first refusal, community of property or restriction of any kind, including any restriction on the use, voting, transfer, receipt of income, or
exercise of any other attribute of ownership, regardless of form and whether consensual or arising by operation of law, other than a Permitted
Encumbrance.
(s) "Escrow Agent" means Equity Transfer Services Inc.
(t) "Escrow Agreement" means the escrow agreement relating to the Exchangeable Shares and Big Flash Shares to be entered into by Big
Flash, Exchangeco, the Vendors and the Escrow Agent on or before Closing.
(u) "Exchangeable Shares" means Class A Special Shares of Exchangeco bearing the rights, privileges and restrictions described in Schedule
"A" to the Support Agreement.
(v) "Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement" means the exchange and voting trust agreement to be entered into by Big Flash, Exchangeco and
the Trustee on or before Closing.
(w) "Exchangeco" means 6544631 Canada Inc.
(x) "Governmental Authority" means any applicable Canadian or U.S. federal, provincial, state or municipal government, agency, ministry,
commission, crown corporation, department, inspector, official or body of any kind exercising or entitled to exercise any administrative,
executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing authority or power of any nature.
(y) "Governmental Charges" means all fees, levies and charges imposed by a Governmental Authority.
(z) "Intellectual Property" means domestic and foreign: (i) patents, applications for patents and reissues, divisions, continuations, renewals,
extensions and continuations-in-part of patents or patent applications; (ii) proprietary and non-public business information, including
inventions (whether patentable or not), invention disclosures, improvements, discoveries, trade secrets, confidential information, know-how,
methods, processes, designs,
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technology, technical data, schematics, formulae and customer lists, and documentation relating to any of the foregoing; (iii) copyrights,
copyright registrations and applications for copyright registration; (iv) mask works, mask work registrations and applications for mask work
registrations; (v) designs, design registrations, design registration applications and integrated circuit topographies; (vi) trade names, business
names, corporate names, domain names, website names and world wide web addresses, common law trade-marks, trade-mark registrations,
trade mark applications, trade dress and logos, and the goodwill associated with any of the foregoing; (vii) software; and (viii) any other
intellectual property and industrial property;
(aa) "material" means, when used with respect to an obligation, contract, liability or any other matter, that the obligation, contract, liability or
such other matter is of such a nature as to be substantially likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment
decision, including a decision to purchase, hold or sell securities of the Person in question.
(bb) "Material Adverse Change" means a material adverse change in or a material adverse effect on the businesses, assets, operations, results of
operations or financial condition of a Person and its subsidiaries (if any) taken as a whole, provided that any adverse effects arising from or
relating to the following matters (individually and in the aggregate) shall be excluded in determining whether such a material adverse effect has
occurred:
(i) general economic conditions or conditions (including conditions in financial markets) generally prevailing in the industry or market segment
in which the corporate entity and its subsidiaries conduct their respective businesses, (ii) the announcement or pendency of the transactions
contemplated in this Agreement or the closing or pendency of any transaction of the Parties which was publicly announced as of the date of this
Agreement; and (iii) the taking by any Party of any action (or omission by any Party to take any action) at the request of or with the permission
of the other Parties; provided, further, that a decline in the public trading price of the common shares of Big Flash shall not by itself constitute a
Material Adverse Change.
(cc) "Material Contracts" means those contracts and agreements of the Company which are listed in Schedule "H" hereto;
(dd) "Ordinary Course of Business", with respect to an action taken by a Person, means:
(i) an action consistent with the past practices of such Person and taken in the ordinary course of the normal operations of such Person;
(ii) an action not required to be authorized by the board of directors of such Person (or by any Person or group of Persons exercising similar
authority) and not required to be specifically authorized by the parent company (if any) of such Person; and
(iii) an action similar in nature and magnitude to actions customarily taken, without any authorization by the board of directors (or by any
Person or group of Persons exercising similar authority), in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of other Persons that are in
the same line of business as such Person.
(ee) "Parties" means the parties to this Agreement and "Party" means any one of them.
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(ff) "Permitted Encumbrance" shall mean: (i) materialmen's, mechanics', carriers', workmen's, repairmen's or other like liens arising in the
ordinary course of business for amounts not yet due or which have been disclosed to Big Flash as being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings, (ii) liens for taxes, assessments and governmental charges not yet due or due but for which notice of assessment has not been
given or any taxes, assessments and governmental charges which have been disclosed to Big Flash as being contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings, (iii) liens to secure performance of statutory obligations, (iv) any lien securing any purchase money indebtedness
incurred in the ordinary course of business and reflected in the referenced party's financial statements, (v) liens of lessors under leases,
(vi) undetermined or inchoate liens, charges and privileges incidental to current operations and statutory liens, charges, adverse claims, security
interests or encumbrances of any nature whatsoever claimed or held by any Governmental Authority which have not at the time been filed or
registered against the title to the asset or served upon the referenced party pursuant to law or which relate to obligations not due or delinquent,
and (vii) security given in the ordinary course of business to any public utility, municipality or government or to any statutory or public
authority in connection with the operations of the business of the referenced party, other than security for borrowed money.
(gg) "Person" means any individual, corporation (including any non-profit corporation), body corporate, partnership, limited partnership,
limited liability company, joint venture, society, association, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Authority or other entity, or any
trustee, executor, administrator, or other legal representative.
(hh) "Purchased Shares" means common shares of the Company held by the Vendors as set out in Schedule "B" hereto.
(ii) "Regulations" shall mean any applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, rules, court decisions, principles of law and orders of any
foreign, federal, provincial, state or local government and any other governmental department or agency.
(jj) "SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
(kk) "Support Agreement" means the exchangeable share support agreement to be entered into by Big Flash, Exchangeco and the Trustee on or
before Closing.
(ll) "Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended from time to time.
(mm) "Transaction" means the transaction contemplated by this Agreement.
(nn) "Trustee" means Equity Transfer Services Inc.
(oo) "U.S. Securities Law" means the United States Securities Act of 1933 and the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
securities laws of any State of the United States of America, and the regulations, rules and policies promulgated thereunder, all as amended
from time to time.
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SCHEDULE "B"
COMPLETE LIST OF SHAREHOLDERS OF INTELGENX CORP.

---------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------Name and Address of Shareholder
Number of Purchased Shares Held
Number of Exchangeable Shares to be
Received
---------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------Horst Zerbe
4,709,643.5
4,709,643.5
714 Main Road
Hudson, Quebec J0P 1H0
---------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------Ingrid Zerbe
4,709,643.5
4,709,643.5
714 Main Road
Hudson, Quebec J0P 1H0
---------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- -------------------------------------Joel Cohen
1,571,713
1,571,713
2800 Cote Vertu
Montreal, Quebec H4R 2M5
---------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- --------------------------------------
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SCHEDULE "C"
CONDITIONS OF CLOSING
1. Mutual Conditions of Closing. The Parties shall be obliged to complete the purchase and sale of the Purchased Shares only if each of the
following conditions precedent have been satisfied in full at or before the Closing Time
(a) Consents, Authorizations and Registrations - All consents, approvals, orders and authorizations of, from or notifications to any Persons or
Governmental Authorities required (if any) in connection with the completion of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the
Support Agreement, the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, the execution of this Agreement, the Support
Agreement, the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, the Closing or the performance of any of the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and the Escrow Agreement shall have been
obtained on or before the Closing Date.
(b) No Claims - There shall be no injunction or order issued preventing, and no pending or threatened claim, action, litigation or proceeding,
judicial or administrative, or investigation against any Party by any Governmental Authority or Person for the purpose of enjoining or
preventing the consummation of this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement or the Escrow
Agreement, or otherwise claiming that this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement or the Escrow
Agreement or the consummation thereof is improper or would give rise to proceedings under any statute or rule of law.
2. Conditions for Big Flash's and Exchangeco's Benefit. Big Flash and Exchangeco shall not be obliged to complete the purchase of the
Purchased Shares or the issuance of the Big Flash Shares and Exchangeable Shares unless each of the following conditions shall have been
satisfied or waived on or before the Closing Time:
(a) Accuracy of Representations - The representations and warranties of the Vendors set forth in section 3.1 of this Agreement and Part 1 of
Schedule "D" thereto and the representations and warranties of the Vendors and the Company set forth in Part 4 of Schedule "D" of this
Agreement shall be true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Time as if made as of the Closing Time.
(b) Performance of Obligations - The Vendors and the Company shall have performed all of the obligations hereunder to be performed by them
at or prior to the Closing, and shall not be in breach of any provision of this Agreement.
(c) Execution of Agreements - The Vendors shall have executed and delivered on or prior to the Closing the Escrow Agreement, substantially
in the form of Schedule "F" to this Agreement
(d) No Material Changes - There shall have been no Material Adverse Change in respect of the Company, and the Company shall not have sold
or pledged any assets, issued any shares or entered into any transaction outside the Ordinary Course of Business.
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(e) No Claims - No action by any Governmental Authority or other person shall have been instituted or threatened that could reasonably be
expected to materially (a) damage the business or financial condition of the Company if the transactions contemplated hereunder are
consummated. There shall have been no determination by Big Flash that the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
has become inadvisable or impracticable solely by reason of the institution by any person or any federal, provincial or other Governmental
Authority of litigation. There shall not be any Regulation or Court Order that makes the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, the
issuance of the Big Flash Shares or the Exchangeable Shares contemplated hereby illegal or otherwise prohibited.
(f) Approval - The transactions contemplated hereunder shall have been duly approved by the board of directors of Big Flash and Exchangeco.
(g) Legal Opinion - The Company shall have delivered to Big Flash and Exchangeco an opinion of Heenan Blaikie LLP, counsel to the
Vendors and the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, in a form satisfactory to Big Flash and Exchangeco.
(h) Board Resolutions - Big Flash and Exchangeco shall have received from the Company resolutions adopted by the boards of directors of the
Company approving this Agreement and the agreements and transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, certified by an officer of the
Company.
(i) Completion of Due Diligence - Big Flash, its counsel, agents or representatives, acting reasonably, shall have completed a legal due
diligence process on the Company, and all matters relating thereto, including but without limitation, a review of the Company Financial
Statements.
3. Conditions for the Vendors' Benefit. The Vendors shall not be obliged to complete the sale of the Purchased Shares unless each of the
following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived on or before the Closing Time:
(a) Accuracy of Representations - The representations and warranties of Big Flash and Exchangeco set forth in sections 3.2 and 3.3 of this
Agreement and Parts 2 and 3 of Schedule "D" thereto shall be true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of Closing Time as if
made as of the Closing Time.
(b) Performance of Obligations - Big Flash and Exchangeco shall have performed all of the obligations hereunder to be performed by them at
or prior to the Closing, and shall not be in breach of any provision of this Agreement.
(c) Release of Guarantees - the bankers of the Company shall have delivered written releases of the guarantees given by certain of the Vendors
pertaining to the Company's line of credit, such releases to be satisfactory in form and content to the Vendors.
(d) Directors and Officers of Big Flash - Each of Horst Zerbe and Joel Cohen shall have been duly appointed as directors and senior officers of
Big Flash.
(e) Execution of Agreements - Big Flash and Exchangeco shall have executed and delivered on or prior to the Closing the Support Agreement,
the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, substantially in the form of Schedules E, G and F respectively, to this
Agreement
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(f) No Claims - No action by any Governmental Authority or other person shall have been instituted or threatened that could reasonably be
expected to materially (a) damage the business or financial condition of Big Flash or Exchangeco if the transactions contemplated hereunder
are consummated. There shall have been no determination by the Vendors that the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement has become inadvisable or impracticable solely by reason of the institution by any person or any federal, provincial or other
Governmental Authority of litigation. There shall not be any Regulation or Court Order that makes the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, the issuance and/or transfer of the Big Flash Shares or the Exchangeable Shares contemplated hereby illegal or otherwise
prohibited or that would prohibit the Vendors from selling the Big Flash Shares back into the United States in compliance with Rule 144 or
other registration exemption under U.S. Securities Law.
(g) No Material Change - Since December 31, 2005, there shall not have been any Material Adverse Change with respect to the financial or
business condition of Big Flash except as disclosed in the Big Flash SEC Documents.
(h) Legal Opinion - Big Flash and Exchangeco shall have delivered to the Vendors an opinion of Chitiz Pathak LLP and Leonard E. Neilson,
P.C., counsel to Big Flash and Exchangeco, dated as of the Closing Date, in a form satisfactory to the Vendors.
(i) Board Resolutions - The Vendors shall have received from Big Flash and Exchangeco resolutions adopted by the boards of directors of Big
Flash and Exchangeco approving this Agreement and the agreements and transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, certified by an officer
of Big Flash and Exchangeco, as applicable, respectively.
(j) No Suspension - From the date hereof to the Closing Date, trading in the common shares of Big Flash shall not have been suspended by the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and at any time prior to the Closing Date, trading in securities generally as reported by
Bloomberg Financial markets shall not have been suspended or limited, or minimum prices shall not have been established on securities whose
trades are reported by such service, or on any market or exchange on which the common shares of Big Flash are listed or quoted for trading on
the date in questions, nor shall a banking moratorium have been declared in respect of Big Flash by either the United States or Delaware State
authorities.
(k) Completion of Due Diligence - The Vendors, their counsel, agents or representatives, acting reasonably, shall have completed a legal due
diligence process on Big Flash, and all matters relating thereto, including but without limitation, a review of the Big Flash Financial
Statements.
-21-

SCHEDULE "D"
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS
Part 1 - Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Vendors. The Vendors hereby severally represent, warrant and covenant to
Exchangeco and Big Flash as follows, and acknowledge that Exchangeco and Big Flash are relying on these representations, warranties and
covenants in entering into this Agreement and performing their obligations under the same:
(a) Capacity and Authority - If the Vendor is a corporation, the Vendor (i) has been duly formed and is a valid and subsisting corporation, (ii)
has the necessary corporate capacity and authority to own the Purchased Shares, to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Escrow
Agreement and to observe and perform its covenants and obligations hereunder, (iii) has taken all necessary corporate action in respect and (iv)
the individual signing this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement on behalf of the Vendor has the authority to do so and to bind such Vendor
by his signature. If the Vendor is a natural person, he or she has the capacity to (i) own the Purchased Shares and (ii) execute this Agreement
and the Escrow Agreement and to take all actions required pursuant thereto.
(b) Title to Purchased Shares - Each particular Vendor is the sole legal and beneficial owner of the Purchased Shares set out opposite its name
in Schedule "B" hereto with good and marketable title thereto, free and clear of any Encumbrances.
(c) No Option - No Person has any agreement, warrant, option or right, or a right capable of becoming an agreement for, the purchase of the
Purchased Shares, or the purchase of any other securities of the Company.
(d) Absence of Conflict - No Vendor is a party to, bound or affected by any agreement, which is material to the Vendor and, which would be
violated, breached or terminated by, or which would result in creation or imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the Purchased Shares as
a consequence of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
in this Agreement or the Escrow Agreement. The execution of this Agreement and Escrow Agreement and the consummation of transactions
contemplated therein do not and will not conflict with, or result in a breach of, or constitute a default under the terms or conditions of any
Constating Documents of a Vendor (if not an individual), any Regulations, any court or administrative order or process, any material agreement
or instrument to which a Vendor is party or by which it is bound or require the Vendor to obtain any approval, consent or waiver of, or make
any filing with any person or entity (governmental or otherwise) which has not been obtained or made prior to the Closing Date except for such
breaches, defaults, approvals, consents, waivers or filings as would not individually or in the aggregate constitute a Material Adverse Change in
respect of the Vendor.
(e) Residence - Each Vendor is a resident, within the meaning of the Tax Act, of the jurisdiction set out under their name in Schedule "B"
hereto.
(f) Binding Agreement - This Agreement has been and the Escrow Agreement will be when executed duly and validly executed and delivered
by each Vendor and constitute legal, valid and binding
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obligations of each Vendor enforceable against the Vendor in accordance with their terms except as may be limited by laws of general
application affecting the rights of creditors, bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or moratorium, and subject to the effect of general
principles of equity, including the possible unavailability of specific performance or injunctive relief.
(g) Bankruptcy/Liquidation - No proceedings have been taken, are pending or have been authorized, and no receiver or trustee has been
appointed for a Vendor by the Vendor or (to the knowledge of the Vendor) by any other person in respect to the bankruptcy, insolvency,
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of a Vendor.
(h) Litigation - There are no judgments, decrees, injunctions, rulings or orders of any court, arbitrator, federal, provincial, state, municipal or
other governmental authority, department, commission, board, bureau or agency, or any actions, suits, grievances or proceedings (whether or
not on behalf of a Vendor) commenced, (or to the knowledge of the Vendor) pending or threatened against or relating to a Vendor which may
result in the imposition of a Encumbrance on the Purchased Shares or which may prevent, delay, make illegal or otherwise interfere with the
consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement.
(i) EACH VENDOR: (I) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES OF BIG FLASH IS HIGHLY SPECULATIVE
AND INVOLVES A VERY HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND SHOULD NOT BE MADE UNLESS THE VENDOR IS PREPARED TO, AND
CAN AFFORD TO, LOSE THE ENTIRE INVESTMENT; (II) HAS SUFFICIENT KNOWLEDGE, SOPHISTICATION AND
EXPERIENCE IN BUSINESS AND FINANCE TO CAPABLY EVALUATE INFORMATION CONCERNING BIG FLASH, (III) HAS
HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO REVIEW BIG FLASH'S PUBLICLY FILED REPORTS, AND TO ASK DETAILED QUESTIONS AND
RECEIVE SATISFACTORY ANSWERS FROM REPRESENTATIVES OF BIG FLASH, (IV) HAS HAD ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY
TO REQUEST AND REVIEW ANY AND ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS AND INFORMATION RELEVANT TO VENDOR'S
CONSIDERATION OF INVESTMENT IN THE BIG FLASH SECURITIES AND HAS OTHERWISE OBTAINED SUFFICIENT
INFORMATION FROM BIG FLASH TO EVALUATE THE MERITS AND RISKS OF AN INVESTMENT IN BIG FLASH; (V) HAS
INDEPENDENTLY CONSIDERED AND DISCUSSED SUCH PROSPECTIVE INVESTMENT WITH THE VENDOR'S BUSINESS,
LEGAL, TAX AND FINANCIAL ADVISERS AS TO THE SUITABILITY OF SUCH INVESTMENT WITH RESPECT TO THE
VENDOR'S PARTICULAR FINANCIAL SITUATION, AND (VI) ON THE BASIS OF THE FOREGOING, EACH VENDOR HAS
DETERMINED THAT INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY IS A SUITABLE INVESTMENT.
Part 2 - Representations, Warranties and Covenants of Big Flash. Big Flash represents, warrants and covenants to the Vendors as follows and
acknowledges that the Vendors are relying on these representations, warranties and covenants in entering into this Agreement and performing
their obligations under the same:
(a) Due Incorporation - Big Flash is a corporation duly incorporated and organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
State of Delaware with full corporate power and authority to own or lease its properties and to conduct its business in the manner and in the
places where such properties are owned or leased or such business is conducted or proposed to be conducted by it. Big Flash is not in violation
of any terms of its
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Constating Documents. Big Flash is not required to be licensed or qualified to conduct its business in any other jurisdiction where it is not so
licensed or qualified.
(b) Capacity and Authority - Big Flash has the power and capacity and good and sufficient right and authority to enter into this Agreement, the
Support Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth in each such
agreement, to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and the Exchange and Voting
Trust Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and the Exchange and Voting
Trust Agreement and the completion of the transactions contemplated herein and therein has been duly and validly authorized by all necessary
corporate action on the part of Big Flash, and no other action on the part of the board of directors or shareholders of Big Flash is required in
connection therewith.
(c) Binding Agreement - This Agreement has been and the Support Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and the Exchange and Voting Trust
Agreement will be when executed duly and validly executed and delivered by Big Flash and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of
Big Flash enforceable against Big Flash in accordance with their terms except as may be limited by laws of general application affecting the
rights of creditors, bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or moratorium, and subject to the effect of general principles of equity, including the
possible unavailability of specific performance or injunctive relief.
(d) Absence of Conflict - Big Flash is not a party to, bound or affected by any agreement which would be violated, breached or terminated by,
or which would result in creation or imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the assets of Big Flash, Exchangeable Shares, Purchased
Shares or Big Flash Shares as a consequence of the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Escrow Agreement
or the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement or give rise to a right of termination of any indenture, loan or credit agreement, or other
agreement, contract, instrument, mortgage, lien, lease, permit, authorization, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or
arbitration award to which Big Flash is a party or by which the property of Big Flash is bound or affected. The execution of this Agreement,
Support Agreement, Escrow Agreement and the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and the consummation of transactions contemplated
therein do not and will not conflict with, or result in a breach of, or constitute a default under the terms or conditions of any Constating
Documents of Big Flash, any Regulations, any court or administrative order or process, any agreement or instrument to which Big Flash is
party or by which it is bound or require Big Flash to obtain any approval, consent or waiver of, or make any filing with, any person or entity
(governmental or otherwise) which has not been obtained or made prior to the Closing Date except for such breach or defaults as would not
individually or in the aggregate constitutea Material AdverseChange in respect of Big Flash.
(e) Bankruptcy / Liquidation - No proceedings have been taken, are pending or have been authorized, and no receiver or trustee has been
appointed for Big Flash by Big Flash or (to the knowledge of Big Flash) by any other person in respect to the bankruptcy, insolvency,
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Big Flash.
(f) Litigation - There are no judgments, decrees, injunctions, rulings or orders of any court, arbitrator, federal, provincial, state, municipal or
other governmental authority, department, commission, board, bureau or agency, or any actions, suits, grievances or
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proceedings (whether or not on behalf of Big Flash) commenced, or, to the knowledge of Big Flash, pending or threatened against or relating to
Big Flash which may result in the imposition of an Encumbrance on the Exchangeable Shares or the Big Flash Shares or which may prevent,
delay, make illegal or otherwise interfere with the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement. To the knowledge of Big
Flash, no director or officer of Big Flash, is or has been the subject of any action involving a claim of violation of or liability under federal or
state securities laws or a claim of breach of fiduciary duty. There has not been, and to the knowledge of Big Flash, there is not pending or
contemplated, any investigation by the SEC involving Big Flash or any current or former director or officer of Big Flash. Neither Big Flash nor
any property or asset of Big Flash is subject to any continuing order of, consent decree, settlement agreement or other similar written agreement
with, or to the knowledge of Big Flash, continuing investigation by, any Governmental Authority, or any order, writ, judgment, injunction,
decree, determination or award of any Governmental Authority.
(g) Capitalization - The authorized and outstanding capitalization of Big Flash consists of 20,000,000 common shares, par value $0.00001 per
share, of which 1,500,000 common shares are issued and outstanding. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of Big Flash have been
validly issued and are outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable, shares of Big Flash. No Person has any right of first refusal, preemptive
right, right of participation, or any similar right to participate in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and its Schedules. Except as a
result of the purchase and sale of the Purchased Shares, there are no outstanding options, warrants, script rights to subscribe to, calls or
commitments of any character whatsoever relating to, or securities, rights or obligations convertible into or exchangeable for, or giving any
Person any right to subscribe for any common shares of Big Flash or contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which Big
Flash is or may become bound to issue additional common shares of Big Flash or rights convertible or exchangeable into shares of common
stock of Big Flash, save as disclosed in Big Flash's SEC Reports. Filings with the SEC will not obligate Big Flash to issue common shares of
Big Flash or other securities to any Person (other than each Vendor) and will not result in a right of any holder of Big Flash securities to adjust
the exercise, conversion, exchange or reset price under such securities. Big Flash has reserved no common shares of Big Flash for issuance
upon exercise of outstanding options or warrants to purchase common shares of Big Flash.
(h) SEC Reports and Financial Statements - Big Flash has filed all reports, forms, statements, schedules, registration statements and other
documents required to be filed by it under U.S. Securities Law for the two years preceding the date hereof (or such shorter period as Big Flash
was required by law to file such material) (the foregoing materials, including the exhibits thereto and any forms, reports, statements, schedules,
registration statements and other documents filed subsequent to the date hereof, being collectively referred to herein as the "SEC Reports") on a
timely basis or has received a valid extension of such time of filing and has filed any such SEC Reports prior to the expiration of any such
extension. Big Flash has made available to the Vendors a true and complete copy of each SEC Report, and prior to the Closing Date, Big Flash
will have furnished the Vendors with true and complete copies of any additional SEC Reports filed with the SEC by Big Flash prior to the
Closing Date. All documents required to be filed as exhibits to the SEC Reports have been so filed, and all material contracts so filed as
exhibits are in full force and effect, except as disclosed in the SEC Reports and those which have expired in accordance with their terms, and
neither Big Flash
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nor any of its subsidiaries is in default thereunder. The SEC Reports (i) at the time they were filed or, if amended, as of the date of such
amendment, complied in all material respects, and each report subsequently filed by Big Flash with the SEC will comply in all material
respects, with all applicable requirements of U.S. Securities Law, as in effect on the date so filed, and
(ii) did not or will not, at the time they were or will be filed, or, if amended, as of the date of such amendment, contain any untrue statement of
a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No subsidiary of Big Flash is required to file any form, report or other document
with the SEC. Big Flash has not received any non-routine inquires or interrogatories, whether in writing or otherwise, from the SEC or any
other Governmental Authority or been the subject of any investigation, audit, review or hearing by or in front of such persons, in each case with
respect to any of the SEC Reports or any of the information contained therein. True and complete copies of any such written inquiries or
interrogatories have been furnished to the Vendors and the Vendors have otherwise been made aware of any such oral inquiries or
interrogatories, investigations, audits, reviews or hearings. The financial statements of Big Flash, including the notes thereto, included in the
SEC Reports (the "Big Flash Financial Statements") are complete and correct in all material respects as of their respective dates, comply as to
form in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and with the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect
thereto as of their respective dates, and have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP applied on a basis consistent throughout the periods
indicated and consistent with each other. The Big Flash Financial Statements fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial
condition, operating results and cash flows of Big Flash and its subsidiaries at the dates and during the periods indicated therein. There has
been no change in Big Flash's accounting policies except as described in the notes to the Big Flash Financial Statements. Except as and to the
extent set forth in the SEC Reports, none of Big Flash nor any of its subsidiaries has any liability or obligation of any nature (whether accrued,
absolute, contingent or otherwise), in each case that is required by US GAAP to be set forth on a consolidated balance sheet of Big Flash or in
the notes thereto. Except as set forth in SEC Reports from December 31, 2005 through the date hereof (i) there has not been any Material
Adverse Change in the business, operations, properties, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or other), results of operations or prospects of Big
Flash and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and (ii) Big Flash and its subsidiaries have conducted their businesses only in the ordinary course
and in a manner consistent with past practice and Big Flash and its subsidiaries have not taken any action that, if taken after the date of this
Agreement, would constitute a breach of the covenants set forth in Section 5.2 of this Agreement. Big Flash has designed such internal control
over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP (as such term is defined in National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting
Principles, Auditing Standards and Reporting Currency) and Big Flash has disclosed in its most recent SEC Reports any changes in its internal
control over financial reporting that has affected or is reasonably likely to affect its internal control over financial reporting.
(i) Listing and Maintenance Requirements - Big Flash has not, in the 12 months preceding the date hereof, received notice from any trading
market on which the common shares of Big Flash is or has been listed or quoted to the effect that Big Flash is not in
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compliance with the listing or maintenance requirements of such trading market and Big Flash is, and has no reason to believe that it will not in
the foreseeable future continue to be, in compliance with all such requirements.
(j) Issuance and Securities Law - The Big Flash Shares issuable upon exercise of the Exchangeable Shares will: (i) be validly issued, fully paid
and non-assessable and not subject to pre-emptive rights or other similar rights of shareholders; (ii) be free from all liens and charges with
respect to the issuance thereof; (iii) be issued or transferred to the Vendors pursuant to a valid exemption under U.S. Securities Law; (iv) be
issued or transferred to the Vendors pursuant to the prospectus and registration exemption contained in section 2.16 of NI 45-106 and section
4.5 of the Companion Policy to NI 45-106; (v) be subject to the hold period prescribed in section 2.6 of NI 45-102; (vi) be subject to the hold
period prescribed by Rule 144 of U.S. Securities Act; and
(xi) be registered or exempt from registration under applicable "blue sky laws".
(k) Business Operations - Since its incorporation, Big Flash has not carried on any active business operations.
(l) No Vote Required - No vote of the stockholders of Big Flash is required by Regulation, Big Flash's Constating Documents or otherwise in
order for Big Flash and Exchangeco to consummate the transactions contemplated in this Agreement.
(m) Securities and Blue Sky Laws - Big Flash shall take such steps as may be necessary to comply with the securities and blue sky laws of all
jurisdictions which are applicable to the issuance of the Exchangeable Shares and the issuance and transfer of the Big Flash Shares in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.
(n) Commitments for Capital Expenditures - Big Flash is not committed to make any material capital expenditures, nor have any capital
expenditures been authorized by Big Flash other than such expenditures as disclosed in the Big Flash Financial Statements.
(o) Dividends and Distributions - Since the date of the Big Flash Financial Statements, Big Flash has not declared or paid any dividend or made
any other distribution on any of its shares of any class, or redeemed or purchased or otherwise acquired any of its shares of any class, or
reduced its authorized capital or issued capital, or agreed to any of the foregoing.
(p) Tax Matters
(i) Big Flash has duly and on a timely basis prepared and filed all tax returns and other documents required to be filed by them in respect of all
Governmental Charges and such returns and documents are complete and correct and clearly and fairly represent the information and tax status
of Big Flash for the relevant period;
(ii) Big Flash has paid all Governmental Charges which are due and. payable on or before the date hereof. Adequate provision was made in the
Big Flash Financial Statements for all Governmental Charges for the periods covered by the Big Flash Financial Statements. To the best of the
knowledge of Big Flash, Big Flash has no liability for Governmental Charges other than those provided for in the Big Flash Financial
Statements and those arising in the Ordinary Course of Business of Big Flash since the date of the Big Flash Financial Statements and for
which adequate provisions have been made on the books of Big Flash;
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(iii) there are no actions, suits, proceedings, investigations, enquiries or claims now pending or made or, to the knowledge of Big Flash,
threatened against Big Flash in respect of Governmental Charges;
(iv) there are no Governmental Charges, assessments, re-assessments, or levies of any whatsoever nature which Big Flash is required or will or
could be required by law to withhold, collect or pay and for which Big Flash could become liable, including, but without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, unemployment insurance, pension plan payments, non-resident withholding tax or similar assessments, except as disclosed in
the Big Flash Financial Statements;
(v) all Governmental Charges, assessments, levies and source deductions which Big Flash is required by law to withhold or to collect,
including, without limitation, unemployment insurance, employment benefits, pension plan payments and non-resident withholding tax, have
been, to the best of its knowledge, duly withheld or collected, and paid over to the proper governmental authorities, or held by Big Flash or on
behalf of it as required, and such withholdings and collections and all other payments due in connection therewith are duly reflected in the Big
Flash Financial Statements to the date as of which they were prepared and since that date will be duly entered in the accounts of Big Flash;
(vi) there are no agreements, waivers or other arrangements providing for any extension of time with respect to the filing of any tax return or
other document or the payment of any Governmental Charges by Big Flash; and
(vii) on or before the Closing Date, all returns of Big Flash for capital, excise, sales or use tax required to be filed by Big Flash before the
Closing Date shall be fully prepared and filed before the Closing Date and all such Governmental Charges of every kind and description due or
payable against or payable by Big Flash prior to the Closing Date in respect of Big Flash shall have been paid by Big Flash.
(q) Inspection of Financial Books and Records - Until and including the Closing Time,Big Flash shall make available during normal business
hours, to the representatives of the Company all material books, accounts, records and other financial and accounting data of Big Flash
(including all available unaudited financial statements) in order to enable such representatives to make an examination of the same.
(r) Inspection of Non-Financial Books and Records - Until and including the Closing Time, Big Flash shall make available during normal
business hours, to Counsel for the Company all Material Contracts, minute books and other material corporate records and all documents of
title and related records and other material data of Big Flash in order to enable such counsel to make an examination of the same.
(s) Investment Canada Act - Following the Closing, Big Flash will file all required notices pursuant to the Investment Canada Act or the
Competition Act (Canada).
Part 3 - Representations, Warranties and Covenants of Exchangeco. Exchangeco and
Big Flash jointly and severally represent, warrant and covenant to the Vendors as follows and acknowledge that the Vendors are relying on
these
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representations, warranties and covenants in entering into this Agreement and performing their obligations under the same:
(a)

Due
Incorporation
- Exchangeco is a corporation
duly
incorporated and organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation
with full corporate power and authority to own or lease its
properties and to conduct its business in the manner and in
the places where such properties are owned or leased or such
business is conducted or proposed to be conducted by it.
Exchangeco is not in violation of any terms of its Constating
Documents. Exchangeco is not required to be licensed or
qualified to conduct its business in any other jurisdiction
where it is not so licensed or qualified.
(b)

Capacity and Authority - Exchangeco has the power and capacity and
good and sufficient right and authority to enter into this
Agreement,
Support Agreement, the Escrow Agreement and the
Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement on the terms and conditions
set forth in each such agreement and to perform its obligations
under this Agreement, Support Agreement, Escrow Agreement and the
Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement. The execution and delivery of
this Agreement, Support Agreement, Escrow Agreement and the
Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement and the completion of the
transaction
contemplated
herein has been duly and validly
authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of
Exchangeco, and no other action on the part of the board of
directors or shareholders of Exchangeco is required in connection
therewith.

(c)

Binding Obligation - This Agreement has been and the Support
Agreement, Escrow Agreement and the Exchange and Voting Trust
Agreement will be when executed duly and validly executed and
delivered by Exchangeco and constitute legal, valid and binding
obligations on its part enforceable
against
Exchangeco in
accordance with their terms except as may be limited by laws of
general application affecting the rights of creditors, bankruptcy,
reorganization, insolvency or moratorium, and subject to the
effect of general principles of equity, including the possible
unavailability of specific performance or injunctive relief.

(d)

Absence of Conflict - Exchangeco is not a party to, bound or
affected by any agreement which would be violated, breached or
terminated by, or which would result in creation or imposition of
any Encumbrance upon any of the Exchangeable Shares or Big Flash
Shares as a consequence of the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, Support Agreement, Escrow Agreement or the Exchange and
Voting Trust Agreement or the consummation of the transactions
contemplated in this Agreement,
Support
Agreement,
Escrow
Agreement or the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement or give rise
to a right of termination of any indenture, loan or credit
agreement, or other agreement, contract, instrument, mortgage,
lien, lease, permit,
authorization,
order, writ, judgment,
injunction, decree, determination or arbitration award to which
Exchangeco is a party or by which the property of Exchangeco is
bound or affected. Exchangeco's execution of this Agreement,
Support Agreement, Escrow Agreement and the Exchange and Voting
Trust Agreement and the consummation of transactions contemplated
therein do not and will not conflict with, or result in a breach
of, or constitute a default under the terms or conditions of any
Constating Documents of Exchangeco, any Regulations, court or
administrative order or process, any agreement or instrument to
which Exchangeco is party or by which it is bound or require
Exchangeco to obtain any approval, consent or waiver of, or make
any filing with, any person or entity (governmental or otherwise)
which has not been obtained or made prior to the Closing Date
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except for such breach or defaults as would not individually or in the aggregate constitute a Material Adverse Change in respect of
Exchangeco.
(e) Capitalization - The authorized and outstanding capitalization of Exchangeco consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares and Class
A Special Shares. All of the outstanding shares in the capital of Exchangeco have been validly issued and are outstanding as fully paid and nonassessable shares of Exchangeco. No Person has any right of first refusal, preemptive right, right of participation, or any similar right to
participate in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and its Schedules. Except as a result of the purchase and sale of the Purchased
Shares, there are no outstanding options, warrants, script rights to subscribe to, calls or commitments of any character whatsoever relating to, or
securities, rights or obligations convertible into or exchangeable for, or giving any Person any right to subscribe for any shares of Exchangeco
or contracts, commitments, understandings or arrangements by which Exchangeco is or may become bound to issue additional shares of
Exchangeco or rights convertible or exchangeable into shares of Exchangeco.
(f) Bankruptcy/Liquidation - No proceedings have been taken, are pending or have been authorized, and no receiver or trustee has been
appointed for Exchangeco by Exchangeco or (to the knowledge of Exchangeco) by any other person in respect to the bankruptcy, insolvency,
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Exchangeco.
(g) Litigation - There are no judgements, decrees, injunctions, rulings or orders of any court, arbitrator, federal, provincial, state, municipal or
other governmental authority, department, commission, board, bureau or agency, or any actions, suits, grievances or proceedings (whether or
not on behalf of Exchangeco) commenced, pending or threatened against or relating to Exchangeco which may result in the imposition of a
Encumbrance on the Exchangeable Shares or which may prevent, delay, make illegal or otherwise interfere with the consummation of the
transactions contemplated in this Agreement. Neither Exchangeco nor any property or asset of Exchangeco is subject to any continuing order
of, consent decree, settlement agreement or other similar written agreement with, or to the knowledge of Exchangeco, continuing investigation
by, any Governmental Authority, or any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award of any Governmental Authority.
(h) Issuance and Securities Law - The Exchangeable Shares issuable to the Vendors will: (i) be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable
and not subject to pre-emptive rights or other similar rights of shareholders; (ii) be free from all liens and charges with respect to the issuance
thereof; (iii) be issued to the Vendors pursuant to a valid exemption under U.S. Securities Law; (iv) be issued to the Vendors pursuant to the
prospectus and registration exemption contained in section 2.16 of NI 45-106; (v) the exchange, redemption or retraction of the Exchangeable
Shares for Big Flash Shares in accordance with the provisions of the Exchangeable Shares and the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement shall
be exempt from the prospectus and registration requirements of Canadian Securities Laws pursuant to the exemption contained in section 2.16
of NI 45-106 and section 4.5 of the Companion Policy to NI 45-106; (vi) be subject to the hold period prescribed in
Section 2.4 of NI 45-102; (vii) be subject to the hold period prescribed by Rule 144 of U.S. Securities Act; and (viii) be registered or exempt
from registration under applicable "blue sky laws".
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(i) Business Operations - Since its incorporation, Exchangeco has not carried on any active business operations.
(j) No Vote Required - No vote of the stockholders of Exchangeco is required by Regulation, Excahngeco's Constating Documents or otherwise
in order for Exchangeco to consummate the transactions contemplated in this Agreement.
(k) Priority - Notwithstanding any term of Exchangeco's Constating Documents to the contrary, the terms and provisions of this Agreement and
the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement shall prevail such that the directors of Exchangeco will only authorize the exchange of the
Exchangeable Shares for Big Flash Shares in accordance with the terms of the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement.
(l) Inspection of Financial Books and Records - Until and including the Closing Time, Exchangeco shall make available to the representatives
of the Vendors all material books, accounts, records and other financial and accounting data of Exchangeco (including all available unaudited
financial statements) in order to enable such representatives to make an examination of the same and shall cause the accountants of Exchangeco
to give all such material information concerning the affairs of same to such representatives as such representatives may reasonably request.
(m) Inspection of Non-Financial Books and Records - Until and including the Closing Time, Exchangeco shall make available to counsel for
the Vendors all material contracts of Exchangeco, minute books and other corporate records and all documents of title and related records and
other material data of Exchangeco in order to enable such counsel to make an examination of the same and without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, including such technical and market information as the Vendors consider appropriate and all environmental permits, licenses and
approvals.
Part 4 - Representations, Warrants and Covenants of the Vendors and the Company.
The Vendors and the Company hereby jointly and severally represent, warrant and covenant to Exchangeco and Big Flash as follows, and
acknowledge that Exchangeco and Big Flash are relying on these representations, warranties and covenants in entering into this Agreement and
performing their obligations under the same:
(a) Due Incorporation - The Company is a corporation duly incorporated and organized, validly existing and in good standing under the federal
laws of Canada with full corporate power and authority to own or lease its properties and to conduct its business in the manner and in the
places where such properties are owned or leased or such business is conducted or proposed to be conducted by it. The Company is not in
violation of any terms of its Constating Documents. The Company is not required to be licensed or qualified to conduct its business in any
other jurisdiction where it is not so licensed or qualified.
(b) Authorized Capital. The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares of which a total of
10,991,000 Shares are validly issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable;
(c) Shareholders of the Company - Schedule "B" hereto contains a complete and accurate list of each registered holder of issued and
outstanding Purchased Shares and sets out the residence or principal place of business of each holder;
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(d) No Option to Purchase. Other than pursuant to the loan agreement to be entered into by the Company and Patrick J. Caruso, no person has
any agreement, right or option (whether direct, indirect or contingent or whether pre-emptive, contractual or by law) to purchase, or otherwise
acquire any of the unissued shares in the capital of the Company, or for the issue of any other securities of any nature or kind of the Company;
(e) Exempt Take-Over Bid. The Company is not a "reporting issuer" as such term is defined in the Securities Act (Quebec), the Purchased
Shares are not traded on an organized market and there are less than 50 security holders of the Company, excluding holders who are or have
been employees of the Company or of an affiliate of the Company;
(f) No Share Restrictions. Except as provided for in this Agreement, none of the outstanding Common Shares are subject to escrow restrictions,
pooling arrangements, voting trusts or any form of shareholders agreements, whether voluntary or otherwise;
(g) Material Contracts. Each Material Contract is in good standing and in full force and effect with no amendments except as set forth in
Schedule "H" and the Company is entitled to all rights and benefits thereunder. The Material Contracts, including any amendments thereto or
extensions thereof are, to the Vendors' knowledge, valid and binding obligations of the parties thereto enforceable in accordance with their
respective terms. The Company has complied with all material terms of the Material Contracts, has paid all material amounts due thereunder,
has not waived any material rights thereunder and no material default or breach exists in respect thereof on the part of the Company, or to the
Vendors' knowledge, on the part of any of the other parties thereto and no event has occurred which, after the giving of notice or the lapse of
time or both, would constitute such a material default or breach. All amounts payable to the Company under the Material Contracts, which have
not yet been paid to the Company, are still due and owing to the Company without any right of set-off;
(h) Intellectual Property.
(i) Attached as Schedule "I" is a list of all Intellectual Property described in clauses (i) and (iii) to (vi) of the definition of Intellectual Property,
as well as all inventions (whether patentable or not), invention disclosures, improvements, discoveries, trade secrets and customer lists, owned
by or licensed to the Company or used by the Company in carrying on its business.
(ii) Schedule "I" includes complete and accurate particulars of all registrations and applications for registration of the Intellectual Property
owned by the Company. All of the Company's owned Intellectual Property which has been registered or applied for has been properly
maintained and renewed by the Company in accordance with all applicable laws. (iii) Except as set forth in Schedule "I", the Company owns
all right, title and interest in and to the Intellectual Property owned by the Company, free and clear of all liens and the Company has the right to
use all the Intellectual Property used by it in carrying on its business. To the knowledge of the Company, it has taken all reasonable steps to
protect its rights in and to its owned Intellectual Property, in each case in accordance with industry practice.
-32-

(iv) Except as set forth in Schedule "I", to the knowledge of the Company, no person is currently infringing any of the Intellectual Property
owned by, licensed to or used by the Company.
(v) Except as set forth in Schedule "I", all current and former employees and consultants of the Company have entered into confidentiality,
intellectual property assignment and proprietary information agreements with and in favour of the Company. Each such person has waived its
non-assignable rights (including moral rights) to any Intellectual Property created by it on behalf of the Company
(i) No Claims. To the knowledge of the Vendors, there are no claims, actions, suits, judgments, litigation or proceedings pending against or
affecting the Company which will constitute or may constitute a Material Adverse Change for the Company after giving effect to the
Transaction or which may prevent the completion of the Transaction, and the Company is not aware of any existing ground on which any such
claim, action, suit, judgment, litigation or proceeding might be commenced with any reasonable likelihood of success;
(j) Financial Statements. The audited financial statements of the Company and the notes thereto for the financial years ended December 31,
2005 and December 31, 2004 fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position, results of operations, earnings and cash
flow of the Company as at the respective dates and for the periods indicated therein and such financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles that were applicable as of the date thereof applied on a consistent basis;
(k) No Material Adverse Change. There has been no Material Adverse Change in relation to the Company since December 31, 2005;
(l) Not a Reporting Issuer. The Company is not a reporting issuer under the securities legislation of any province or territory of Canada.
(m) Binding Agreement - This Agreement, has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes legal, valid and
binding obligations of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms except as may be limited by laws of general
application affecting the rights of creditors.
(n) Absence of Conflict - The Company is not a party to, bound or affected by any agreement which would be violated, breached or terminated
by, or which would result in creation or imposition of any Encumbrance upon any of the assets of the Company or the Purchased Shares as a
consequence of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or give rise to a right of termination of any indenture, loan or credit agreement, or
other agreement, contract, instrument, mortgage, lien, lease, permit, authorization, order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or
arbitration award to which the Company is a party or by which the property of the Company is bound or affected. The consummation of
transactions contemplated herein do not and will not conflict with, or result in a breach of, or constitute a default under the terms or conditions
of any Constating Documents of the Company, any Regulations, any court or administrative order or process, any agreement or instrument to
which the Company is party or by which it is bound or require the Company to obtain any approval, consent or waiver of, or make any filing
with, any person or entity
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(governmental or otherwise) which has not been obtained or made prior to the Closing Date except for such breaches, defaults, approvals.
consents, waivers or filings as would not individually or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Affect on the Company.
(o) Bankruptcy / Liquidation - No proceedings have been taken, are pending or have been authorized, and no receiver or trustee has been
appointed for the Company by the Company or (to the knowledge of the Company) by any other person in respect to the bankruptcy,
insolvency, liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.
(p) No Guarantees - Except as disclosed in the Company Financial Statements, the Company is not a party to or bound by any agreement of
guarantee, indemnification, assumption or endorsement or any other like commitment of the obligations, liabilities (contingent or otherwise) or
indebtedness of any Persons except in the Ordinary Course of Business.
(q) Litigation - There are no judgments, decrees, injunctions, rulings or orders of any court, arbitrator, federal, provincial, state, municipal or
other governmental authority, department, commission, board, bureau or agency, or any actions, suits, grievances or proceedings (whether or
not on behalf of the Company) commenced, or, to the knowledge of the Company, pending or threatened against or relating to the Company
which may result in the imposition of an Encumbrance on the Purchased Shares or which may prevent, delay, make illegal or otherwise
interfere with the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement. To the knowledge of the Company, no director or officer
of the Company, is or has been the subject of any action involving a claim of violation of or liability under federal or state securities laws or a
claim of breach of fiduciary duty. There has not been, and to the knowledge of the Company, there is not pending or contemplated, any
investigation by the SEC involving the Company or any current or former director or officer of the Company The Company is not subject to
any continuing order of, consent decree, settlement agreement or other similar written agreement with, or to the knowledge of the Company,
continuing investigation by, any Governmental Authority, or any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award of any
Governmental Authority.
(r) Partnerships or Joint Ventures - Except as disclosed in the Material Contracts, the Company is not a partner or participant in any
partnership, joint venture, profit-sharing arrangement or other association of any kind and is not a party to any agreement under which the
Company agrees to carry on any part of its business or any other activity in such manner or by which the Company agrees to share any revenue
or profit with any other Persons.
(s) Officers and Directors of the Company - The only officers and directors of the Company are as hereinafter set forth:
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Name
---Horst Zerbe
Ingird Zerbe
Joel Cohen

Office
-----President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director
Secretary, Director
Executive Vice-President,
Chief Financial Officer and Director

(t) Management Contracts - Except as provided in the Material Contracts, the Company is not a party to any written management contract or
employment agreement, including without limitation, any contract which provides for the payment of severance in lieu of notice upon
termination thereof or for a right of payment in the event of a change in control of the Company.
(u) Corporate Records - As of the date hereof, the corporate records and minute books of the Company are materially complete and accurate.
The share certificate books, register of transfers and register of directors and any similar corporate records of the Company are complete and
accurate in all material respects.
(v) Liabilities of the Company - There are no material liabilities, contingent or otherwise, of the Company of any kind whatsoever, including,
without limitation, any bonds, debentures, mortgages, promissory notes, loan agreements, inter-company debt, or liabilities of any kind, other
than the loan agreement between the Company and Patrick J. Caruso and:
(i) liabilities disclosed or reflected in or provided for in the Company Financial Statements or this Agreement; and
(ii) liabilities incurred since the date of the Company Financial Statements which were incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business.
(w) Prepaid Expenses - All prepaid expenses reflected in the Company Financial Statements, and all expenses prepaid by the Company
subsequent to the Company Financial Statements were prepaid in accordance with the regular business practices of the Company, consist of
expenses that were incurred in the ordinary course of business of the Company, consistent with past practice, and are valued at reasonable
amounts based on the Ordinary Course of Business of the Company within the past six months. There has not been any material write-down or
write-off of, or other adjustments to, such prepaid expenses by the Company since the date of the Company Financial Statements.
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SCHEDULE "E"
SUPPORT AGREEMENT
Please see attached.
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SCHEDULE "F"
ESCROW AGREEMENT
Please see attached.
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SCHEDULE "D" PART II DISCLOSURE ANNEX G
CAPITALIZATION OF BIG FLASH
Big Flash's authorized capital stock consists of 20,000,000 shares, all of which are common shares, par value $0.00001 per share. There are
1,500,000 common shares issued and outstanding as of the date hereof. There are no preferred shares authorized, issued or outstanding.
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SCHEDULE "G"
EXCHANGE AND VOTING TRUST AGREEMENT
Please see attached.
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SCHEDULE "H"
MATERIAL CONTRACTS
1. Development Agreement dated November 17, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp. and Cary Pharmaceutical Inc.
2. Development Agreement dated October 28, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp. and Novavax Inc.
3. Memorandum of Understanding dated October 26, 2005 between Keata Pharma Inc. and IntelGenx Corp.
4. Employment Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp. and Horst Zerbe
5. Memorandum of Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp. and Horst Zerbe
6. Employment Letter dated December 1, 2005 from IntelGenx Corp. to Ingrid Zerbe
7. Confidentiality Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp. and Ingrid Zerbe
8. Employment Agreement dated November 28, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp. and Pompilia Ispas-Szabo, as amended on January 9, 2006
9. Employment Agreement dated June 27, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp.
and Nadine Paiement
10. Consulting Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between IntelGenx Corp. and Joel Cohen.
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SCHEDULE "I"
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
----------- -------------------------------- -----------------------------------------No.
Patent/Application No.
Title
----------- -------------------------------- -----------------------------------------1
US 6,231,957
Rapidly Disintegrating Flavor Wafer for
Flavor Enrichment
----------- -------------------------------- -----------------------------------------2
US 6,660,292
Rapidly Disintegrating Film for
Precokked Foods
----------- -------------------------------- -----------------------------------------3
US Appl. 10/123,142
Flavored Film
----------- -------------------------------- -----------------------------------------4
US Provisional Appl.
Multilayer Tablet
60,755,280
----------- -------------------------------- -----------------------------------------5
US Provisional Appl.
Multi-Vitamin And Mineral Supplement
60/748,298
----------- -------------------------------- -----------------------------------------6
US Provisional Appl.
Delayed Release Pharmaceutical Oral
60,772,547
----------- -------------------------------- ------------------------------------------

------------------------Date submitted/issued
------------------------05/2001
------------------------12/2003
------------------------04/2002
------------------------12/2005
------------------------12/2005
------------------------12/2005
-------------------------

Notes:
(1) Ownership of all intellectual property is subject to a Movable Hypothec granted in favour of each of Jelf Caruso and the Business
Development Bank of Canada pursuant to the laws of the Province of Quebec.
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EXCHANGE AND VOTING TRUST AGREEMENT
THIS EXCHANGE AND VOTING TRUST AGREEMENT made as of the 28th day April, 2006.
AMONG:

BIG FLASH CORP, a corporation
the State of Delaware;

subsisting

under the laws of

(the "Parent");
AND:

6544631 CANADA INC., a
laws of Canada;

corporation

incorporated

under the

(the "Purchaser");
AND:

EQUITY TRANSFER SERVICES INC., a corporation
under the federal laws of Canada;

incorporated

(the "Trustee");
AND:

EACH OF THOSE PERSONS holding
listed in Appendix A hereto;

shares of the

Purchaser,

as

(individually a "Shareholder" and collectively the
"Shareholders");

WHEREAS the Purchaser is the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Parent;
WHEREAS pursuant to a share exchange agreement dated as of o, 2006 (the "Purchase Agreement") by and among the Parent, the Purchaser,
the Shareholders and IntelGenx Corp. ("IntelGenx"), the Purchaser acquired all of the issued and outstanding common shares of IntelGenx
from the Shareholders in consideration of: (i) the Purchaser issuing to the Shareholders a total of 10,991,000 Exchangeable Shares (as herein
defined); and (ii) the Parent issuing the Parent Common Shares (as herein defined) to the Trustee to be held and dealt with by the Trustee in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
WHEREAS as security for the Parent's covenant to issue common shares in its capital stock in exchange for Exchangeable Shares, the Parent
agreed to issue 10,991,000 common shares (as herein defined as the "Parent Common Shares") to the Trustee;
AND WHEREAS in accordance with the Purchase Agreement, this Agreement stipulates the means by which: (i) the Shareholders have voting
rights in the Parent; (ii) the Trustee holds the Parent Common Shares as security for the Parent's covenant to issue common shares in exchange
for the Exchangeable Shares; and (iii) the Shareholders exercise their rights of conversion of the Exchangeable Shares;
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NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the respective covenants and agreements provided in this Agreement and for other good and valuable
consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged), the parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1.1 DEFINITIONS
In this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
"Affiliate" of any person means any other person directly or indirectly controlled by, or under common control of, that person. For the purposes
of this definition, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control of"), as applied to any
person, means the possession by another person, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and
policies of that first mentioned person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, provided that for the
purpose of this Agreement, a Shareholder shall not be deemed to be an Affiliate of the Parent solely as a result of the ownership of
Exchangeable Shares by such Shareholder, the rights of Shareholders under the Exchangeable Share Provisions, the Support Agreement and
the Purchase Agreement, and the Shareholder being a beneficiary of the rights granted to the Trustee under this Agreement.
"Automatic Exchange Rights" means the benefit of the obligation of Parent to effect the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for Parent
Common Shares pursuant to section 4.11 hereof.
"Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of the Purchaser.
"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day when banks are not open for business in Montreal, Quebec.
"Current Market Price" shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
"Exchangeable Shares" means the Class A Special shares in the capital of the Purchaser, including the Exchangeable Shares issuable under the
Purchase Agreement.
"Exchangeable Share Provisions" means the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Exchangeable Shares, substantially in
the form set out in Schedule "A" to the Support Agreement.
"Insolvency Event" means the institution by the Purchaser of any proceeding to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent or to be dissolved or
wound up, or the consent of the Purchaser to the institution of bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or winding up proceedings against it, or the
filing of a petition, answer or consent seeking dissolution or winding up under any bankruptcy, insolvency or analogous laws, including
without limitation the Companies Creditors' Arrangement Act (Canada) and the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), and the failure by
the Purchaser to contest in good faith any such
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proceedings commenced in respect of the Purchaser within fifteen (15) days of becoming aware thereof, or the consent by the Purchaser to the
filing of any such petition or to the appointment of a receiver, or the making by the Purchaser of a general assignment for the benefit of
creditors, or the admission in writing by the Purchaser of its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, or the Purchaser not being
permitted, pursuant to solvency requirements of applicable law, to redeem any Retracted Shares pursuant to section 6.6 of the Exchangeable
Share Provisions.
"Insolvency Exchange Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.1.
"Liquidation Call Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
"Liquidation Event" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.11(a).
"Liquidation Event Effective Date" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.11(c).
"List" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 3.8.
"Officer's Certificate" means, with respect to the Parent or the Purchaser, as the case may be, a certificate signed by any one of the Chairman of
the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Chief Financial Officer of the Parent or the Purchaser, as the case may be.
"Parent Common Shares" means the shares of common stock of the Parent, par value of U.S.$0.00001, having voting rights of one vote per
share, and any other securities into which such shares may be changed.
"Parent Consent" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 3.2. "Parent Meeting" has the meaning ascribed in section 3.2. "Parent Successor"
has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 11.1(a).
"Purchase Agreement" means the Purchase Agreement between the Parent, the Purchaser, IntelGenx and the Shareholders named therein, dated
as of the same date hereof.
"Person" shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
"Redemption Call Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
"Retracted Shares" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 4.6.
"Retraction Call Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
"Shareholders" means the registered holders from time to time of Exchangeable Shares, other than the Parent and its Affiliates, as listed in
Appendix A hereto.
"Shareholder Votes" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 3.2.
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"Support Agreement" means that certain support agreement made as of the same date hereof between the Purchaser, the Parent and the Trustee.
"Trust" means the trust created by this Agreement.
"Trust Estate" means the Trust Shares, the Insolvency Exchange Right, the Automatic Exchange Rights and any other securities, money or
other property which may be held by the Trustee from time to time pursuant to this Agreement.
"Trust Shares" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 2.2.
"Trustee" means Equity Transfer Services Inc., and subject to the provisions of Article 10, includes any successor trustee.
"Voting Rights" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 3.1.
1.2 INTERPRETATION NOT AFFECTED BY HEADINGS, ETC.
The division of this Agreement into articles, sections and paragraphs and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and
shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.
1.3 NUMBER, GENDER, ETC.
Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa. Words importing the use of any gender shall include all
genders.
1.4 DATE FOR ANY ACTION
If any date on which any action is required to be taken under this Agreement is not a Business Day, such action shall be required to be taken on
the next succeeding Business Day.
ARTICLE 2
TRUST SHARES
2.1 ESTABLISHMENT OF TRUST
The purpose of this Agreement is to create the Trust for the benefit of the Shareholders, as herein provided. The Trustee will hold the Parent
Common Shares issued pursuant to the requirements of the Purchase Agreement, Exchangeable Share Provisions and Support Agreement both
to support the Parent's and the Purchaser's obligations thereunder in the event of default and to enable the Trustee to exercise the Voting Rights
and will hold the Insolvency Exchange Right and Automatic Exchange Rights to enable the Trustee to exercise such rights, in each case as
trustee for and on behalf of the Shareholders as provided in this Agreement.
2.2 ISSUE AND OWNERSHIP OF THE PARENT COMMON SHARES
Upon execution of this Agreement, the Parent shall issue to and deposit with the Trustee a number of Parent Common Shares equal to the
number of Exchangeable Shares issued to Shareholders under the Purchase Agreement, such shares to be
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hereafter held of record by the Trustee as trustee for and on behalf of, and for the use and benefit of, the Shareholders and in accordance with
the provisions of this Agreement. From time to time, the Parent shall issue to and deposit with the Trustee additional Parent Common Shares as
required under the Purchase Agreement, Exchangeable Share Provisions and Support Agreement, also to be held of record by the Trustee as
trustee for and on behalf of, and for the use and benefit of, the Shareholders and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. All
Parent Common Shares so issued and deposited by the Parent with the Trustee pursuant to this section 2.2 shall hereafter be referred to as the
"Trust Shares". The Parent hereby acknowledges receipt from the Trustee as trustee for and on behalf of the Shareholders of good and valuable
consideration (and the adequacy thereof) for the issuance of the Trust Shares by the Parent to the Trustee. During the term of the Trust and
subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Trustee shall possess and be vested with full legal ownership of the Trust Shares and,
subject to the terms hereof, shall be entitled to exercise all of the rights and powers of an owner with respect to the Trust Shares, provided that
the Trustee shall:
(a) hold the Trust Shares and the legal title thereto as trustee solely for the use and benefit of the Shareholders in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement; and
(b) except as specifically authorized by this Agreement, have no power or authority to sell, transfer, vote or otherwise deal in or with the Trust
Shares and the Trust Shares shall not be used or disposed of by the Trustee for any purpose other than the purposes for which this Trust is
created pursuant to this Agreement.
ARTICLE 3
VOTING
3.1 VOTING RIGHTS
The Trustee, as the holder of record of the Parent Common Shares, shall be entitled to all of the voting rights, including the right to vote in
person or by proxy the Parent Common Shares on any matters, questions, proposals or propositions whatsoever that may properly come before
the stockholders of the Parent at a Parent Meeting or in connection with a Parent Consent (in each case as hereinafter defined) (the "Voting
Rights"). The Voting Rights shall be and remain vested in and exercised by the Trustee. Subject to section 7.14:
(a) the Trustee shall exercise the Voting Rights only on the basis of instructions received pursuant to this Article 3 from Shareholders entitled
to instruct the Trustee as to the voting thereof at the time at which the Parent Meeting is held or a Parent Consent is sought; and
(b) to the extent that no instructions are received from a Shareholder with respect to the Voting Rights to which such Shareholder is entitled,
the Trustee shall not exercise or permit the exercise of such Voting Rights.
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3.2 NUMBER OF VOTES
With respect to all meetings of stockholders of the Parent at which holders of shares of Parent Common Shares are entitled to vote (a "Parent
Meeting") and with respect to all written consents sought by the Parent from its stockholders including the holders of shares of Parent Common
Shares (a "Parent Consent"), each Shareholder shall be entitled to instruct the Trustee to cast and exercise one of the votes comprised in the
Voting Rights for each Exchangeable Share owned of record by such Shareholder on the record date established by the Parent or by applicable
law for such Parent Meeting or Parent Consent, as the case may be (the "Shareholder Votes") in respect of each matter, question, proposal or
proposition to be voted on at such Parent Meeting or to be consented to in connection with such Parent Consent.
3.3 LEGENDED SHARES CERTIFICATES
The Purchaser will cause each certificate representing Exchangeable Shares to bear an appropriate legend notifying the Shareholders of their
right to instruct the Trustee with respect to the exercise of the Voting Rights in respect of the Exchangeable Shares of the Shareholders.
3.4 SAFEKEEPING OF CERTIFICATES
The certificate(s) representing the Trust Shares shall at all times be held in safe keeping by the Trustee or its agent.
3.5 MAILINGS TO SHAREHOLDERS OF EXCHANGEABLE SHARES
With respect to each Parent Meeting and Parent Consent, the Parent will mail or cause to be mailed (or otherwise communicate in the same
manner as the Parent utilizes in communications to holders of Parent Common Shares) to each of the Shareholders named in the List (as
defined below) on the same day as the initial mailing or notice (or other communication) with respect thereto is commenced by the Parent to its
stockholders: (a) a copy of such notice, together with any proxy or information statement and related materials to be provided to stockholders
of the Parent;
(b) a statement that such Shareholder is entitled to instruct the Trustee as to the exercise of the Shareholder Votes with respect to such Parent
Meeting or Parent Consent, as the case may be, or pursuant to section 3.9, to attend such Parent Meeting and to exercise personally the
Shareholder Votes thereat as the proxy of the Trustee;
(c) a statement as to the manner in which such instructions may be given to the Trustee, including an express indication that instructions may
be given to the Trustee to give:
(i) a proxy to such Shareholder or his designee to exercise personally the Shareholder Votes; or
(ii) a proxy to a designated agent or other representative of the management of the Parent to exercise such Shareholder Votes;
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(d) a statement that if no such instructions are received from the Shareholder, the Shareholder Votes to which such Shareholder is entitled will
not be exercised;
(e) a form of direction whereby the Shareholder may so direct and instruct the Trustee as contemplated herein; and;
(f) a statement of: (i) the time and date by which such instructions must be received by the Trustee in order to be binding upon it, which in the
case of a Parent Meeting shall not be earlier than the close of business on the second Business Day prior to such meeting; and (ii) the method
for revoking or amending such instructions.
For the purpose of determining Shareholder Votes to which a Shareholder is entitled in respect of any Parent Meeting or Parent Consent, the
number of Exchangeable Shares owned of record by the Shareholder shall be determined at the close of business on the record date established
by the Parent or by applicable law for purposes of determining stockholders entitled to vote at such Parent Meeting or to give written consent in
connection with such Parent Consent.
3.6 COPIES OF STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION
The Parent will deliver to the Shareholders copies of all proxy materials (including notices of Parent Meetings), information statements, reports
(including without limitation all interim and annual financial statements) and other written communications that are to be distributed from time
to time to holders of Parent Common Shares.
3.7 OTHER MATERIALS
Immediately after receipt by the Parent or any stockholder of the Parent of any material sent or given generally to the holders of Parent
Common Shares by or on behalf of a third party, including without limitation dissident proxy and information circulars (and related
information and material) and tender and exchange offer circulars (and related information and material), the Parent shall use its best efforts to
obtain and deliver copies thereof to each Shareholder as soon as possible thereafter.
3.8 LIST OF PERSONS ENTITLED TO VOTE
The Purchaser shall (a) prior to each annual, general and special Parent Meeting or the seeking of any Parent Consent and (b) forthwith upon
each request made at any time by the Trustee or the Parent in writing, prepare or cause to be prepared a list (a "List") of the names and
addresses of the Shareholders arranged in alphabetical order and showing the number of Exchangeable Shares held of record by each such
Shareholder, in each case at the close of business on the date specified by the Trustee or the Parent in such request or, in the case of a List
prepared in connection with a Parent Meeting or a Parent Consent, at the close of business on the record date established by the Parent or
pursuant to applicable law for determining the holders of Parent Common Shares entitled to receive notice of and/or to vote at such Parent
Meeting or to give consent in connection with such Parent Consent. Each such List shall be delivered to the Trustee or the Parent promptly
after receipt by the Purchaser of such request or the record date for such meeting or seeking of consent, as the case may be, and in any event
within sufficient time as to enable the Parent
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to perform its obligations under this Agreement. The Parent agrees to give the Purchaser written notice (with a copy to the Trustee) of the
calling of any Parent Meeting or the seeking of any Parent Consent, together with the record dates therefor, sufficiently prior to the date of the
calling of such meeting or seeking of such consent so as to enable the Purchaser to perform its obligations under this section 3.8.
3.9 ENTITLEMENT TO DIRECT VOTES
Any Shareholder named in a List prepared in connection with any Parent Meeting or Parent Consent will be entitled (a) to instruct the Trustee
in the manner described in section 3.5 with respect to the exercise of the Shareholder Votes to which such Shareholder is entitled or (b) to
attend such meeting and personally exercise thereat, as the proxy of the Trustee, the Shareholder Votes to which such Shareholder is entitled.
3.10

3.11

VOTING BY TRUSTEE, AND ATTENDANCE OF TRUSTEE REPRESENTATIVE AT MEETING
(a)

In connection with each Parent Meeting and Parent Consent, the
Trustee shall exercise,
either in person or by proxy, in
accordance with the instructions received from a Shareholder
pursuant to section 3.5, the Shareholder Votes as to which such
Shareholder is entitled to direct the vote (or any lesser number
thereof as may be set forth in the instructions); provided,
however, that such written instructions are received by the
Trustee from the Shareholder prior to the time and date fixed by
the Trustee for receipt of such instructions in the notice given
by the Parent to the Shareholder pursuant to section 3.5.

(b)

The Trustee shall cause a representative who is empowered by it to
sign and deliver, on behalf of the Trustee, proxies for Voting
Rights to attend each Parent Meeting. Upon submission by a
Shareholder (or its designee) of identification satisfactory to
the Trustee's representative, and at the Shareholder's request,
such representative shall sign and deliver to such Shareholder (or
its designee) a proxy to exercise personally the Shareholder Votes
as to which such Shareholder is otherwise entitled hereunder to
direct the vote, if such Shareholder either (i) has not previously
given the Trustee instructions pursuant to section 3.5 in respect
of such meeting or (ii) submits to such representative written
revocation of any such previous instructions. At such meeting, the
Shareholder exercising such Shareholder Votes shall have the same
rights as the Trustee to speak at the meeting in favour of any
matter, question, proposal or proposition, to vote by way of
ballot at the meeting in respect of any matter, question, proposal
or proposition, and to vote at such meeting by way of a show of
hands in respect of any matter, question or proposition.

DISTRIBUTION OF WRITTEN MATERIALS

Any written materials to be distributed by the Parent to the Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement shall be delivered or sent by mail (or
otherwise communicated in the same manner as the Parent utilizes in communications to
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holders of Parent Common Shares) to each Shareholder at its address as shown on the books of the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall provide or
cause to be provided to the Parent for this purpose, on a timely basis and without charge or other expense a current List of the Shareholders.
3.12 TERMINATION OF VOTING RIGHTS
All of the rights of a Shareholder with respect to the Shareholder Votes exercisable in respect of each Exchangeable Share held by such
Shareholder shall be deemed to be surrendered by the Shareholder to the Parent and such Shareholder Votes and the Voting Rights represented
thereby shall cease immediately upon the delivery by such holder to the Trustee of the certificates representing such Exchangeable Shares in
connection with the exercise by the Shareholder of the Insolvency Exchange Right or the occurrence of the automatic exchange of
Exchangeable Shares for Parent Common Shares, as specified in Article 4 (unless and until, in either case, the Trustee shall not have
transferred and delivered to the Shareholder the requisite Parent Common Shares required to be transferred and delivered by the Trustee to the
Shareholder), or upon the retraction or redemption of Exchangeable Shares pursuant to Article 6 or 7 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions, or
upon the effective date of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Purchaser pursuant to Article 5 of the Exchangeable Share
Provisions, or upon the purchase of Exchangeable Shares from the holder thereof by Parent pursuant to the exercise by Parent of the Retraction
Call Right, the Redemption Call Right or the Liquidation Call Right.
ARTICLE 4
EXCHANGE RIGHT AND AUTOMATIC EXCHANGE
4.1 GRANT AND OWNERSHIP OF THE EXCHANGE RIGHT
The Parent hereby grants to the Trustee as trustee for and on behalf of, and for the use and benefit of, the Shareholders the right (the
"Insolvency Exchange Right"), upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Insolvency Event, to require the Parent to purchase from
each or any Shareholder all or any part of the Exchangeable Shares held by the Shareholder and the Automatic Exchange Rights all in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The Parent hereby acknowledges receipt from the Trustee, as trustee for and on behalf of the
Shareholders, of good and valuable consideration (and the adequacy thereof) for the grant of the Insolvency Exchange Right, and the
Automatic Exchange Rights, by the Parent to the Trustee. During the term of the Trust and subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, the Trustee shall possess and be vested with full legal ownership of the Insolvency Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange
Rights and shall be entitled to exercise all of the rights and powers of an owner with respect to the Insolvency Exchange Right and the
Automatic Exchange Rights, provided that the Trustee shall:
(a) hold the Insolvency Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights and the legal title thereto as trustee solely for the use and benefit
of the Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; and
(b) except as specifically authorized by this Agreement, have no power or authority to exercise or otherwise deal in or with the Insolvency
Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights, and the Trustee shall not exercise any such rights for any purpose
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other than the purposes for which the Trust is created pursuant to this Agreement, and shall not assign or transfer such rights except to a
successor trustee hereunder.
The Insolvency Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights shall be and remain vested in and exercisable by the Trustee. Subject to
section 7.14, the Trustee shall exercise the Insolvency Exchange Right only on the basis of instructions received pursuant to this Article 4 from
Shareholders entitled to instruct the Trustee as to the exercise thereof. To the extent that no instructions are received from a Shareholder with
respect to the Insolvency Exchange Right, the Trustee shall not exercise or permit the exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right.
4.2 LEGENDED SHARE CERTIFICATES
The Purchaser will cause each certificate representing Exchangeable Shares to bear an appropriate legend notifying the Shareholders of:
(a) their right to instruct the Trustee with respect to the exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right in respect of the Exchangeable Shares held
by a Shareholder; and
(b) the Automatic Exchange Rights.
4.3 PURCHASE PRICE
The purchase price payable by the Parent for each Exchangeable Share to be purchased by the Parent under the Insolvency Exchange Right
shall be an amount per share equal to: (i) the Current Market Price of a Parent Common Share on the last Business Day prior to the day of
closing of the purchase and sale of such Exchangeable Share under the Insolvency Exchange Right plus; (ii) an additional amount equivalent to
the full amount of all dividends declared and unpaid on each such Exchangeable Share and all dividends declared on Parent Common Shares
which have not been declared on such Exchangeable Shares in accordance with Article 3 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions (provided that
if the record date for any such declared and unpaid dividends occurs on or after the day of closing of such purchase and sale the purchase price
shall not include such additional amount equivalent to such declared and unpaid dividends). In connection with each exercise of the Insolvency
Exchange Right, the Parent will provide to the Trustee, as trustee for and on behalf of the Shareholders, an Officer's Certificate setting forth the
calculation of the purchase price for each Exchangeable Share. The purchase price for each such Exchangeable Share so purchased may be
satisfied by (i) the Parent issuing and delivering to the Trustee for delivery by the Trustee to the Shareholders, one Parent Common and a
cheque for the balance, if any, of the purchase price without interest; or (ii) the Parent instructing and directing the Trustee to transfer and
deliver from the Trust Shares to the relevant Shareholder, one Parent Common Share and a cheque for the balance, if any, of the purchase price
without interest.
4.4 EXERCISE INSTRUCTIONS
Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, a Shareholder shall be entitled, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an
Insolvency Event, to instruct the Trustee to exercise the Insolvency Exchange Right with respect to all or any part of the Exchangeable Shares
registered in the name of such Shareholder on the books of the Purchaser. To cause the exercise of the
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Insolvency Exchange Right by the Trustee, the Shareholder shall deliver to the Trustee, in person or by certified or registered mail the
certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares which such Shareholder desires the Parent to purchase, duly endorsed in blank for transfer,
and accompanied by such other documents and instruments as may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the laws
applicable to the Purchaser and the articles and by-laws of the Purchaser and such additional documents and instruments as the Trustee may
reasonably require together with: (a) a duly completed form of notice of exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right, contained on the reverse of
or attached to the Exchangeable Share certificates, stating: (i) that the Shareholder thereby instructs the Trustee to exercise the Insolvency
Exchange Right so as to require the Parent to purchase from the Shareholder the number of Exchangeable Shares specified therein; (ii) that
such Shareholder has good title to and owns all such Exchangeable Shares to be acquired by Parent free and clear of all liens, claims and
encumbrances; (iii) the name in which the certificates representing Parent Common Shares to be issued or transferred in connection with the
exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right are to be issued; and (iv) the names and addresses of the persons to whom such new certificates
should be delivered, and (b) payment (or evidence satisfactory to the Trustee, the Purchaser and the Parent of payment) of the taxes (if any)
payable as contemplated by section 4.7 of this Agreement. If only a part of the Exchangeable Shares represented by any certificate or
certificates delivered to the Trustee are to be purchased by the Parent under the Insolvency Exchange Right, a new certificate for the balance of
such Exchangeable Shares shall be issued to the Shareholder at the expense of the Purchaser.
4.5 DELIVERY OF PARENT COMMON SHARES; EFFECT OF EXERCISE
Promptly, and as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of the certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares which the Shareholder
desires the Parent to purchase under the Insolvency Exchange Right, together with such documents and instruments of transfer and a duly
completed form of notice of exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right (and payment of taxes as contemplated by section 4.7 of this
Agreement, if any, or evidence thereof), duly endorsed for transfer to the Parent, Trustee shall notify Parent and Purchaser of its receipt of the
same, which notice to Parent and Purchaser shall constitute exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right by the Trustee on behalf of the holder of
such Exchangeable Shares, and the Parent shall immediately thereafter upon receipt of such notice deliver or cause to be delivered to the
Shareholder of such Exchangeable Shares (or to such other persons, if any, properly designated by such Shareholder), certificates representing
the number of Parent Common Shares deliverable in connection with the exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right, which shares shall be, or
shall have been, duly issued as fully paid and non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any lien, claim or encumbrance, and cheques for the
balance, if any, of the total purchase price therefor. The Parent may fulfill its obligation under the previous sentence by instructing the Trustee
to transfer and deliver to the Shareholder a number of Trust Shares equal to the number of Exchangeable Shares which the Shareholder desires
the Parent to purchase under the Insolvency Exchange Right. The Parent shall,
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immediately upon receipt of such certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares from the Shareholder, deliver the certificates to the
registered office of the Purchaser for cancellation. Immediately upon the giving of notice by the Trustee to the Parent and the Purchaser of the
exercise of the Insolvency Exchange Right, as provided in this section 4.5, the closing of the transaction of purchase and sale contemplated by
the Insolvency Exchange Right shall be deemed to have occurred, and the holder of such Exchangeable Shares shall be deemed to have
transferred to the Parent its right, title and interest in and to such Exchangeable Shares and the related interest in the Trust Estate and shall
cease to be a holder of such Exchangeable Shares and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of a Shareholder in respect thereof, other
than the right to receive the purchase price therefor, unless the requisite number of Parent Common Shares (together with a cheque for the
balance, if any, of the total purchase price therefor) is not issued and delivered by the Parent to the Trustee and delivered by the Trustee to such
Shareholder (or to such other persons, if any, properly designated by such Shareholder), or unless the Parent fails to deliver a written
instruction to the Trustee to transfer a requisite number of Trust Shares to such Shareholder (or to such other persons, if any, properly
designated by such Shareholder) or if the Parent delivered such written instruction to the Trustee, but the Trustee failed to transfer such
requisite number of Trust Shares to such Shareholder, (or to such other persons, if any, properly designated by such Shareholder) within five
(5) Business Days of the date of the giving of such notice by the Trustee, in which case the rights of the Shareholder shall remain unaffected
until such Parent Common Shares are so issued and delivered by the Parent, or transferred and delivered by the Trustee, as the case may be, and
any such cheque is so delivered and honoured. Concurrently with such Shareholder ceasing to be a Shareholder of Exchangeable Shares, the
Shareholder shall be considered and deemed for all purposes to be the holder of Parent Common Shares delivered to it pursuant to the
Insolvency Exchange Right.
4.6 EXERCISE OF INSOLVENCY EXCHANGE RIGHT SUBSEQUENT TO RETRACTION
In the event that a Shareholder has exercised its right under Article 6 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions to require the Purchaser to redeem
any or all of the Exchangeable Shares held by the Shareholder (the "Retracted Shares") and is notified by the Purchaser pursuant to section 6.6
of the Exchangeable Share Provisions that the Purchaser will not be permitted as a result of solvency requirements of applicable law to redeem
all such Retracted Shares, and provided that Parent shall not have exercised the Retraction Call Right with respect to the Retracted Shares and
that the Shareholder has not revoked the retraction request delivered by the Shareholder to the Purchaser pursuant to section 6.1 of the
Exchangeable Share Provisions, the retraction request will constitute and will be deemed to constitute notice from the Shareholder to the
Trustee instructing the Trustee to exercise the Insolvency Exchange Right with respect to those Retracted Shares which the Purchaser is unable
to redeem. In any such event, the Purchaser hereby agrees with the Trustee and in favour of the Shareholder promptly to forward or cause to be
forwarded to the Trustee all relevant materials delivered by the Shareholder to the Purchaser (including without limitation a copy of the
retraction request delivered pursuant to section 6.1 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions) in connection with such proposed redemption of the
Retracted Shares and the Trustee will thereupon exercise the Insolvency Exchange Right with respect to the Retracted Shares that the Purchaser
is not permitted to redeem and will require Parent to purchase such shares in accordance with the provisions of this Article 4.
4.7 STAMP OR OTHER TRANSFER TAXES
Upon any sale of Exchangeable Shares to the Parent pursuant to the Insolvency Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights, the share
certificate or certificates representing Parent Common Shares to be delivered in connection with the payment of the total purchase price
therefor shall be issued in the
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name of, or transferred to, the Shareholder of the Exchangeable Shares so sold without charge to the Shareholder of the Exchangeable Shares
so sold; provided, however that such Shareholder: (i) shall pay (and none of the Parent, the Purchaser nor the Trustee shall be required to pay)
any documentary, stamp, transfer or other similar taxes that may be payable in respect of any transfer involved in the issuance or delivery of
such shares to a person other than such Shareholder; or (ii) shall have established to the satisfaction of the Trustee, the Parent and the Purchaser
that such taxes, if any, have been paid.
4.8 NOTICE OF INSOLVENCY EVENT
Immediately upon the occurrence of an Insolvency Event or any event which with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both would be
an Insolvency Event, the Purchaser and the Parent shall give written notice thereof to the Trustee and the Shareholders, which notice shall
contain a brief statement of the right of the Shareholders with respect to the Insolvency Exchange Right.
4.9 QUALIFICATION OF PARENT COMMON SHARES
(a) The Parent represents and warrants that it has taken all actions and done all things as are necessary under any United States or Canadian
federal, provincial or state law or regulation or pursuant to the rules and regulations of any regulatory authority or the fulfilment of any other
legal requirement (collectively, the "Applicable Laws") as they exist on the date hereof and will in good faith expeditiously take all such
actions and do all such things as are necessary under Applicable Laws as they may exist in the future to cause the Parent Common Shares to be
issued and delivered, or transferred and delivered, as the case may be, pursuant to the Exchangeable Share Provisions, the Insolvency Exchange
Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights. If any Parent Common Shares (or other shares or securities into which Parent Common Shares may
be reclassified or changed as contemplated by section 2.7 of the Support Agreement) to be issued and delivered, or transferred and delivered, as
the case may be, hereunder require registration or qualification with or approval of or the filing of any document, including any prospectus or
similar document or the taking of any proceeding with or the obtaining of any order, ruling or consent from any governmental or regulatory
authority under any Applicable Laws or pursuant to the rules and regulations of any securities or other regulatory authority or the fulfillment of
any other United States or Canadian legal requirement before such shares (or such other shares or securities) may be issued by Parent and
delivered by Parent, or may be transferred and delivered by the Trustee at the direction of Parent, as the case may be, to the holder of
surrendered Exchangeable Shares, Parent will in good faith expeditiously take all such actions and do all such things as are necessary or
desirable to cause such Parent Common Shares (or such other shares or securities) to be and remain duly registered, qualified or approved
under Applicable Laws. Parent will in good faith expeditiously take all such actions and do all such things as are reasonably necessary or
desirable to cause all Parent Common Shares (or such other shares or securities) to be delivered hereunder to be listed, quoted or posted for
trading on all stock exchanges and quotation systems on which outstanding Parent Common Shares (or such other shares or securities) have
been listed by Parent and remain listed and are quoted or posted for trading at such time.
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(b) The Parent represents and warrants to the Shareholders that the Parent has delivered to IntelGenx's legal counsel copies of all
correspondence received by the Parent from the United States Securities and Exchange Commission from the date of incorporation of the
Parent to the date of this agreement. The Parent acknowledges that this representation and warranty is also made for the benefit of IntelGenx, as
a third party, that the shareholders shall hold in trust for IntelGenx the benefit of this representation and that IntelGenx shall have a direct cause
of action against the Parent in respect of a breach of this representation.
4.10 RESERVATION OF PARENT COMMON SHARES
The Parent hereby represents, warrants and covenants that it has irrevocably reserved for issuance and will at all times keep available, free from
pre-emptive and other rights, out of its authorized and unissued capital stock such number of Parent Common Shares: (a) as is equal to the sum
of: (i) the number of Exchangeable Shares issued and outstanding from time to time; and (ii) the number of Exchangeable Shares issuable upon
the exercise of all rights to acquire Exchangeable Shares outstanding from time to time; and (b) as are now and may hereafter be required to
enable and permit the Purchaser and the Parent to meet their respective obligations hereunder, under the Support Agreement, under the
Exchangeable Share Provisions and under any other security or commitment pursuant to which the Parent may now or hereafter be required to
issue Parent Common Shares. To the extent permitted under Article 5 hereof, the Trust Shares may be used to satisfy the Parent's obligations
under this section 4.10.
4.11

AUTOMATIC EXCHANGE ON LIQUIDATION OF THE PARENT
(a)

The Parent will give the Trustee and the Shareholders notice of
each of the following events (each a "Liquidation Event") at the
time set forth below:
(i)

in the event of any determination by the board of directors
of the Parent to institute voluntary liquidation, dissolution
or winding-up proceedings with respect to the Parent or to
effect any other distribution of assets of the Parent among
its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs,
at least sixty (60) days prior to the proposed effective date
of such liquidation,
dissolution,
winding-up or other
distribution; and

(ii) immediately, upon the earlier of: (i) receipt by the Parent
of notice of; and (ii) the Parent otherwise becoming aware of
any threatened or instituted claim, suit, petition or other
proceedings with respect to the involuntary liquidation,
dissolution or winding-up of the Parent or to effect any
other
distribution of assets of the Parent among its
shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs.
(b)

Such notice shall include a brief description of the automatic
exchange of Exchangeable Shares for Parent Common Shares provided
for in section 4.11(c).

(c)

In order that the Shareholders will be able to participate on a
pro rata basis with the holders of Parent Common Shares in the
distribution of assets of the Parent in connection with a
Liquidation Event, on the fifth Business Day prior to the
effective date of a Liquidation Event (the "Liquidation Event
Effective Date") all of the then outstanding Exchangeable Shares
shall be automatically exchanged for Parent Common Shares. To
effect such automatic exchange, the Parent shall purchase each
Exchangeable Share outstanding on the fifth Business Day prior to
the Liquidation Event Effective Date and held by Shareholders, and
each Shareholder shall sell the Exchangeable Shares held by it at
such time, for a purchase price per share equal to: (a) the
Current Market Price of one (1) Parent Common Share on the fifth
Business Day prior to the Liquidation Event Effective Date, which
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shall be satisfied in full by the Parent delivering or causing to be delivered to the Shareholder one Parent Common Share; plus (b) an additional
amount equivalent to the full amount of all dividends declared and unpaid on each such Exchangeable Share and all dividends declared on
Parent Common Shares which have not been declared on such Exchangeable Shares in accordance with Article 3 of the Exchangeable Share
Provisions (provided that if the record date for any such declared and unpaid dividends occurs on or after the day of closing of such purchase
and sale the purchase price shall not include such additional amount equivalent to such declared and unpaid dividends). In connection with such
automatic exchange, the Parent will provide to the Trustee and the Shareholders an Officer's Certificate setting forth the calculation of the
purchase price for each Exchangeable Share, together with a notice of the anticipated Liquidation Event Effective Date.
(d) On the fifth Business Day prior to the Liquidation Event Effective Date, the closing of the transaction of purchase and sale contemplated by
the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for Parent Common Shares shall be deemed to have occurred, and each Shareholder shall be
deemed to have transferred to the Parent all of the Shareholder's right, title and interest in and to its Exchangeable Shares and the related
interest in the Trust Estate and shall cease to be a Shareholder of such Exchangeable Shares and the Parent shall deliver or cause to be delivered
to the Shareholder Parent Common Shares deliverable upon the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for Parent Common Shares and
shall deliver to the Shareholder a cheque for the balance, if any, of the total purchase price for such Exchangeable Shares. Concurrently with
such Shareholder ceasing to be a Shareholder, the Shareholder shall be considered and deemed for all purposes to be the holder of Parent
Common Shares issued or transferred to it pursuant to the automatic exchange of Exchangeable Shares for Parent Common Shares and the
certificates held by the Shareholder previously representing the Exchangeable Shares exchanged by the Shareholder with the Parent pursuant to
such automatic exchange shall thereafter be deemed to represent Parent Common Shares issued, or caused to be transferred, by the Parent to the
Shareholder pursuant to such automatic exchange. Upon the request of a Shareholder and the surrender by the Shareholder of Exchangeable
Share certificates deemed to represent Parent Common Shares, duly endorsed in blank and accompanied by such instruments of transfer as the
Parent may reasonably require, the Parent shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Shareholder certificates representing Parent Common
Shares of which the Shareholder is the holder.
4.12 WITHHOLDING RIGHTS
The Parent and the Trustee shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any
Shareholder such amounts as the Parent or the Trustee is required or permitted to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such
payment under the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended (the "Code"), the Income Tax Act (Canada) or any provision of
state, local, provincial or foreign tax law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of
this Agreement as having been paid to the Shareholder of the
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shares in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made, provided that such withheld amounts are actually remitted to the
appropriate taxing authority. To the extent that the amount so required or permitted to be deducted or withheld from any payment to a
Shareholder exceeds the cash portion of the consideration otherwise payable to the Shareholder, the Parent or the Trustee is hereby authorized
to sell or otherwise dispose of at fair market value such portion of the consideration as is necessary to provide sufficient funds to the Parent or
the Trustee, as the case may be, in order to enable it to comply with such deduction or withholding requirement and shall account to the
relevant Shareholder for any balance of such sale proceeds.
ARTICLE 5
DIVIDENDS
5.1 The holders of Exchangeable Shares will be entitled to participate in all dividends declared by the Purchaser, in accordance with the
provisions of the Exchangeable Share Provisions and the Support Agreement.
5.2 The Trustee hereby expressly waives, for and on its own behalf and on behalf of all Shareholders, all rights to receive dividends of every
nature as may be payable to it as holder of the Trust Shares, and the parties acknowledge that the Parent need not include the Trust Shares in its
calculations for purposes of determining the payment of dividends, and need not pay or distribute any dividends (either in cash, shares or
otherwise) to the Trustee as holder of the Trust Shares, provided however that such waiver may be rescinded by the Trustee upon receipt of
notice from a Shareholder that the Purchaser has omitted to pay any dividends otherwise payable or that either the Parent or the Purchaser
contests the right of the holders of Exchangeable Shares to receive dividends, or the right to receive dividends on the Exchangeable Shares that
are otherwise in doubt whereupon the Parent will pay and the Trustee shall collect all dividends paid on the Trust Shares from time to time until
the Trustee receives an Officer's Certificate from the Purchaser certifying that the Purchaser is in compliance with its obligations to pay
dividends in accordance with the Exchangeable Share Provisions. Any dividends received by the Trustee on the Trust Shares shall be paid to
the Shareholders in the same manner as dividends would have been paid by the Purchaser to the holders of Exchangeable Shares.
5.3 For clarity, the Voting Rights and exchange rights granted by the Parent hereunder to the Trustee, as trustee for and on behalf of, and for
the use and benefit of, the Shareholders do not in any manner confer any additional rights to the Trustee or the Shareholders, including, but
subject to the provisions of the Support Agreement, any rights to receive or participate in dividends declared or paid by the Parent.
ARTICLE 6
SUPPORT PROVISIONS
6.1 USE OF TRUST SHARES IN CONNECTION WITH SUPPORT AGREEMENT
Pursuant to section 2.3 of the Support Agreement, the Trust Shares provide additional security for the Parent's and the Purchaser's obligations
under the Purchase Agreement, the Exchangeable Share Provisions and the Support Agreement.
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In the event that the Purchaser and the Parent both default on their obligations to acquire the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the
Exchangeable Share Provisions, the Support Agreement, or Article 4 of this Agreement, a Shareholder may provide written notice to the
Parent, the Purchaser and the Trustee of such default. If such default is not cured within ten (10) Business Days, the Shareholder may provide
written notice to the Trustee of such failure to cure. The Trustee shall then use the Trust Shares to satisfy the Parent's obligation to acquire the
Exchangeable Shares as if the Parent had instructed the Trustee to use the Trust Shares for such purpose pursuant to section 4.5 hereof. The
Exchangeable Shares acquired by the Trustee in such transaction shall be delivered to the Parent. In the event that the Trustee uses the Trust
Shares to so acquire Exchangeable Shares, and if the Parent is obligated to pay any declared but unpaid dividends (or dividends declared on
Parent Common Shares which have not been declared on such Exchangeable Shares in accordance with Article 3 of the Exchangeable Share
Provisions), the Parent shall remain obligated to pay such amount to the Shareholder.
6.2 APPLICATION OF TRUST SHARES
At such time as either the Purchaser or the Parent acquires Exchangeable Shares from a Shareholder, it shall provide the Trustee with an
Officer's Certificate specifying: (i) the former Shareholder; (ii) the number of Exchangeable Shares acquired; (iii) the form of the acquisition,
designated by the provision of the applicable agreement (Exchangeable Share Provisions, Support Agreement or this Agreement); and (iv) the
date of such acquisition. If such certification is made, the Trustee shall deliver to the Parent a number of Trust Shares equal to the number of
Exchangeable Shares so acquired by the Parent (or, if so requested by the Parent, deliver such Parent Common Shares to the former
Shareholder on behalf of the Parent).
ARTICLE 7
CONCERNING THE TRUSTEE
7.1 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE TRUSTEE
The rights, powers and authorities of the Trustee under this Agreement, in its capacity as trustee of the Trust, shall include:
(a) receipt and deposit of the Trust Shares from the Parent as trustee for and on behalf of the Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of
this Agreement;
(b) granting proxies and distributing materials to Shareholders as provided in this Agreement;
(c) voting the Shareholder Votes in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;
(d) receiving the grant of the Insolvency Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights from the Parent as Trustee for and on behalf of
the Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;
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(e) exercising the Insolvency Exchange Right and enforcing the benefit of the Automatic Exchange Rights, in each case in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement, and in connection therewith receiving from the Shareholders Exchangeable Shares and other requisite documents
and delivering to such Shareholders Parent Common Shares and cheques, if any, to which such Shareholders are entitled upon the exercise of
the Insolvency Exchange Right or pursuant to the Automatic Exchange Rights, as the case may be;
(f) holding title to the Trust Estate;
(g) investing any moneys forming, from time to time, a part of the Trust Estate as provided in this Agreement;
(h) taking action on its own initiative or at the direction of a Shareholder or Shareholders to enforce the obligations of the Parent and the
Purchaser under this Agreement; and
(i) taking such other actions and doing such other things as are specifically provided in this Agreement.
In the exercise of such rights, powers and authorities the Trustee shall have (and is granted) such incidental and additional rights, powers and
authority not in conflict with any of the provisions of this Agreement as the Trustee, acting in good faith and in the reasonable exercise of its
discretion, may deem necessary or appropriate to effect the purpose of the Trust. Any exercise of such discretionary rights, powers and
authorities by the Trustee shall be final, conclusive and binding upon all persons. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Trustee
shall have no obligation to exercise any discretion in the performance of its obligations hereunder and shall only be required to act upon the
express written instructions of the Parent, the Purchaser or the Shareholders. For greater certainty, the Trustee shall have only those duties as
are set out specifically in this Agreement.
The Trustee in exercising its rights, powers, duties and authorities hereunder shall act honestly and in good faith and with a view to the best
interests of the Shareholders and shall exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent trustee would exercise in comparable
circumstances. The Trustee shall not be required to take any notice of, or to do or to take any act, action or proceeding as a result of any default
or breach of any provision hereunder, unless and until notified in writing of such default or breach, which notice shall distinctly specify the
default or breach desired to be brought to the attention of the Trustee and, in the absence of such notice, the Trustee may for all purposes of this
Agreement conclusively assume that no default or breach has been made in the observance or performance of any of the representations,
warranties, covenants, agreements or conditions contained herein.
7.2 NO CONFLICT OF INTEREST
The Trustee represents to the Purchaser and the Parent that at the date of execution and delivery of this Agreement there exists no material
conflict of interest in the role of the Trustee as a fiduciary hereunder and the role of the Trustee in any other capacity. The Trustee shall, within
ninety (90) days after it becomes aware that such a material conflict of interest exists, either eliminate such material conflict of interest or
resign in the manner and with the effect specified in Article 9.
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7.3 DEALINGS WITH THIRD PARTIES
The Purchaser and the Parent irrevocably authorize the Trustee, from time to time, to: (a) consult, communicate and otherwise deal with any
respective registrars, transfer agents, payment agents or any other person or entity appointed from time to time by the Parent or the Purchaser in
connection with any matter relating to the Exchangeable Shares and Parent Common Shares; and
(b) requisition, from time to time: (i) from any such registrar, transfer agent, payment agent or other person or entity, appointed from time to
time by the Parent or the Purchaser, as applicable, any information readily available from the records maintained by it which the Trustee may
reasonably require for the discharge of its duties and responsibilities under this Agreement; and (ii) from the Parent or the transfer agent of
Parent Common Shares, and any subsequent transfer agent of such shares, the share certificates issuable upon the exercise from time to time of
the Insolvency Exchange Right and pursuant to the Automatic Exchange Rights in the manner specified in Article 4 hereof. The Purchaser and
the Parent irrevocably authorize their respective registrars, transfer agents and payment agents, or any other authorized agent appointed from
time to time by the Parent or the Purchaser to comply with all such requests.
7.4 BOOKS AND RECORDS
The Trustee shall keep available for inspection, during normal business hours, by the Parent and the Purchaser, at the Trustee's principal office
in Toronto, correct and complete books and records of account relating to the Trustee's actions under this Agreement, including without
limitation all information relating to mailings and instructions to and from Shareholders and all transactions pursuant to the Insolvency
Exchange Right and the Automatic Exchange Rights.
7.5 INCOME TAX RETURNS AND REPORTS
The Trustee will allocate and distribute all income and losses of the Trust to the Shareholders in each year such that the Trust is not in a
position to pay any tax. Shareholders will be individually and personally responsible for all income and losses incurred by the Trust. In this
regard, the Parent will retain tax counsel on behalf of the Trust, and agrees to prepare and distribute to each Shareholder all necessary tax forms
for them to complete their United States and Canadian tax returns. The Shareholders may obtain the advice and assistance of such experts as
they may consider necessary or advisable.
7.6 INDEMNIFICATION PRIOR TO CERTAIN ACTIONS BY TRUSTEE
The Trustee shall exercise any or all of the rights, duties, powers or authorities vested in it by this Agreement at the request, order or direction
of any Shareholder upon such Shareholder furnishing to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities
which may be
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incurred by the Trustee therein or thereby, provided that no Shareholder shall be obligated to furnish to the Trustee any such security or
indemnity in connection with the exercise by the Trustee of any of its rights, duties, powers and authorities with respect to the voting of the
Trust Shares pursuant to Article 3 and with respect to the Insolvency Exchange Right and Automatic Exchange Rights pursuant to Article 4.
The Trustee shall not be required to expend any of its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the exercise of any of its rights,
powers, duties or authorities, but instead shall be entitled to be fully funded, given security and indemnity in advance as aforesaid.
7.7 ACTIONS BY SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholders shall be entitled to take proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce any of their rights hereunder as against the
Purchaser and the Parent.
7.8 RELIANCE UPON DECLARATIONS
The Trustee shall not be considered to be in contravention of any of its rights, powers, duties and authorities hereunder if, when required, it acts
and relies in good faith upon statutory declarations, certificates, opinions, reports or other papers or documents furnished pursuant to the
provisions hereof or required by the Trustee to be furnished to it in the exercise of its rights, powers, duties and authorities hereunder if such
statutory declarations, certificates, opinions or reports comply with the provisions of section 7.9, if applicable, and with any other applicable
provisions of this Agreement.
7.9 EVIDENCE AND AUTHORITY TO TRUSTEE
The Purchaser and/or the Parent shall furnish to the Trustee evidence of compliance with the conditions provided for in this Agreement relating
to any action or step required or permitted to be taken by the Purchaser and/or the Parent or the Trustee under this Agreement or as a result of
any obligation imposed under this Agreement including, without limitation, in respect of the Voting Rights, Insolvency Exchange Right or the
Automatic Exchange Rights and the taking of any other action to be taken by the Trustee at the request of or on the application of the Purchaser
and/or the Parent forthwith if and when:
(a) such evidence is required by any other section of this Agreement to be furnished to the Trustee in accordance with the terms of this section
7.9; or
(b) the Trustee, in the exercise of its rights, powers, duties and authorities under this Agreement, gives the Purchaser and/or the Parent written
notice requiring it to furnish such evidence in relation to any particular action or obligation specified in such notice.
Such evidence shall consist of an Officer's Certificate of the Purchaser and/or the Parent, a statutory declaration or a certificate made by
persons entitled to sign an Officer's Certificate stating that any such condition has been complied with in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement.
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Whenever such evidence relates to a matter other than the Voting Rights, the Insolvency Exchange Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights or
the taking of any other action to be taken by the Trustee at the request or on the application of the Parent and/or the Purchaser, and except as
otherwise specifically provided herein, such evidence may consist of a report or opinion of any solicitor, auditor, accountant, appraiser, valuer,
engineer or other expert or any other person whose qualifications give authority to a statement made by him, provided that if such report or
opinion is furnished by a director, officer or employee of the Purchaser and/or the Parent shall be in the form of an Officer's Certificate or a
statutory declaration.
Each statutory declaration, Officer's Certificate, opinion, report or other paper or document furnished to the Trustee as evidence of compliance
with a condition provided for in this Agreement shall include a statement by the person giving the evidence:
(c) declaring that he has read and understands the provisions of this Agreement relating to the condition in question;
(d) describing the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which he based the statutory declaration, certificate, statement or
opinion; and
(e) declaring that he has made such examination or investigation as he believes is necessary to enable him to make the statements or give the
opinions contained or expressed therein.
7.10 EXPERTS, ADVISORS AND AGENTS
The Trustee may:
(a) in relation to these presents, act and rely on the opinion or advice of or information obtained from any solicitor, auditor, accountant,
appraiser, valuer, engineer or other expert, whether retained by the Trustee or by the Purchaser and/or the Parent or otherwise, and may employ
such assistants as may be necessary to the proper discharge of its powers and duties and determination of its rights hereunder and may pay
proper and reasonable compensation for all such legal and other advice or assistance as aforesaid without taxation for costs and fees; and
(b) employ such agents and other assistants as it may reasonably require for the proper discharge of its powers and duties hereunder, and may
pay reasonable remuneration for all services performed for it,
(and shall be entitled to receive reasonable remuneration for all services performed by it) in the discharge of the trusts hereof and compensation
for all disbursements, costs and expenses made or incurred by it in the discharge of its duties hereunder and in the management of the Trust
without taxation for costs and fees, which compensation reimbursement may be requested to be received in advance prior to undertaking any
actions hereunder.
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7.11 INVESTMENT OF MONEYS HELD BY THE TRUSTEE
Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, any moneys held by or on behalf of the Trustee which under the terms of this Agreement may or
ought to be invested or which may be on deposit with the Trustee or which may be in the hands of the Trustee may be invested and reinvested
in the name or under the control of the Trustee in securities in which, under the laws of the Province of Ontario, trustees are authorized to
invest trust moneys, provided that such securities are stated to mature within two (2) years after their purchase by the Trustee, and the Trustee
shall so invest such moneys on the written direction of the Purchaser. Pending the investment of any moneys as hereinbefore provided, such
moneys may be deposited in the name of the Trustee in any bank, loan or trust company authorized to accept deposits under the laws of the
United States, Canada or any state or province thereof, at the rate of interest then current on similar deposits.
7.12 TRUSTEE NOT REQUIRED TO GIVE SECURITY
The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or security in respect of the execution of the trusts, rights, duties, powers and authorities of
this Agreement or otherwise in respect of the premises.
7.13 TRUSTEE NOT BOUND TO ACT ON CORPORATION'S REQUEST
Except as in this Agreement or otherwise specifically provided, the Trustee shall not be bound to act in accordance with any direction or
request of the Purchaser and/or the Parent or the directors thereof until a duly authenticated copy of the instrument or resolution containing
such direction or request shall have been delivered to the Trustee and the Trustee shall be empowered to act and rely upon any such copy
purporting to be authenticated and believed by the Trustee to be genuine.
7.14 CONFLICTING CLAIMS
If conflicting claims or demands are made or asserted with respect to any interest of any Shareholder in any Exchangeable Shares, including
any disagreement between the heirs, representatives, successors or assigns succeeding to all or any part of the interest of any Shareholder in any
Exchangeable Shares resulting in conflicting claims or demands being made in connection with such interest, then the Trustee shall be entitled,
at its sole discretion, to refuse to recognize or to comply with any such claim or demand. In so refusing, the Trustee may elect not to exercise
any Voting Rights, Insolvency Exchange Right or Automatic Exchange Rights subject to such conflicting claims or demands and in so doing,
the Trustee shall not be or become liable to any person on account of such election or its failure or refusal to comply with any such conflicting
claims or demands. The Trustee shall be entitled to continue to refrain from acting and to refuse to act until:
(a) the rights of all adverse claimants with respect to the Voting Rights, Insolvency Exchange Right or Automatic Exchange Rights subject to
such conflicting claims or demands have been adjudicated by a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction; or
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(b) all differences with respect to the Voting Rights, Insolvency Exchange Right or Automatic Exchange Rights subject to such conflicting
claims or demands have been conclusively settled by a valid written agreement binding on all such adverse claimants, and the Trustee shall
have been furnished with an executed copy of such agreement.
If the Trustee elects to recognize any claim or comply with any demand made by any such adverse claimant, it may in its discretion require
such claimant to furnish such surety bond or other security satisfactory to the Trustee as it shall deem appropriate to fully indemnify it as
between all conflicting claims or demands.
7.15 ACCEPTANCE OF TRUST
The Trustee hereby accepts the Trust created and provided for by and in this Agreement and agrees to perform the same upon the terms and
conditions set forth herein and to hold all rights, privileges and benefits conferred hereby and by law in trust for the various persons who shall
from time to time be Shareholders, subject to all the terms and conditions set forth herein.
7.16 VALIDITY OF CERTIFICATES
If at any time in the performance of its duties under this Agreement, it shall be necessary for the Trustee to receive, accept, act or rely upon any
certificate, notice, request, waiver, consent, receipt, direction, affidavit or other paper, writing or document furnished to it and purporting to
have been executed or issued by the Purchaser, the Parent or the Shareholders or their authorized officers or attorneys, the Trustee shall be
entitled to rely and act upon the genuineness and authenticity of any such writing submitted to it. It shall not be necessary for the Trustee to
ascertain whether or not the persons who have executed, signed or otherwise issued, authenticated or receipted such papers, writings or
documents have authority to do so or that they are the same persons named therein or otherwise to pass upon any requirement of such papers,
writing or documents that may be essential for their validity or effectiveness or upon the truth and acceptability of any information contained
therein which the Trustee in good faith believes to be genuine.
ARTICLE 8
COMPENSATION
8.1 FEES AND EXPENSES OF THE TRUSTEE
The Parent and Purchaser jointly and severally agree to pay to the Trustee reasonable compensation for all of the services rendered by it under
this Agreement and will reimburse the Trustee for all reasonable expenses and disbursements, including, without limitation, legal fees and
expenses and the reasonable compensation and disbursements of all other advisors, agents and assistants not regularly in its employ and the
cost and expense of any suit or litigation of any character and any proceedings before any governmental agency reasonably incurred by the
Trustee in connection with its rights and duties under this Agreement; provided that the Parent and the Purchaser shall have no obligation to
reimburse the Trustee for any expenses or disbursements paid, incurred or suffered by the Trustee in any suit or litigation in which the Trustee
is determined to have acted fraudulently or in bad faith or with negligence or wilful misconduct. The Trustee shall be obliged to provide only
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one account or invoice to the Parent from time to time during this Agreement in connection with any services rendered by it under this
Agreement on behalf of any of the parties.
ARTICLE 9
INDEMNIFICATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
9.1 INDEMNIFICATION OF THE TRUSTEE
The Parent and Purchaser jointly and severally agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee and each of its directors, officers, partners,
employees and agents appointed and acting in accordance with this Agreement (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties") against all claims,
losses, damages, reasonable costs, penalties, fines and reasonable expenses (including reasonable expenses of the Trustee's legal counsel)
which, without fraud, negligence, recklessness, wilful misconduct or bad faith on the part of such Indemnified Party, may be paid, incurred or
suffered by the Indemnified Party by reason of or as a result of the Trustee's acceptance or administration of the Trust, its compliance with its
duties set forth in this Agreement, or any written or oral instructions delivered to the Trustee by the Parent or the Purchaser pursuant hereto.
Subject to (ii), below, the Parent and the Purchaser shall be entitled to participate at their own expense in the defence and, if the Parent and the
Purchaser so elect at any time after receipt of such notice, either of them may assume the defence of any suit brought to enforce any such claim.
In the event the Parent and/or the Purchaser assume the defence of the Trustee, no settlement of any claim shall be entered into without the
prior approval of the Trustee; and the Trustee shall have the right to re-assume the defence of any suit if the Parent or Purchaser fail to actively
continue such defence so assumed. The Trustee shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such suit and participate in the defence
thereof but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Trustee unless: (i) the employment of such counsel has been
authorized by the Parent or the Purchaser; or (ii) the named parties to any such suit include both the Trustee and the Parent or the Purchaser,
and the Trustee shall have been advised by counsel acceptable to the Parent or the Purchaser that there may be one or more legal defences
available to the Trustee which are different from or in addition to those available to the Parent or the Purchaser and that in the judgment of such
counsel, would present a conflict of interest were a joint representation to be undertaken (in which case the Purchaser and the Parent shall not
have the right to assume the defence of such suit on behalf of the Trustee but shall be liable to pay the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel
for the Trustee). Neither the Parent nor the Purchaser shall be liable for any settlement of a matter in respect of which an Indemnified Party
may seek indemnification under this section 9.1, unless the Parent and the Purchaser have consented in writing to such settlement.
9.2 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
The Trustee shall not be liable for any act or omission by it except where such act or omission occurs as a result of the Trustee's fraud,
negligence, recklessness, bad faith or wilful misconduct. The Trustee shall not be liable for any losses or damages due to the acts or omissions
of third parties, including without limitation, the failure by the Parent and/or the Purchaser to comply with its obligations under this Agreement,
as the case may be. The Trustee shall not be held liable for any loss which may occur by reason of depreciation of the value of any part of the
Trust Estate or any loss incurred on any investment of funds pursuant to this Agreement except to the extent that such loss is attributable to the
fraud, negligence, recklessness, wilful misconduct or bad faith on the part of the Trustee.
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ARTICLE 10
CHANGE OF TRUSTEE
10.1 RESIGNATION
The Trustee, or any trustee hereafter appointed, may at any time resign by giving written notice of such resignation to the Parent and the
Purchaser specifying the date on which it desires to resign, provided that such notice shall never be given less than thirty (30) days before such
desired resignation date unless the Trustee, the Parent and the Purchaser otherwise agree, and provided further that such resignation shall not
take effect until the date of the appointment of a successor trustee and the acceptance of such appointment by the successor trustee. Upon
receiving such notice of resignation, the Parent and the Purchaser shall promptly appoint a successor trustee by written instrument in duplicate,
one copy of which shall be delivered to the resigning trustee and one copy to the successor trustee. Failing the appointment by the Parent and
the Purchaser of a successor trustee as aforesaid and the acceptance of such appointment by a successor trustee, a successor trustee may be
appointed by order of a court of competent jurisdiction in the Province of Ontario upon application of one or more of the parties to this
Agreement.
10.2 REMOVAL
The Trustee, or any trustee hereafter appointed, may at any time on thirty (30) days' prior notice by written instrument executed by the Parent
and the Purchaser, in duplicate, one copy of which shall be delivered to the Trustee, be removed and one copy to the successor trustee. Any
successor trustee to be appointed upon the removal of the Trustee shall be appointed in accordance with the provisions as provided under
section 10.3 of this Agreement.
10.3 SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE
Any successor trustee appointed as provided under this Agreement shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Parent and the Purchaser and
to its predecessor trustee an instrument accepting such appointment. Thereupon the resignation or removal of the predecessor trustee shall
become effective and such successor trustee, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers,
duties and obligations of its predecessor under this Agreement with like effect as if originally named as trustee in this Agreement. However, on
the written request of the Parent and the Purchaser or of the successor trustee, the trustee ceasing to act shall, upon payment of any amounts
then due it pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor trustee all of the
rights and powers of the trustee so ceasing to act. Upon the request of any such successor trustee, the Parent and the Purchaser and such
predecessor trustee shall execute any and all instruments in writing for more fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor
trustee all such rights and powers.
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10.4 NOTICE OF SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE
Upon acceptance of appointment by a successor trustee as provided herein the Parent and the Purchaser shall cause to be mailed notice of the
succession of such trustee hereunder to each Shareholder at the address of such Shareholder shown on the register of Shareholders of
Exchangeable Shares. If the Parent or the Purchaser shall fail to cause such notice to be mailed within ten (10) days after acceptance of
appointment by the successor trustee, the successor trustee shall cause such notice to be mailed at the expense of the Parent and the Purchaser.
ARTICLE 11
THE PARENT SUCCESSORS
11.1 CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS IN RESPECT OF COMBINATION, ETC.
The Parent shall not enter into any transaction (whether by way of reconstruction, reorganization, consolidation, merger, transfer, sale, lease or
otherwise) whereby all or substantially all of its undertaking, property and assets would become the property of any other person or, in the case
of a merger, of the continuing corporation resulting therefrom unless:
(a) such other person or continuing corporation is a corporation (herein called the "Parent Successor") incorporated under the laws of any state
of the United States or the laws of Canada or any province thereof; and
(b) the Parent Successor, by operation of law, becomes, without more, bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement or, if not so bound,
executes, prior to or contemporaneously with the consummation of such transaction an agreement supplemental hereto and such other
instruments (if any) as are satisfactory to the Trustee, acting reasonably, and in the opinion of legal counsel to the Trustee are necessary or
advisable to evidence the assumption by the Parent Successor of liability for all moneys payable and property deliverable hereunder and the
covenant of such Parent Successor to pay and deliver or cause to be delivered the same and its agreement to observe and perform all of the
covenants and obligations of the Parent under this Agreement.
11.2 VESTING OF POWERS IN SUCCESSOR
Whenever the conditions of section 11.1 hereof have been duly observed and performed, the Trustee, if required by section 11.1 hereof, the
Parent Successor and the Purchaser shall execute and deliver the supplemental Agreement provided for in Article 12 and thereupon the Parent
Successor shall possess and from time to time and may exercise each and every right and power of the Parent under this Agreement in the name
of the Parent or otherwise and any act or proceeding by any provision of this Agreement required to be done or performed by the board of
directors of Parent or any officers of the Parent may be done and performed with like force and effect by the directors or officers of such the
Parent Successor.
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11.3 WHOLLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
Nothing herein shall be construed as preventing (i) the amalgamation or merger or sale of any wholly-owned direct or indirect subsidiary of the
Parent with or into the Parent, or (ii) the winding-up, liquidation or dissolution of any wholly-owned subsidiary of the Parent, provided that all
of the assets of such subsidiary are transferred to the Parent or another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Parent.
ARTICLE 12
AMENDMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENTS
12.1 AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, ETC.
This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an agreement in writing executed by the Purchaser, the Parent and the Trustee and
approved by the Shareholders in accordance with section 11.2 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions.
12.2 MEETING TO CONSIDER AMENDMENTS
The Purchaser, at the request of the Parent shall call a meeting or meetings of the Shareholders for the purpose of considering any proposed
amendment or modification requiring approval pursuant hereto. Any such meeting or meetings shall be called and held in accordance with the
by-laws of the Purchaser, the Exchangeable Share Provisions and all applicable laws.
12.3 CHANGES IN CAPITAL OF PARENT OR THE PURCHASER.
At all times after the occurrence of any event effected pursuant to section 2.7 or 2.8 of the Support Agreement, as a result of which either
Parent Common Shares or the Exchangeable Shares or both are in any way changed, this Agreement shall forthwith be amended and modified
as necessary in order that it shall apply with full force and effect, mutatis mutandis, to all new securities into which Parent Common Shares or
the Exchangeable Shares or both are so changed and the parties hereto shall execute and deliver a supplemental Agreement giving effect to and
evidencing such necessary amendments and modifications.
12.4 EXECUTION OF SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS
No amendment to or modification or waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement otherwise permitted hereunder shall be effective unless
made in writing and signed by all of the parties hereto. From time to time the parties may, subject to the provisions of these presents, and they
shall, when so directed by these presents, execute and deliver by their proper officers, trust agreements or other instruments supplemental
hereto, which thereafter shall form part hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes:
(a) evidencing the succession of Parent Successors to the Parent and the covenants of and obligations assumed by each such Parent Successor
in accordance with the provisions of Article 11 and the successor of any successor trustee in accordance with the provisions of Article 10;
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(b) making any additions to, deletions from or alterations of the provisions of this Agreement or the Voting Rights, the Insolvency Exchange
Right or the Automatic Exchange Rights which, in the opinion of the Trustee, will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole or are in the opinion of counsel to the Trustee necessary or advisable in order to incorporate, reflect or comply with any legislation the
provisions of which apply to the parties or this Agreement; and
(c) for any other purposes not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, including without limitation to make or evidence any
amendment or modification to this Agreement as contemplated hereby, provided that, in the opinion of the Trustee, the rights of the Trustee
and the Shareholders as a whole will not be prejudiced thereby.
ARTICLE 13
TERMINATION
13.1 TERM
The Trust created by this Agreement shall continue until the earliest to occur of the following events:
(a) no outstanding Exchangeable Shares are held by any Shareholder;
(b) each of the Purchaser and the Parent elects in writing to terminate the Trust and such termination is approved by the then holders of the
Exchangeable Shares in accordance with section 11.2 of the Exchangeable Share Provisions; and
(c) 21 years after the death of the last survivor of the issue of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II of Canada living on the date of the creation of the
Trust.
13.2 SURVIVAL OF AGREEMENT
This Agreement shall survive any termination of the Trust and shall continue until there are no Exchangeable Shares outstanding held by any
Shareholder; provided however that the provisions of Article 9 and Article 10 shall survive any such termination of the Trust or this
Agreement.
ARTICLE 14
GENERAL
14.1 SEVERABILITY
If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of the remainder of this
Agreement shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and the agreement shall be carried out as nearly as possible in accordance with
its original terms and conditions.
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14.2 INUREMENT
This Agreement shall be binding upon and endure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns and
to the benefit of the Shareholders.
14.3 NOTICES TO PARTIES
All notices and other communications between the parties hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given if delivered
personally or by confirmed facsimile to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for such party as shall be specified in
like notice):
(a) if to the Parent or the Purchaser:
Big Flash Corp.
56 West 400 South, Suite 220
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
Attention: o
Fax: (801) 595-0967
(b) if to the Trustee at:
Equity Transfer Services Inc. 120 Adelaide Street West, Suite 420 Toronto, Ontario M5H 4C3
Attention: President
Fax: (416) 361-0470
Any notice or other communication given personally shall be deemed to have been given and received upon delivery thereof and if given by
telecopy shall be deemed to have been given and received on the date of receipt thereof unless such day is not a Business Day in which case it
shall be deemed to have been given and received upon the immediately following Business Day.
14.4 NOTICE OF SHAREHOLDERS
Any and all notices to be given and any documents to be sent to any Shareholders may be given or sent to the address of such Shareholder
shown on the register of Shareholders in any manner permitted by the by-laws of the Purchaser from time to time in force in respect of notices
to shareholders and shall be deemed to be received (if given or sent in such manner) at the time specified in such by-laws, the provisions of
which by-laws shall apply mutatis mutandis to notices or documents as aforesaid sent to such Shareholders.
14.5 RISK OF PAYMENTS BY MAIL
Whenever payments are to be made or documents are to be sent to any Shareholder by the Trustee, the Parent or by the Purchaser, or by such
Shareholder to the Trustee or to the Parent or the Purchaser, the making of such payment or sending
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of such document through the mail shall be at the risk of the Purchaser and the Parent, in the case of payments made or documents sent by the
Trustee, the Parent or the Purchaser, and the Shareholder, in the case of payments made or documents sent by the Shareholder.
14.6 COUNTERPARTS
This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute
one and the same instrument.
14.7 JURISDICTION
This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable
therein.
14.8 ATTORNMENT
The Parent and the Purchaser each agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement may be instituted in the
courts of the Province of Ontario, each waives any objection which it may have now or hereafter to the venue of any such action or proceeding,
irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the said courts in any such action or proceeding, agrees to be bound by any judgment of
the said courts and not to seek, and hereby waives, any review of the merits of any such judgment by the courts of any other jurisdiction.
14.9 INDEPENDENT LEGAL ADVICE
All other parties have been advised to seek independent advice with respect to this Agreement and the tax or other consequences arising from
it.
14.10 LANGUAGE
The parties acknowledge that they have required that this Agreement and all notices related hereto are and shall be drawn up in the English
language. Les parties reconnaissent avoir exige que la convention ainsi que tous les documents y afferents soient et devront etre rediges en
langue anglaise.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
BIG FLASH CORP.
Per:
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6544631 CANADA INC.
Per:
o
EQUITY TRANSFER SERVICES INC.
Per:
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CORPORATION:
-----------------------------Witness

---------------------------------Horst Zerbe

----------------------------Witness

----------------------------------Ingrid Zerbe

----------------------------Witness

----------------------------------Joel Cohen
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APPENDIX A
LIST OF EXCHANGEABLE SHARE HOLDERS
SHAREHOLDER NAME
----------------

NUMBER OF INTEGENX SHARES HELD
------------------------------

NUMBER OF EXCHANGEABLE SHARES
-----------------------------

Horst Zerbe

4,709,643.5

4,709,643.5

Ingrid Zerbe

4,709,643.5

4,709,643.5

Joel Cohen

1,571,713

1,571,713

TOTAL:

10,991,000

10,991,000

-32-

SUPPORT AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is made effective the 28th day of April, 2006,
BETWEEN:
BIG FLASH CORP.,
a corporation incorporated under the laws of Delaware and having its corporate office at 56 West 400 South, Ste 220, Salt Lake City, UT,
84101

("Big Flash")
- and 6544631 CANADA INC.,
a corporation incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act and having its principal office at 95 Wellington Street West, Suite
1704, P.O. Box 20, Toronto, Ontario M5J 2N7

("Exchangeco")
- and EQUITY TRANSFER SERVICES INC.,
a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario and having its offices at 120 Adelaide Street West, Suite 420, Toronto,
Ontario M5H 4C3

(the "Trustee")
WHEREAS pursuant to a share exchange agreement dated as of March <>, 2006 (the "Share Exchange Agreement"), Exchangeco has agreed
to acquire all of the Common Shares (the "Common Shares") of IntelGenx Corp. (the "Company") held by Horst Zerbe, Ingrid Zerbe and Joel
Cohen (collectively, the "Vendors") in exchange for the issuance to the Vendors of Class A Special Shares in the capital of Exchangeco (the
"Exchangeable Shares");
AND WHEREAS in accordance with the Share Exchange Agreement, Big Flash and Exchangeco have agreed to enter into this support
agreement (the "Agreement");
AND WHEREAS in accordance with the Share Exchange Agreement, Big Flash and Exchangeco have agreed to enter into an exchange and
voting trust agreement (the "Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement") with the Trustee;
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the respective covenants and agreements provided in this Agreement and for other good and valuable

consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged), the Parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:
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ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1.1 Defined Terms
Each term denoted herein by initial capital letters and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the share
provisions of the Exchangeable Shares (the "Share Provisions"), a copy of which are attached hereto as Schedule "A".
1.2 Interpretation Not Affected by Headings
The division of this Agreement into Articles, sections and other portions and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only
and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to an "Article" or "section"
followed by a number and/or a letter refer to the specified Article or section of this Agreement. The terms "this Agreement", "hereof", "herein"
and "hereunder" and similar expressions refer to this agreement and not to any particular Article, section or other portion hereof and include
any agreement or instrument supplementary or ancillary hereto.
1.3 Number, Gender
Words in the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa. Words in one gender shall include all genders.
1.4 Date for any Action
If any date on which any action is required to be taken under this Agreement is not a Business Day, such action shall be required to be taken on
the next succeeding Business Day.
ARTICLE 2 - COVENANTS OF BIG FLASH AND EXCHANGECO
2.1 Covenants Regarding Exchangeable Shares
So long as any Exchangeable Shares not owned by Big Flash or its Affiliates are outstanding, Big Flash shall:
(a) not declare or pay any dividend on Big Flash Common Shares unless
(i) Exchangeco shall simultaneously declare or pay, as the case may be, an equivalent dividend (as provided for in the Share Provisions) on the
Exchangeable Shares, and (ii) Exchangeco shall have sufficient money or other assets or authorized but unissued securities available to enable
the due declaration and the due and punctual payment, in accordance with the applicable law, of any such dividend on the Echangeable Shares:
(b) advise Exchangeco sufficiently in advance of the declaration by Big Flash of any dividend on Big Flash Common Shares and take all such
other actions, including payment or transfer of monies, as are necessary, in co-operation with Exchangeco, to ensure that the respective
declaration date, record date and payment date for a dividend on the Exchangeable Shares shall be the same as the declaration date, record date
and payment date for the corresponding dividend on Big Flash Common Shares;
(c) ensure that the record date for any dividend declared on Big Flash Common Shares is not less than ten (10) Business Days after the
declaration date of such dividend;
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(d) take all such actions, including payment or transfer of monies, and do all such things as are reasonably necessary or desirable to enable and
permit Exchangeco, in accordance with applicable law, to pay and otherwise perform its obligations with respect to the satisfaction of the
Liquidation Amount, the Retraction Price or the Redemption Price in respect of each issued and outstanding Exchangeable Share upon a
Liquidation Distribution, the delivery of a Retraction Request by a holder of Exchangeable Shares or a redemption of Exchangeable Shares by
Exchangeco, as the case may be, including, without limitation, all such actions and all such things as are necessary or desirable to enable and
permit Exchangeco to instruct the Trustee to cause the Big Flash Common Shares to be delivered directly to the holders of Exchangeable
Shares by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of Section 5, 6 or 7, as the case may be, of the Share Provisions;
(e) take all such actions and do all such things as are necessary or desirable to enable and permit it, in accordance with applicable law, to
perform its obligations arising upon the exercise by it of the Liquidation Call Right, the Retraction Call Right or the Redemption Call Right
including, without limitation, all such actions and all such things as are necessary or desirable to enable, permit and instruct Exchangeco to
cause the Big Flash Common Shares to be delivered to the holders of Exchangeable Shares in accordance with the provisions of Section 8 of
the Share Provisions; and
(f) not exercise its vote as a direct or indirect shareholder to initiate the voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Exchangeco nor take
any action or omit to take any action that is designed to result in the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Exchangeco.
2.2 Segregation of Funds
Big Flash will cause Exchangeco (and shall fund Exchangeco to the extent necessary) to deposit a sufficient amount of funds in a separate
account of Exchangeco and segregate a sufficient amount of such other assets and property as is necessary to enable Exchangeco to pay
dividends when due and to pay or otherwise satisfy its respective obligations under Sections 5, 6 or 7 of the Share Provisions, as applicable,
and Exchangeco will use such funds or other assets exclusively to pay such dividends or satisfy its obligations under Sections 3, 5, 6 or 7 of the
Share Provisions.
2.3 Issuance and Custody of Big Flash Common Shares
Big Flash hereby represents, warrants and covenants in favour of Exchangeco that pursuant to the terms of the Exchange and Voting Trust
Agreement, dated as of even date herewith, by and among Big Flash, Exchangeco, the Vendors and the Trustee that Big Flash has issued an
aggregate of 10,991,000 shares of Big Flash Common Shares (the "Trust Shares") to be held in trust by the Trustee for the benefit of the
Vendors, the Trust Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued as fully paid and non-assessable shares and are free and clear of any
lien, claim or encumbrance, and Big Flash undertakes that it shall furthermore, at all times while any Exchangeable Shares are outstanding,
issue to the Trustee such number of additional Big Flash Common Shares out of its authorized and unissued capital stock as necessary so that
the Trustee at all times holds such number of Big Flash Common Shares (1) as is equal to the sum of (i) the number of Exchangeable Shares
issued and outstanding from time to time (including any Exchangeable Shares issued pursuant to section 3.1(b) of the Share Provisions), and
(ii) the number of Exchangeable Shares issuable upon the exercise of all rights to acquire Exchangeable Shares outstanding from time to time
(if any) and
(2) as are now and may hereafter be required to enable and permit Big Flash to meet its obligations hereunder, under the Liquidation Call
Right, the Retraction
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Call Right and the Redemption Call Right, and under any other security or commitment pursuant to which Big Flash may now or hereafter be
required to issue Big Flash Common Shares, to enable and permit Big Flash and Exchangeco to meet their respective obligations hereunder and
under the Share Provisions.
2.4 Notification of Certain Events
In order to assist and permit Big Flash to exercise the Liquidation Call Right, Retraction Call Right and Redemption Call Right, Exchangeco
will notify Big Flash of each of the following events at the time set forth below:
(a) in the event of any determination by the Board of Directors of Exchangeco to institute voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up
proceedings with respect to Exchangeco or to effect any other distribution of the assets of Exchangeco among its shareholders for the purpose
of winding up its affairs, at least sixty (60) days prior to the proposed effective date of such liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or other
distribution;
(b) promptly, upon the earlier of receipt by Exchangeco of notice of and Exchangeco otherwise becoming aware of any threatened or instituted
claim, suit, petition or other proceedings with respect to the involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Exchangeco or to effect any
other distribution of the assets of Exchangeco among its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs;
(c) immediately, upon receipt by Exchangeco of a Retraction Request;
(d) on the same date on which notice of redemption is given to holders of Exchangeable Shares, upon the determination of a Redemption Date
in accordance with the Share Provisions; and
(e) as soon as practicable upon the issuance by Exchangeco of any Exchangeable Shares or rights to acquire Exchangeable Shares.
2.5 Delivery of Big Flash Common Shares
Upon any event that requires Exchangeco to deliver Big Flash Common Shares to any holder of Exchangeable Shares, and subject to Big
Flash's exercise of the Liquidation Call Right, the Retraction Call Right or the Redemption Call Right, Exchangeco shall forthwith cause to be
delivered the requisite number of Big Flash Common Shares to be received by, and transferred to or to the order of, the former holder of the
surrendered Exchangeable Shares, as the respective Vendors shall direct. All such Big Flash Common Shares shall have been duly authorized
and validly issued as fully paid and non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any lien, claim or encumbrance except with respect to
restrictions and legends required for purposes of compliance with U.S. federal securities laws.
2.6 Qualification of Big Flash Common Shares
If any Big Flash Common Shares (or other shares or securites into which Big Flash Common Shares may be reclassified or changed as
contemplated by section 2.7 hereof) to be issued or transferred and delivered hereunder require registration or qualification with or approval of
or the filing of any document, including any prospectus or similar document or the taking of any proceeding with or the obtaining of any order,
ruling or consent from any governmental or regulatory authority under any Canadian or United States federal, provincial or state securities or
other law or regulation or pursuant to the rules and regulations of any securities or other regulatory authority or the fulfillment
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of any other United States or Canadian legal requirement before such shares (or such other shares or securities) may be issued by Big Flash or
delivered by the Trustee at the direction of Big Flash or Exchangeco, or may be transferred and delivered by the Trustee at the direction of Big
Flash or Exchangeco, as the case may be, if applicable, to the holder of surrendered Exchangeable Shares, Big Flash will in good faith
expeditiously take all such actions and do all such things as are necessary or desirable to cause such Big Flash Common Shares (or such other
shares or securities) to be and remain duly registered, qualified or approved under United States and/or Canadian law, as the case may be. Big
Flash will in good faith expeditiously take all such actions and do all such things as are reasonably necessary or desirable to cause all Big Flash
Common Shares (or such other shares or securities) to be delivered hereunder to be listed, quoted or posted for trading on all stock exchanges
and quotation systems on which outstanding Big Flash Common Shares (or such other shares or securities) have been listed by Big Flash and
remain listed and are quoted or posted for trading at such time. For clarity, this Section 2.6 shall not operate to require Big Flash or Exchangeco
to prepare and file any prospectus or similar document or take any proceeding or obtain any order, ruling or consent from any governmental or
regulatory authority in order to permit the subsequent resale of the Exchangeable Shares or the Trust Shares.
2.7 Economic Equivalence
(a) Big Flash will not without the prior approval of Exchangeco and the prior approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given in
accordance with Section 11 of the Share Provisions:
(i) issue or distribute Big Flash Common Shares (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire Big Flash
Common Shares) to the holders of all or substantially all of the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares by way of stock dividend or other
distribution, other than an issue of Big Flash Common Shares (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire
Big Flash Common Shares) to holders of Big Flash Common Shares who exercise an option to receive dividends in Big Flash Common Shares
(or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire Big Flash Common Shares) in lieu of receiving cash dividends;
or
(ii) issue or distribute rights, options or warrants to the holders of all or substantially all of the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares
entitling them to subscribe for or to purchase Big Flash Common Shares (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to
acquire Big Flash Common Shares); or
(iii) issue or distribute to the holders of all or substantially all of the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares (A) shares or securities of Big
Flash of any class other than Big Flash Common Shares (other than shares convertible into or exchangeable for or carrying rights to acquire
Big Flash Common Shares), (B) rights, options or warrants other than those referred to in section 2.7(a)(ii) above, (C) evidences of
indebtedness of Big Flash, or (D) assets of Big Flash;
unless (a) Big Flash is permitted under applicable law to undertake an action described in items (i), (ii) or (iii) above; and (b) the same or an
economic equivalent change on a per share basis shall simultaneously be made to or in the rights of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares;
provided that, for greater certainty, the above restrictions shall not apply to any securities issued or distributed by Big Flash in order to give
effect to and to consummate the transactions contemplated by, and in accordance with, the Share Exchange Agreement, or as otherwise
permitted by the parties to the Share Exchange Agreement.
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(b) Big Flash will not without the prior approval of Exchangeco and the prior approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given in
accordance with Section 11 of the Share Provisions:
(i) subdivide, redivide or change the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares into a greater number of Big Flash Common Shares;
(ii) reduce, combine, consolidate or change the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares into a lesser number of Big Flash Common Shares;
or
(iii) reclassify or otherwise change Big Flash Common Shares or effect an amalgamation, merger, reorganization or other transaction affecting
Big Flash Common Shares,
unless (a) Big Flash is permitted under applicable law to undertake an action described in items (i), (ii) or (iii) above; and (b) the same or an
economically equivalent change shall simultaneously be made to, or in the rights of the holders of, the Exchangeable Shares.
(c) Big Flash will ensure that the record date for any event referred to in section 2.7(a) or 2.7 (b) above, (or, if no record date is applicable for
such event), the effective date for any such event, is not less than ten (10) Business Days after the date on which such event is declared or
announced by Big Flash (with contemporaneous notification thereof by Big Flash to Exchangeco).
(d) The Board of Directors of Exchangeco shall determine, in good faith and in its sole discretion acting reasonably (with the assistance of such
reputable and qualified independent financial advisors and/or other experts as the Board of Directors may determine necessary or desirable),
economic equivalence for the purposes of any event referred to in section 2.7(a) or 2.7(b) above and each such determination shall be
conclusive and binding on Big Flash. In making each such determination, the following factors shall, without excluding other factors
determined by the Board of Directors to be relevant, be considered by the Board of Directors:
(i) in the case of any stock dividend or other distribution payable in Big Flash Common Shares, the number of such shares issued in proportion
to the number of Big Flash Common Shares previously outstanding;
(ii) in the case of the issuance or distribution of any rights, options or warrants to subscribe for or purchase Big Flash Common Shares (or
securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire Big Flash Common Shares), the relationship between the exercise
price of each such right, option or warrant and the Current Market Price;
(iii) in the case of the issuance or distribution of any other form of property (including, without limitation, any shares or securities of Big Flash
of any class other than Big Flash Common Shares), any rights, options or warrants other than those referred to in section 2.7(d)(ii) above, any
evidences of indebtedness of Big Flash or any assets of Big Flash, the relationship between the fair market value (as determined by
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the Board of Directors in good faith acting reasonably) of such property to be issued or distributed with respect to each outstanding Big Flash
Common Share and the Current Market Price;
(iv) in the case of any subdivision, redivision or change of the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares into a greater number of Big Flash
Common Shares or the reduction, combination, consolidation or change of the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares into a lesser number
of Big Flash Common Shares or any amalgamation, merger, reorganization or other transaction affecting Big Flash Common Shares, the effect
thereof upon the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares; and
(v) in all such cases, the general taxation consequences of the relevant event to holders of Exchangeable Shares to the extent that such
consequences may differ from the taxation consequences to holders of Big Flash Common Shares as a result of differences between taxation
laws of Canada and the United States (except for any differing consequences arising as a result of differing marginal taxation rates and without
regard to the individual circumstances of holders of Exchangeable Shares).
(e) Exchangeco agrees that, to the extent required, upon due notice from Big Flash, Exchangeco will use its best efforts to take or cause to be
taken such steps as may be necessary for the purposes of ensuring that appropriate dividends are paid or other distributions are made by
Exchangeco, or subdivisions, redivisions or changes are made to the Exchangeable Shares, in order to implement the required economic
equivalent with respect to Big Flash Common Shares and the Exchangeable Shares as provided for in this section 2.7.
2.8 Tender Offers
In the event that a tender offer, share exchange offer, issuer bid, take-over bid or similar transaction with respect to Big Flash Common Shares
(an "Offer") is proposed by Big Flash or is proposed to Big Flash or its shareholders and is recommended by the Board of Directors of Big
Flash, or is otherwise effected or to be effected with the consent or approval of the Board of Directors of Big Flash, and the Exchangeable
Shares are not redeemed by Exchangeco or purchased by Big Flash as contemplated by and in compliance with the Share Provisions, then Big
Flash will use its reasonable efforts expeditiously and in good faith to take all such actions and do all such things as are necessary or desirable
to enable and permit holders of the Exchangeable Shares to participate in such Offer to the same extent and on an economically equivalent
basis as the holders of Big Flash Common Shares, without discrimination. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Big Flash will use
its reasonable efforts expeditiously and in good faith (in the case of a transaction by Big Flash or where Big Flash is a participant in the
negotiation thereof) to ensure that holders of the Exchangeable Shares may participate in all such Offers without being required to retract the
Exchangeable Shares as against Exchangeco (or, if so required, to ensure that any such retraction, shall be effective only upon, and shall be
conditional upon, the closing of the Offer and only to the extent necessary to tender or deposit to the Offer). Nothing herein shall affect the
rights of Exchangeco under the Share Provisions to redeem (or Big Flash to purchase pursuant to the Redemption Call Right) the Exchangeable
Shares, in the event of a Big Flash Control Transaction.
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2.9 Ownership of Voting Outstanding Shares of Exchangeco
Unless otherwise agreed to by Exchangeco and unless the holders of the Exchangeable Shares have given their consent in accordance with
Section 11 of the Share Provisions, Big Flash covenants and agrees in favour of Exchangeco that, as long as any of the Exchangeable Shares
outstanding are owned by any person or entity other than Big Flash or any of its Affiliates, Big Flash will be and shall remain the direct or
indirect beneficial owner of all issued and outstanding voting shares in the capital of Exchangeco.
2.10 Big Flash and Affiliates Not to Vote Exchangeable Shares
Big Flash covenants and agrees that it will appoint and cause to be appointed proxy holders with respect to all of the Exchangeable Shares held
by it and its Affiliates for the sole purpose of attending each meeting of holders of the Exchangeable Shares in order to be counted as part of the
quorum for each such meeting. Big Flash further covenants and agrees that it will not, and will cause its Affiliates not to, exercise any voting
rights which may be exercisable by holders of the Exchangeable Shares from time to time pursuant to the Share Provisions or pursuant to the
provisions of the Act (or any successor or other statute by which Exchangeco may in the future be governed) with respect to any of the
Exchangeable Shares held by it or by its Affiliates in respect of any matter considered at any meeting of the holders of the Exchangeable
Shares.
2.11 Rule 10b-18 Purchases
For certainty, nothing contained in this Agreement, including without limitation the obligations of Big Flash contained in section 2.8 hereof,
shall limit the ability of Big Flash or Exchangeco to make a "Rule 10b-18 Purchase" of Common Shares pursuant to Rule 10b-18 of the U.S.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor provisions thereof.
2.12

Special Big Flash Representations and Covenants
----------------------------------------------(a)

Each of Big Flash and Exchangeco, jointly and severally, represent
to the other such party and all other third party beneficiaries of
this Agreement, that (i) the authorized capital of Exchangeco as
of the date hereof is as set forth on Annex A attached hereto and
no change has been made or occurred with respect to such
authorized capital prior to closing of this Agreement; (ii)
immediately
prior to issuance of the Exchangeable
Shares,
Exchangeco has no issued or outstanding capital stock other than
the Class A Shares, all of which are owned by Big Flash; (iii)
there are no Claims pending or threatened against Big Flash or
Exchangeco in regard to any prior transaction or any other
matters; and (iv) there are no continuing, residual or future
obligations required to be maintained or performed by Exchangeco
with respect to any prior shareholders of Exchangeco or any prior
transaction other than in regard to Big Flash in its capacity as
the sole holder of all Class A Shares of Exchangeco.

(b)

Big Flash undertakes, covenants and agrees that unless and until
the first business day immediately following exchange of all of
the Exchangeable Shares: (i) Big Flash shall be and remain the
sole holder of record and beneficial owner of the Class A Shares
of Exchangeco; and (ii) Big Flash shall be and remain in sole
control of Exchangeco.

(c)

Each of Big Flash and Exchangeco
covenant and agree that
Exchangeco will not be used for any future transaction, or carry
on any business, unless and until all Exchangeable Shares have
been
exchanged
and/or the rights of the
holders of the
Exchangeable Shares have otherwise terminated in accordance with
the Share Provisions.
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ARTICLE 3 - BIG FLASH SUCCESSORS
3.1 Certain Requirements in Respect of Combination, etc.
Except as contemplated in the Share Exchange Agreement, Big Flash shall not consummate any transaction (whether by way of reconstruction,
reorganization, consolidation, merger, transfer, sale, lease or otherwise) whereby all or substantially all of its undertaking, property and assets
would become the property of any other person or, in the case of a merger, of the continuing corporation resulting therefrom, unless:
(a) such other person or continuing corporation (the "Big Flash Successor") by operation of law, becomes, without more, bound by the terms
and provisions of this Agreement or, if not so bound, executes, prior to or contemporaneously with the consummation of such transaction, an
agreement supplemental hereto and such other instruments (if any) as are reasonably necessary or advisable to evidence the assumption by the
Big Flash Successor of liability for all moneys payable and property deliverable hereunder and the covenant of such Big Flash Successor to pay
and deliver or cause to be delivered the same and its agreement to observe and perform all the covenants and obligations of Big Flash under
this Agreement; and
(b) such transaction shall be upon such terms and conditions as substantially to preserve and not to impair in any material respect any of the
rights, duties, powers and authorities of the other Parties hereunder.
3.2 Vesting of Powers in Successor
Whenever the conditions of section 3.1 have been duly observed and performed, the Parties, if required by section 3.1, shall execute and deliver
a supplemental agreement hereto and thereupon the Big Flash Successor shall possess and from time to time may exercise each and every right
and power of Big Flash under this Agreement in the name of Big Flash or otherwise and any act or proceeding by any provision of this
Agreement required to be done or performed by the Board of Directors of Big Flash or any officers of Big Flash may be done and performed
with like force and effect by the directors or officers of such Big Flash Successor.
3.3 Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries
Nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the amalgamation or merger of any direct or indirect subsidiary of Big Flash, except for
Exchangeco, with or into Big Flash or the winding-up, liquidation or dissolution of any direct or indirect subsidiary of Big Flash, except for
Exchangeco, provided that all of the assets of such subsidiary are transferred to Big Flash or another wholly-owned direct or indirect subsidiary
of Big Flash and any such transactions are expressly permitted by this Article 3.
ARTICLE 4 - GENERAL
4.1 Term

This Agreement shall come into force and be effective as of the date hereof and shall terminate and be of no further force and effect at such
time as no Exchangeable Shares (or securities or rights convertible into or exchangeable for or carrying rights to acquire Exchangeable Shares)
are held by any person or entity other than Big Flash and any of its Affiliates.
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4.2 Changes in Capital of Big Flash and Exchangeco
Notwithstanding the provisions of section 4.4, at all times after the occurrence of any event contemplated pursuant to sections 2.7 and 2.8
hereof or otherwise, as a result of which either Big Flash Common Shares or the Exchangeable Shares or both are in any way changed, this
Agreement shall forthwith be amended and modified as necessary in order that it shall apply with full force and effect, with the appropriate
changes, to all new securities into which Big Flash Common Shares or the Exchangeable Shares or both are so changed and the Parties hereto
shall execute and deliver an agreement in writing giving effect to and evidencing such necessary amendments and modifications.
4.3 Severability
If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of the remainder of this
Agreement shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and this Agreement shall be carried out as nearly as possible in accordance
with its original terms and conditions.
4.4 Amendments and Modifications
This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an agreement in writing executed by Big Flash and Exchangeco and, subject to
section 4.5 hereof, with the approval of the holders of Exchangeable Shares (or their duly appointed attorney or agent) obtained in accordance
with section 11 of the Share Provisions.
4.5 Administrative Amendments
Notwithstanding the provisions of section 4.4 hereof, the Parties to this Agreement may in writing at any time and from time to time, without
the approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares, amend or modify this Agreement for the purposes of:
(a) adding to the covenants of Big Flash and Exchangeco, provided that the board of directors of each of Big Flash and Exchangeco shall be of
the good faith and reasonable opinion that such additions will not be prejudicial to the rights or interests of the holders of the Exchangeable
Shares;
(b) making such amendments or modifications not inconsistent with this Agreement as may be necessary or desirable with respect to matters or
questions which, in the good faith opinion of the board of directors of each of Big Flash and Exchangeco, it may be expedient to make,
provided that each such board of directors shall be of the good faith and reasonable opinion that such amendments or modifications will not be
prejudicial to the rights or interests of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares; or
(c) making such changes or corrections which, on the advice of counsel to Big Flash and Exchangeco are required for the purpose of curing or
correcting any ambiguity or defect or inconsistent provision or clerical omission or mistake or manifest error, provided that the board of
directors of each of Big Flash and Exchangeco shall be of the good faith and reasonable opinion that such changes or corrections will not be
prejudicial to the rights or interests of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares.
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4.6 Meeting to Consider Amendments
Exchangeco, at the request of Big Flash, shall call a meeting or meetings of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares for the purpose of
considering any proposed amendment or modification requiring approval pursuant to section 4.4 hereof. Any such meeting or meetings shall be
called and held in accordance with the bylaws of Exchangeco, the Share Provisions and all applicable laws.
4.7 Enforceability and Enurement
This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. This
Agreement has been incorporated by reference into the Share Exchange Agreement and the Vendors, jointly and severally, are each an express
third-party beneficiary of this Agreement and as such have any and all rights of direct enforcement of this Agreement to the same and full
extent as if a signatory party hereto.
4.8 Notices to Parties
All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder must be made in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given if
delivered personally or by courier to the addressee at the address appearing on the first page hereof or to such other address as may be given in
writing by the Party. Any notice given by personal delivery shall be deemed to be received on the date of delivery. Any notice sent by courier
shall be deemed to be received on the next Business Day following the deposit of the communication with the courier service.
4.9 Counterparts and Facsimile
This Agreement may be executed in counterparts by original or facsimile signature, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which
taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
4.10 Governing Law
This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario without giving effect to provisions
of conflicts of law thereto. Each Party irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario with
respect to any matter arising hereunder or related hereto.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
BIG FLASH CORP.
Per:
Name:

Title:
6544631 CANADA INC.
Per:
Name:

Title:
EQUITY TRANSFER SERVICES INC.
Per:
Name:

Title:
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SCHEDULE "A"
The Class A Special Shares of 6544631 Canada Inc. (the "Corporation") shall have attached thereto, as a class, the following rights, privileges,
restrictions, and conditions:
SECTION 1 INTERPRETATION
1.1 For the purposes of these Share Provisions:
(a) "Act" means the Canada Business Corporations Act, as amended.
(b) "Affiliate" of any Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control of that Person.
For the purposes of this definition, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control of"),
as applied to any Person, means the possession by another Person, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of that first mentioned Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, provided
that for the purpose of these Share Provisions the Vendors (as such term is defined in the Support Agreement) shall be deemed not to be
Affiliates of Big Flash..
(c) "Big Flash" means Big Flash Corp., a corporation existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and any successor corporation thereto.
(d) "Big Flash Call Notice" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.3 of these Share Provisions.
(e) "Big Flash Common Shares" means the shares of common stock in the capital of Big Flash, as consolidated or subdivided from time to
time, and any other securities into which such shares may be reclassified or changed.
(f) "Big Flash Control Transaction" means any merger, amalgamation, tender offer, material sale of shares or rights or interests therein or
thereto, or a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Big Flash, or similar transactions involving Big Flash, or any proposal to do so.
(g) "Big Flash Dividend Declaration Date" means the date on which the Board of Directors of Big Flash declares any dividend on the Big Flash
Common Shares.
(h) "Board of Directors" means the board of directors of the Corporation.
(i) "Bulletin Board" means the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, an over-the-counter securities market operated by the National Association of
Securities Dealers.
(j) "Business Day" means any day on which commercial banks are open for business in the Province of Ontario other than a Saturday, a Sunday
or a day observed as a holiday under the laws of the Province of Ontario or the Federal laws of Canada.
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(k) "Canadian Dollar Equivalent" means in respect of an amount expressed in a foreign currency (the "Foreign Currency Amount") at any date
the product obtained by multiplying:
(i) the Foreign Currency Amount by,
(ii) the noon spot exchange rate on such date for such foreign currency expressed in Canadian dollars as reported by the Bank of Canada or, in
the event such spot exchange rate is not available, such spot exchange rate on such date for such foreign currency expressed in Canadian dollars
as may be deemed by the Board of Directors, acting reasonably to be appropriate for such purpose.
(l) "Common Shares" means common shares in the capital of the Corporation.
(m) "Current Market Price" means the Canadian Dollar Equivalent of the average of the closing bid and ask prices of a Big Flash Common
Share during a period of twenty (20) consecutive trading days ending not more than three (3) trading days before such date on the Bulletin
Board, or if the Big Flash Shares are no longer quoted on the Bulletin Board, then on such other stock exchange or automated quotation system
on which the Big Flash Common Shares are listed or quoted, as the case may be, as may be selected by the Board of Directors for such
purpose; provided, however, that if, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, the public distribution or trading activity of Big Flash Common
Shares during such period does not create a market which reflects the fair market value of a Big Flash Common Share, then the Current Market
Price of a Big Flash Common Share shall be determined by the Board of Directors, in good faith and acting reasonably, based upon the advice
of such qualified independent financial advisors as the Board of Directors may deem appropriate, and in its sole discretion, and provided
further that any such selection, opinion or determination by the Board of Directors shall be conclusive and binding.
(n) "Exchange Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.6 of these Share Provisions.
(o) "Exchangeable Shares" means the Class A Special Shares in the capital of the Corporation, being non-voting exchangeable shares having
the rights, privileges, restrictions, and conditions set forth herein.
(p) "Exchangeable Share Voting Event" means any matter in respect of which holders of Exchangeable Shares are entitled to vote as
shareholders of the Corporation, other than an Exempt Exchangeable Share Voting Event, and for greater certainty, excluding any matter in
respect of which holders of Exchangeable Shares are entitled to vote (or instruct the Trustee to vote) in their capacity as beneficiaries under the
Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement.
(q) "Exempt Exchangeable Share Voting Event" means any matter in respect of which holders of Exchangeable Shares are entitled to vote as
shareholders of the Corporation in order to approve any change to, or in the rights of the holders of, the Exchangeable Shares, where the
approval or disapproval, as applicable, of such change would be required to maintain the equivalence of the Exchangeable Shares and the Big
Flash Common Shares.
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(r) "Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement" means the exchange and voting trust agreement between Big Flash, the Corporation, the Trustee
and shareholders of Intelgenx Corp.
(s) "Liquidation Amount" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.1 of these Share Provisions.
(t) "Liquidation Call Purchase Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 8.1(a) of these Share Provisions.
(u) "Liquidation Call Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 8.1(a) of these Share Provisions.
(v) "Liquidation Date" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 5.1 of these Share Provisions.
(w) "Liquidation Distribution" means a distribution of assets of the Corporation among its shareholders arising on the liquidation, dissolution,
or winding-up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of the assets of the Corporation among its
shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs.
(x) "Person" includes any individual, firm, partnership, joint venture, venture capital fund, association, trust, agent, executor, administrator,
legal personal representative, estate, group, body corporate, corporation, unincorporated association or organization, government body,
syndicate or other entity, whether or not having legal status.
(y) "Purchase Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.3 of these Share Provisions.
(z) "Redemption Call Purchase Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 8.2 of these Share Provisions.
(aa) "Redemption Call Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto by section 8.2 of these Share Provisions.
(bb) "Redemption Date" means the date, established by the Board of Directors for the redemption by the Corporation of all but not less than all
of the outstanding Exchangeable Shares pursuant to section 7 of these Share Provisions, which date shall not be earlier than the tenth
anniversary of the date of issuance of the Exchangeable Shares, unless:
(i) the number of Exchangeable Shares outstanding (other than Exchangeable Shares held by Big Flash and its Affiliates, and as such number
of shares may be adjusted as deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors to give effect to any subdivision or consolidation of or stock
dividend on the Exchangeable Shares, any issue or distribution of rights to acquire Exchangeable Shares or securities exchangeable for or
convertible into Exchangeable Shares, any issue or distribution of other securities or rights or evidences of indebtedness or assets, or any other
capital reorganization or other transaction affecting the Exchangeable Shares) is less than 10% of the number of Exchangeable Shares issued
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upon the first issuance of Exchangeable Shares, in which case the Board of Directors may accelerate such redemption date to such earlier date
as it may determine, upon at least sixty
(60) days' prior written notice to the registered holders of the Exchangeable Shares;
(ii) a Big Flash Control Transaction occurs, in which case, provided that the Board of Directors determines, in good faith and in its sole
discretion, that it is not reasonably practicable to substantially replicate the terms and conditions of the Exchangeable Shares in connection with
such Big Flash Control Transaction and that the redemption of all but not less than all of the outstanding Exchangeable Shares is necessary to
enable the completion of such Big Flash Control Transaction in accordance with its terms, the Board of Directors may accelerate such
redemption date to such earlier date as it may determine, upon such number of days prior written notice to the registered holders of the
Exchangeable Shares as the Board of Directors may determine to be reasonably practicable in such circumstances;
(iii) an Exchangeable Share Voting Event is proposed, in which case, the redemption date shall be the Business Day prior to the record date for
any meeting or vote of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares to consider the Exchangeable Share Voting Event and the Board of Directors
shall give such number of days' prior written notice of such redemption to the registered holders of the Exchangeable Shares as the Board of
Directors may determine to be reasonably practicable in such circumstances (provided that the Board of Directors has determined, in good faith
and in its sole discretion, that it is not reasonably practicable to accomplish the business purpose intended by the Exchangeable Share Voting
Event, which business purpose must be bona fide and not for the primary purpose of causing the occurrence of a Redemption Date, in any other
commercially reasonable manner that does not result in an Exchangeable Share Voting Event);
(iv) an Exempt Exchangeable Share Voting Event is proposed and the holders of the Exchangeable Shares fail to take the necessary action at a
meeting or other vote of holders of Exchangeable Shares to approve the Exempt Exchangeable Share Voting Event, in which case the
redemption date shall be the Business Day following the day on which the holders of the Exchangeable Shares failed to take such action and
the Board of Directors shall be deemed to have given such prior written notice of such redemption to the registered holders of the
Exchangeable Shares or the Board of Directors may establish another Business Day as it may determine to be reasonably practicable in such
circumstances; or
(v) if changes are enacted to Canadian tax laws which would allow an exchange of the Exchangeable Shares for Big Flash Common Shares on
a tax-deferred basis;
provided, however, that the accidental failure or omission to give any notice of redemption under clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) above to less
than 10% of such holders of Exchangeable Shares shall not affect the validity of any such redemption.
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(cc) "Redemption Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 7.1 of these Share Provisions.
(dd) "Retracted Shares" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1(a) of these Share Provisions.
(ee) "Retraction Call Right" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1(c) of these Share Provisions.
(ff) "Retraction Date" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1(b) of these Share Provisions.
(gg) "Retraction Price" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1 of these Share Provisions.
(hh) "Retraction Request" has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 6.1 of these Share Provisions.
(ii) "Share Provisions" means these share provisions.
(jj) "Support Agreement" means the exchangeable share support agreement between Big Flash, the Trustee and the Corporation entered into in
support of the holders of Exchangeable Shares.
(kk) "Transfer Agent" means such Person as may from time to time be appointed by the Corporation as the registrar and transfer agent for the
Exchangeable Shares, and if no such Person has been appointed, shall mean the Corporation.
(ll) "Trustee" means Equity Transfer Services Inc.
(mm) "Unpaid Dividend Amount" means the full amount of any and all declared and unpaid dividends on the Exchangeable Shares.
SECTION 2 RANKING OF EXCHANGEABLE SHARES
2.1 The Exchangeable Shares shall be entitled to a preference over the Common Shares and any other shares of the Corporation with respect to
the payment of dividends and on a Liquidation Distribution to the extent provided for in section 5 hereof.
SECTION 3 DIVIDENDS
3.1 The Board of Directors shall, subject to applicable law, on each Big Flash Dividend Declaration Date, declare a dividend on each
Exchangeable Share as follows:
(i) in the case of a cash dividend declared on the Big Flash Common Shares, a cash dividend in U.S. dollars, or the Canadian Dollar Equivalent
thereof, on the Big Flash Dividend Declaration Date, equal to the cash dividend declared on each Big Flash Common Share;
(ii) in the case of a stock dividend or other distribution declared on the Big Flash Common Shares to be paid in Big Flash Common Shares, a
stock dividend of such number of Exchangeable Shares for each Exchangeable Share as is equal to the number of Big Flash Common Shares to
be paid on each Big Flash Common Share;
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(iii) in the case of a dividend declared on the Big Flash Common Shares in property other than cash or Big Flash Common Shares, a dividend
in such type and amount of property for each Exchangeable Share as is the same as or economically equivalent to the type and amount of
property declared as a dividend on each Big Flash Common Share (to be determined by the Board of Directors as contemplated by section 3.5
hereof). Such dividends shall be paid out of money, assets or property of the Corporation properly applicable to the payment of dividends, or
out of authorized but unissued Exchangeable Shares of the Corporation, as applicable.
3.2 Cheques of the Corporation payable at par at any branch of the bankers of the Corporation shall be issued in respect of any cash dividends
contemplated by section 3.1(a)(i) hereof and the sending of such a cheque to each holder of an Exchangeable Share shall satisfy the cash
dividend represented thereby unless the cheque is not paid on presentation. Certificates representing the applicable number of Exchangeable
Shares registered in the name of the registered holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be issued or transferred in respect of any stock dividends
contemplated in section 3.1(a) (ii) hereof and the sending of such a certificate to each holder of an Exchangeable Share shall satisfy the stock
dividend represented thereby. For greater certainty, in the case of the dividend or distribution on the Big Flash Common Shares contemplated
in sections 3.1 (a) (ii), Big Flash shall deliver to the Trustee at the same time and in the same manner as to all other holders as Big Flash
Shares, the certificates representing the Big Flash Common Shares payable as a dividend on the Trust Shares. Such other type and amount of
property in respect of any dividends contemplated by section 3.1(a)(iii) hereof shall be issued, distributed or transferred by the Corporation in
such manner as it shall determine and the issuance, distribution or transfer thereof by the Corporation to each holder of an Exchangeable Share
shall satisfy the dividend represented thereby, provided, however, that no such dividend and/or distribution shall be constituted of Big Flash
Common Shares, all of which shall be delivered by Big Flash directly to the Trustee. No holder of an Exchangeable Share shall be entitled to
recover by action or other legal process against the Corporation any dividend that is represented by a cheque that has not been duly presented to
the Corporation's bankers for payment or that otherwise remains unclaimed for a period of six years from the date on which such dividend was
payable.
3.3 The record date for the determination of the holders of Exchangeable Shares entitled to receive payment of, and the payment date for, any
dividend declared on the Exchangeable Shares under section 3.1 hereof shall be the same dates as the record date and payment date,
respectively, for the corresponding dividend declared on the Big Flash Common Shares.
3.4 If on any payment date for any dividends declared on the Exchangeable Shares under section 3.1 hereof the dividends are not paid in full on
all of the Exchangeable Shares then outstanding, any such dividends that remain unpaid shall be paid on a subsequent date or dates determined
by the Board of Directors on which the Corporation shall have sufficient moneys, assets or property properly applicable to the payment of such
dividends.
3.5 The Board of Directors shall determine, in good faith and in its sole discretion, acting reasonably (with the assistance of such reputable and
qualified independent financial advisors and/or other experts as the Board of Directors may determine necessary or desirable) economic
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equivalence for the purposes of section 3.1(a)(iii) hereof, and each such determination shall be conclusive and binding on the Corporation and
its shareholders absent manifest error. In making each such determination, the following factors shall, without excluding other factors
determined by the Board of Directors to be relevant, be considered by the Board of Directors, and shall be acted upon in accordance with the
provisions herewith:
(a) in the case of the issuance or distribution of any rights, options or warrants to subscribe for or purchase Big Flash Common Shares (or
securities exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire Big Flash Common Shares), the relationship between the exercise
price of each such right, option or warrant and the Current Market Price;
(b) in the case of the issuance or distribution of any other form of property (including, without limitation, any shares or securities of Big Flash
of any class other than Big Flash Common Shares, any rights, options or warrants other than those referred to in section 3.5(a) above, any
evidences of indebtedness of Big Flash or any assets of Big Flash), the relationship between the fair market value (as determined by the Board
of Directors in good faith acting reasonably) of such property to be issued or distributed with respect to each outstanding Big Flash Common
Share and the Current Market Price; and
(c) in all such cases, the general taxation consequences of the relevant event to holders of Exchangeable Shares to the extent that such
consequences may differ from the taxation consequences to holders of Big Flash Common Shares as a result of differences between taxation
laws of Canada and the United States of America (except for any differing consequences arising as a result of differing marginal taxation rates
and without regard to the individual circumstances of holders of Exchangeable Shares).
SECTION 4 CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS
4.1 So long as any of the Exchangeable Shares are outstanding, the Corporation shall not at any time without the approval of the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares given as specified in section 11.2 of these Share Provisions:
(a) pay any dividends on the Common Shares or any shares other than the Exchangeable Shares, other than stock dividends payable in
Common Shares or any such other shares, as the case may be;
(b) redeem or purchase or make any capital distribution in respect of Common Shares or any shares other than the Exchangeable Shares;
(c) redeem or purchase any shares of the Corporation other than the Exchangeable Shares; or
(d) issue any Exchangeable Shares or any other shares of the Corporation other than by way of stock dividends to the holders of such
Exchangeable Shares.
SECTION 5 DISTRIBUTION ON LIQUIDATION
5.1 In the event of a Liquidation Distribution, a holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be entitled, subject to applicable law, to receive from the
assets of the Corporation in respect of each Exchangeable Share held by such holder on the effective date (the "Liquidation Date") of the
Liquidation Distribution, before any distribution of any part of the assets of the Corporation among the holders of the Common Shares or any
other shares of the Corporation, an amount per Exchangeable Share
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(the "Liquidation Amount") equal to (i) the Current Market Price of a Big Flash Common Share on the last Business Day prior to the
Liquidation Date (which may be satisfied in full by the Corporation causing an instruction to be given to the Trustee to deliver, in respect of
each Exchangeable Share held by each respective holder thereof, one Big Flash Common Share, and obtaining written confirmation of such
delivery by the Trustee), plus (ii) the Unpaid Dividend Amount, if any, on any Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record
date which occurred prior to the Liquidation Date.
5.2 Big Flash and the Corporation shall notify all holders of the Exchangeable Shares, of any proposed liquidation, dissolution or winding-up
of the Corporation, at least 60 days before the Liquidation Date in the case of a voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the
Corporation, and promptly upon receiving notice of or becoming aware of any claim, suit, petition or other proceeding with respect to an
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation.
5.3 On or promptly after the Liquidation Date, and subject to the exercise by Big Flash of the Liquidation Call Right, the Corporation shall
cause to be delivered to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares the Liquidation Amount for each such Exchangeable Share upon presentation
and surrender of the certificates representing such Exchangeable Shares, together with such other documents and instruments as may be
required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the Act and the articles and by-laws of the Corporation and such additional
documents and instruments as the Trustee and Transfer Agent may reasonably require, at the registered office of the Corporation or at any
office of the Trustee or Transfer Agent as may be specified by the Corporation by notice to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares. Payment of
the total Liquidation Amount for such Exchangeable Shares shall be made by delivery to each holder, at the address of the holder recorded in
the securities register of the Corporation for the Exchangeable Shares or by holding for pick-up by the holder at the registered office of the
Corporation or at any office of the Trustee or Transfer Agent as may be specified by the Corporation by notice to the holders of Exchangeable
Shares, on behalf of the Corporation of the certificates representing Big Flash Common Shares (which shares shall be duly issued as fully paid
and non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any lien, claim or encumbrance and a cheque of the Corporation payable at par at any branch
of the bankers of the Corporation in respect of the remaining portion, if any, of the total Liquidation Amount (in each case less any amounts
withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom). On and after the Liquidation Date, the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares shall cease to be holders of such Exchangeable Shares and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of holders in
respect thereof, other than the right to receive their proportionate part of the total Liquidation Amount, unless payment of the total Liquidation
Amount for such Exchangeable Shares shall not be made upon presentation and surrender of share certificates in accordance with the foregoing
provisions, in which case the rights of the holders shall remain unaffected until the total Liquidation Amount has been paid in the manner
hereinbefore provided. The Corporation shall have the right at any time after the Liquidation Date to deposit or cause to be deposited the total
Liquidation Amount in respect of the Exchangeable Shares represented by certificates that have not at the Liquidation Date been surrendered
by the holders thereof in a custodial account with any chartered bank or trust company in Canada less any amounts withheld on account of tax
required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. Upon such deposit being made, the rights of the holders of Exchangeable Shares after such
deposit shall be limited to receiving their proportionate part of the total Liquidation Amount (in each case less such amounts withheld on
account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom) for such Exchangeable Shares so deposited, against presentation and surrender
of the said certificates held by them, respectively, in accordance with the foregoing provisions. Upon such payment or deposit of the total
Liquidation Amount, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares shall
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thereafter be considered and deemed for all purposes to be holders of the Big Flash Common Shares delivered to them or the custodian on their
behalf.
5.4 After the Corporation has satisfied its obligations to pay the holders of the Exchangeable Shares the Liquidation Amount per Exchangeable
Share pursuant to section 5.1 of these Share Provisions, such holders shall not be entitled to share in any further distribution of the assets of the
Corporation.
SECTION 6 RETRACTION OF EXCHANGEABLE SHARES BY HOLDER
6.1 A holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be entitled at any time, subject to the exercise by Big Flash of the Retraction Call Right and
otherwise upon compliance with the provisions of this section 6, to require the Corporation to redeem any or all of the Exchangeable Shares
registered in the name of such holder for an amount per Exchangeable Share (the "Retraction Price") equal to (i) the Current Market Price of a
Big Flash Common Share on the last Business Day prior to the Retraction Date (which may be satisfied in full by the Corporation causing an
instruction to be given to the Trustee to deliver from trust to such holder, one Big Flash Common Share for each Exchangeable Share presented
and surrendered by the holder, and obtaining written confirmation of such delivery by the Trustee), plus (ii) the Unpaid Dividend Amount, if
any, on any such Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record date which occurred prior to the Retraction Date. To effect
such redemption, the holder shall present and surrender at the registered office of the Corporation or at any office of the Trustee or Transfer
Agent as may be specified by the Corporation by notice to the holders of Exchangeable Shares the certificate or certificates representing the
Exchangeable Shares which the holder desires to have the Corporation redeem, together with such other documents and instruments as may be
required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the Act and the articles and by-laws of the Corporation and such additional
documents and instruments as the Trustee and Transfer Agent may reasonably require, and together with a duly executed statement (the
"Retraction Request") in the form attached hereto as Appendix 1, or in such other form as may be acceptable to the Corporation:
(a) specifying that the holder desires to have all or any number specified therein of the Exchangeable Shares represented by such certificate or
certificates (the "Retracted Shares") redeemed by the Corporation;
(b) stating the Business Day on which the holder desires to have the Corporation redeem the Retracted Shares (the "Retraction Date"), provided
that the Retraction Date shall be not less than 10 Business Days nor more than 15 Business Days after the date on which the Retraction Request
is delivered to the Corporation and further provided that, in the event that no such Business Day is specified by the holder in the Retraction
Request, the Retraction Date shall be deemed to be the 15th Business Day after the date on which the Retraction Request is delivered to the
Corporation; and
(c) acknowledging the overriding right of Big Flash (the "Retraction Call Right") to purchase all but not less than all the Retracted Shares
directly from the holder, and that the Retraction Request shall be deemed to be a revocable offer by the holder to sell the Retracted Shares to
Big Flash in accordance with the Retraction Call Right on the terms and conditions set out in section 6.3 hereof.
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6.2 Subject to the exercise of the Retraction Call Right by Big Flash, upon receipt by the Corporation or the Trustee or Transfer Agent in the
manner specified in section 6.1 hereof of a certificate or certificates representing the number of Exchangeable Shares which the holder desires
to have the Corporation redeem, together with a Retraction Request, and provided that the Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in
the manner specified in section 6.7 hereof, the Corporation shall redeem the Retracted Shares effective at the close of business (Toronto time)
on the Retraction Date and shall cause to be delivered to such holder the total Retraction Price with respect to such shares, provided that all
declared and unpaid dividends for which the record date has occurred prior to the Retraction Date shall be paid on the payment date for such
dividends, less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. If only a part of the Exchangeable
Shares represented by any certificate is redeemed, a new certificate for the balance of such Exchangeable Shares shall be issued to the holder at
the expense of the Corporation.
6.3 Upon receipt by the Corporation of a Retraction Request, the Corporation shall immediately provide notice thereof to Big Flash. In order to
exercise the Retraction Call Right, Big Flash must notify the Corporation of its determination to do so (the "Big Flash Call Notice") within five
(5) Business Days of notification to Big Flash by the Corporation of the receipt by the Corporation of the Retraction Request. If Big Flash does
not so notify the Corporation within such five Business Day period, the Corporation will notify the holder as soon as possible thereafter that
Big Flash will not exercise the Retraction Call Right. If Big Flash delivers the Big Flash Call Notice within such five Business Day period, and
provided that the Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner specified in section 6.7, the Retraction Request shall thereupon
be deemed to be an offer by the holder to sell the Retracted Shares to Big Flash in accordance with the Retraction Call Right. In such event, the
Corporation shall not redeem the Retracted Shares and Big Flash shall purchase from such holder and such holder shall sell to Big Flash on the
Retraction Date the Retracted Shares for an amount per Retracted Share (the "Purchase Price") equal to (i) the Current Market Price of a Big
Flash Common Share on the last Business Day prior to the Retraction Date (which may be satisfied in full by Big Flash instructing the Trustee
to deliver to such holder one Big Flash Common Share for each Exchangeable Share presented and surrendered by the holder), plus (ii) the
Unpaid Dividend Amount, if any, on those Retracted Shares held by such holder on any dividend record date which occurred prior to the
Retraction Date. For the purposes of completing a purchase pursuant to the Retraction Call Right, in addition to Big Flash giving instructions to
the Trustee or the Transfer Agent, Big Flash shall deposit with the Trustee or the Transfer Agent a cheque or cheques of Big Flash payable at
par at any branch of the bankers of Big Flash representing the Unpaid Dividend Amount, if any, less any amounts withheld on account of tax
required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. Provided that Big Flash has complied with the immediately preceding sentence, the closing of
the purchase and sale of the Retracted Shares pursuant to the Retraction Call Right shall be deemed to have occurred as at the close of business
on the Retraction Date and, for greater certainty, no redemption by the Corporation of such Retracted Shares shall take place on the Retraction
Date. In the event that Big Flash does not deliver a Big Flash Call Notice within such five Business Day period, and provided that the
Retraction Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner specified in section 6.7 hereof, the Corporation shall redeem the Retracted
Shares on the Retraction Date and in the manner otherwise contemplated in this section 6.
6.4 The Corporation or Big Flash, as the case may be, shall instruct the Trustee or the Transfer Agent to deliver, to the relevant holder, at the
address of the holder recorded in the securities register of the Corporation for the Exchangeable Shares or at the address specified in the
holder's Retraction Request or by holding for pick-up by the holder
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at the registered office of the Corporation or at any office of the Trustee or Transfer Agent as may be specified by the Corporation by notice to
the holders of Exchangeable Shares, certificates representing the Big Flash Common Shares (which shares shall be duly issued as fully paid
and non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any lien, claim or encumbrance) registered in the name of the holder or in such other name as
the holder may request, and, if applicable and on or before the payment date therefore, a cheque payable at par at any branch of the bankers of
the Corporation or Big Flash, as applicable, representing the aggregate Unpaid Dividend Amount, if any, in payment of the total Retraction
Price or the total Purchase Price, as the case may be, in each case less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and
withheld therefrom, and such delivery of such certificates by the Trustee or the Transfer Agent and cheques on behalf of the Corporation or by
Big Flash, as the case may be, or by the Trustee or Transfer Agent, shall be deemed to be payment of and shall satisfy and discharge all liability
for the total Retraction Price or the total Purchase Price, as the case may be, to the extent that the same is represented by such share certificates
and cheques (plus any tax deducted and withheld therefrom).
6.5 On and after the close of business on the Retraction Date, the holder of the Retracted Shares shall cease to be a holder of such Retracted
Shares and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of a holder in respect thereof, other than the right to receive his proportionate part
of the total Retraction Price or the total Purchase Price, as the case may be, unless upon presentation and surrender of certificates in accordance
with the foregoing provisions, payment of the total Retraction Price or the total Purchase Price, as the case may be, shall not be made as
provided in section 6.4, in which case the rights of such holder shall remain unaffected until the total Retraction Price or the total Purchase
Price, as the case may be, has been paid in the manner hereinbefore provided. On and after the close of business on the Retraction Date,
provided that presentation and surrender of certificates and payment of the total Retraction Price or the total Purchase Price, as the case may be,
has been made in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the holder of the Retracted Shares so redeemed by the Corporation shall thereafter
be considered and deemed for all purposes to be a holder of the Big Flash Common Shares so delivered.
6.6 Notwithstanding any other provision of this section 6, the Corporation shall not be obligated to redeem Retracted Shares specified by a
holder in a Retraction Request to the extent that such redemption of Retracted Shares would be contrary to solvency requirements or other
provisions of applicable law. If the Corporation believes that on any Retraction Date it would not be permitted by any of such provisions to
redeem the Retracted Shares tendered for redemption on such date, and provided that Big Flash shall not have exercised the Retraction Call
Right with respect to the Retracted Shares, the Corporation shall only be obligated to redeem Retracted Shares specified by a holder in a
Retraction Request to the extent of the maximum number that may be so redeemed (rounded down to a whole number of shares) as would not
be contrary to such provisions and shall notify the holder at least two Business Days prior to the Retraction Date as to the number of Retracted
Shares which will not be redeemed by the Corporation. In any case in which the redemption by the Corporation of Retracted Shares would be
contrary to solvency requirements or other provisions of applicable law, the Corporation shall redeem the maximum number of Retracted
Shares in accordance with section 6.2 of these Share Provisions which the Board of Directors determine the Corporation is, on the Retraction
Date, permitted to redeem, on a pro rata basis (disregarding fractions) in proportion to the total number of Exchangeable Shares tendered for
retraction by each holder thereof, and the Corporation shall issue to each holder of Retracted Shares a new certificate, at the expense of the
Corporation, representing the Retracted Shares not redeemed by the Corporation pursuant to section 6.2 hereof. Provided that the Retraction
Request is not revoked by the holder in the manner specified in section 6.7 hereof, the holder of any such Retracted Shares not redeemed by the
Corporation pursuant to section 6.2 hereof as a result of solvency requirements or other provisions of applicable law shall be deemed by giving
the Retraction Request to require Big Flash to purchase such Retracted Shares from
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such holder on the Retraction Date or as soon as practicable thereafter on payment by Big Flash to such holder of the Purchase Price for such
Retracted Shares (the "Exchange Right"), all as more specifically provided in the Exchange and Voting Trust Agreement.
6.7 A holder of Retracted Shares may, by notice in writing given by the holder to the Corporation before the close of business on the Business
Day immediately preceding the Retraction Date, withdraw the Retraction Request, in which event such Retraction Request shall be null and
void and, for greater certainty, the revocable offer constituted by the Retraction Request to sell the Retracted Shares to the Corporation or Big
Flash, as the case may be, shall be deemed to have been revoked.
SECTION 7 REDEMPTION OF EXCHANGEABLE SHARES BY THE CORPORATION
7.1 Subject to applicable law, and provided Big Flash has not exercised the Redemption Call Right, the Corporation shall on the Redemption
Date redeem all but not less than all of the then outstanding Exchangeable Shares for an amount per Exchangeable Share (the "Redemption
Price") equal to (i) the Current Market Price of a Big Flash Common Share on the last Business Day prior to the Redemption Date (which may
be satisfied in full by the Corporation causing an instruction to be given to the Trustee to deliver, in respect of each Exchangeable Share held
by each respective holder thereof, one Big Flash Common Share, and obtaining written confirmation of such delivery by the Trustee), plus
(ii) the Unpaid Dividend Amount, if any, on each such Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record date which occurred
prior to the Redemption Date.
7.2 In any case of a redemption of Exchangeable Shares under this section 7, the Corporation shall send or cause to be sent to each holder of
Exchangeable Shares a notice in writing of the redemption by the Corporation or the purchase by Big Flash under the Redemption Call Right,
as the case may be, of the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder. In the case of a Redemption Date established in connection with a Big
Flash Control Transaction, an Exchangeable Share Voting Event and an Exempt Exchangeable Share Voting Event, the written notice of
redemption by the Corporation or the purchase by Big Flash under the Redemption Call Right will be sent on or before the Redemption Date,
on as many days prior written notice as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Corporation to be reasonably practicable in the
circumstances, and in all other cases such notice shall be sent at least 60 days before the Redemption Date. In any such case, such notice shall
set out the formula for determining the Redemption Price or the Redemption Call Purchase Price, as the case may be, the Redemption Date and,
if applicable, particulars of the Redemption Call Right.
7.3 On or after the Redemption Date and subject to the exercise by Big Flash of the Redemption Call Right, the Corporation shall cause to be
delivered to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares to be redeemed the Redemption Price for each such Exchangeable Share, upon
presentation and surrender at the registered office of the Corporation or at any office of the Trustee or Transfer Agent as may be specified by
the Corporation in such notice of the certificates representing such Exchangeable Shares, together with such other documents and instruments
as may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the Act and the articles and by-laws of the Corporation and such
additional documents and instruments as the Trustee or Transfer Agent may reasonably require. Payment of the total Redemption Price for such
Exchangeable Shares shall be made by instruction to the Trustee or the Transfer Agent to deliver to each holder, at the address of the holder
recorded in the securities register of the Corporation or by holding for pick-up by the holder at the registered office of the Corporation or at any
office of the Trustee or Transfer Agent as may be specified by the Corporation in such notice, of certificates representing Big
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Flash Common Shares (which shares shall be duly issued as fully paid and non-assessable and shall be free and clear of any lien, claim or
encumbrance) and, if applicable, a cheque of the Corporation payable at par at any branch of the bankers of the Corporation in payment of any
such Unpaid Dividend Amount, in each case, less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. On
and after the Redemption Date, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares called for redemption shall cease to be holders of such Exchangeable
Shares and shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of holders in respect thereof, other than the right to receive their proportionate part
of the total Redemption Price, unless payment of the total Redemption Price for such Exchangeable Shares shall not be made upon presentation
and surrender of certificates in accordance with the foregoing provisions, in which case the rights of the holders shall remain unaffected until
the total Redemption Price have been paid in the manner hereinbefore provided. The Corporation shall have the right at any time after the
sending of notice of its intention to redeem the Exchangeable Shares as aforesaid to deposit or cause to be deposited the total Redemption Price
for the Exchangeable Shares so called for redemption, or of such of the said Exchangeable Shares represented by certificates that have not at
the date of such deposit been surrendered by the holders thereof in connection with such redemption, in a custodial account with any chartered
bank or agent named in such notice, less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. Upon the
later of such deposit being made and the Redemption Date, the Exchangeable Shares in respect whereof such deposit shall have been made
shall be redeemed and the rights of the holders thereof after such deposit or Redemption Date, as the case may be, shall be limited to receiving
their proportionate part of the total Redemption Price, for such Exchangeable Shares so deposited, against presentation and surrender of the
said certificates held by them, respectively, in accordance with the foregoing provisions. Upon such payment or deposit of the total Redemption
Price, less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares
shall thereafter be considered and deemed for all purposes to be holders of the Big Flash Common Shares delivered to them.
SECTION 8 CERTAIN RIGHTS OF BIG FLASH TO ACQUIRE EXCHANGEABLE SHARES
8.1 Big Flash Liquidation Call Right.
(a) Big Flash shall have the overriding right (the "Liquidation Call Right"), in the event of and notwithstanding the proposed liquidation,
dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation pursuant to section 5 of these Share Provisions, to purchase from all but not less than all of the
holders of Exchangeable Shares (other than any holder of Exchangeable Shares which is an Affiliate of Big Flash) on the Liquidation Date all
but not less than all of the Exchangeable Shares held by each such holder on payment by Big Flash of an amount per Exchangeable Share (the
"Liquidation Call Purchase Price") equal to (i) the Current Market Price of a Big Flash Common Share on the last Business Day prior to the
Liquidation Date (which may be satisfied in full by Big Flash causing instruction to the Trustee to deliver to such holder one Big Flash
Common Share), plus (ii) the Unpaid Dividend Amount, if any, on each such Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record
date which occurred prior to the date of purchase by Big Flash. In the event of the exercise of the Liquidation Call Right by Big Flash on the
Liquidation Date on payment by Big Flash to the holder of the Liquidation Call Purchase Price for each such share, the Corporation shall have
no obligation to redeem such shares so purchased by Big Flash.
(b) To exercise the Liquidation Call Right, Big Flash must notify the Trustee, the holders of Exchangeable Shares, and the Corporation, of Big
Flash's intention to exercise such right at least 45 days
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before the Liquidation Date in the case of a voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation and at least five Business Days
before the Liquidation Date in the case of an involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation. The Corporation will notify
the holders of Exchangeable Shares as to whether or not Big Flash has exercised the Liquidation Call Right forthwith after the expiry of the
period during which the same may be exercised by Big Flash. If Big Flash exercises the Liquidation Call Right, then on the Liquidation Date
Big Flash will purchase and the holders will sell all of the Exchangeable Shares then outstanding for a price per share equal to the Liquidation
Call Purchase Price.
(c) For the purposes of completing the purchase of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the Liquidation Call Right, Big Flash shall ensure that
the Trustee or the Transfer Agent holds, on or before the Liquidation Date, sufficient certificates representing the aggregate number of Big
Flash Common Shares deliverable in respect of the Liquidation Call Right and a cheque or cheques of Big Flash payable at par at any branch of
the bankers of Big Flash representing the aggregate Unpaid Dividend Amount in payment of the total Liquidation Call Purchase Price, in each
case, less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. Provided that Big Flash has complied with
the immediately preceding sentence, on and after the Liquidation Date the rights of each holder of Exchangeable Shares will be limited to
receiving such holder's proportionate part of the total Liquidation Call Purchase Price payable by Big Flash upon presentation and surrender by
the holder of certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder and the holder shall on and after the Liquidation Date be
considered and deemed for all purposes to be the holder of the Big Flash Common Shares to which it is entitled. Upon surrender to the Trustee
or the Transfer Agent of a certificate or certificates representing Exchangeable Shares, together with such other documents and instruments as
may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the Act and the articles and by-laws of the Corporation and such additional
documents and instruments as the Trustee may reasonably require, the holder of such surrendered certificate or certificates shall be entitled to
receive in exchange therefor, and the Trustee or the Transfer Agent on behalf of Big Flash shall deliver to such holder, certificates representing
the Big Flash Common Shares to which the holder is entitled and a cheque or cheques of Big Flash payable at par at any branch of the bankers
of Big Flash in payment of the remaining portion, if any, of the total Liquidation Call Purchase Price, in each case, less any amounts withheld
on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. If Big Flash does not exercise the Liquidation Call Right in the manner
described above, on the Liquidation Date the holders of the Exchangeable Shares will be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the liquidation
price otherwise payable by the Corporation in connection with the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation pursuant to section
5 of these Share Provisions.
(d) Big Flash shall at any time be entitled to assign all of its rights in this Section to an Affiliate of Big Flash provided that such company
assumes all of Big Flash's obligations under this Section.
8.2 Big Flash Redemption Call Right.
(a) Big Flash shall have the overriding right (the "Redemption Call Right"), notwithstanding the proposed redemption of the Exchangeable
Shares by the Corporation pursuant to section 7 of these Share Provisions, to purchase from all but not less than all of the holders of
Exchangeable Shares (other than any holder of
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Exchangeable Shares which is an Affiliate of Big Flash) on the Redemption Date all but not less than all of the Exchangeable Shares held by
each such holder on payment by Big Flash to each holder of an amount per Exchangeable Share (the "Redemption Call Purchase Price") equal
to (i) the Current Market Price of a Big Flash Common Share on the last Business Day prior to the Redemption Date (which may be satisfied in
full by Big Flash instructing the Trustee to deliver to such holder one Big Flash Common Share), plus (ii) the Unpaid Dividend Amount, if any,
on each Exchangeable Share held by such holder on any dividend record date which occurred prior to the Redemption Date. In the event of the
exercise of the Redemption Call Right by Big Flash, each holder shall be obligated to sell all the Exchangeable Shares held by the holder to Big
Flash on the Redemption Date on payment by Big Flash to the holder of the Redemption Call Purchase Price for each such share, and the
Corporation shall have no obligation to redeem such shares so purchased by Big Flash.
(b) To exercise the Redemption Call Right, Big Flash must notify the Trustee, the holders of Exchangeable Shares, and the Corporation, of Big
Flash's intention to exercise such right at least 45 days before the Redemption Date, except in the case of a redemption occurring as a result of a
Big Flash Control Transaction, an Exchangeable Share Voting Event or an Exempt Exchangeable Share Voting Event or such shorter period as
may be agreed, in writing, by the Corporation, Big Flash and the holders of the Exchangeable Shares, in which case Big Flash shall so notify
the Trustee, the holders of Exchangeable Shares and the Corporation on or before the Redemption Date. The Corporation will notify the
holders of Exchangeable Shares as to whether or not Big Flash has exercised the Redemption Call Right forthwith after the expiry of the period
during which the same may be exercised by Big Flash. If Big Flash exercises the Redemption Call Right, on the Redemption Date Big Flash
will purchase and the holders will sell all of the Exchangeable Shares then outstanding for a price per share equal to the Redemption Call
Purchase Price.
(c) For the purposes of completing the purchase of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the Redemption Call Right, Big Flash shall ensure that
the Trustee or the Transfer Agent holds, on or before the Redemption Date, sufficient certificates representing the aggregate number of Big
Flash Common Shares deliverable in respect of the Redemption Call Right and a cheque or cheques of Big Flash payable at par at any branch
of the bankers of Big Flash representing the aggregate Unpaid Dividend Amount in payment of the total Redemption Call Purchase Price, in
each case, less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and withheld therefrom. Provided that Big Flash has complied
with the immediately preceding sentence, on and after the Redemption Date the rights of each holder of Exchangeable Shares will be limited to
receiving such holder's proportionate part of the total Redemption Call Purchase Price payable by Big Flash upon presentation and surrender by
the holder of certificates representing the Exchangeable Shares held by such holder and the holder shall on and after the Redemption Date be
considered and deemed for all purposes to be the holder of the Big Flash Common Shares to which it is entitled. Upon surrender to the Trustee
or the Transfer Agent of a certificate or certificates representing Exchangeable Shares, together with such other documents and instruments as
may be required to effect a transfer of Exchangeable Shares under the Act and the articles and by-laws of the Corporation and such additional
documents and instruments as the Trustee may reasonably require, the holder of such surrendered certificate or certificates shall be entitled to
receive in exchange therefor, and the Trustee or the Transfer Agent on behalf of Big Flash shall deliver to such holder, certificates representing
the Big Flash Common Shares to which the holder is
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entitled and a cheque or cheques of Big Flash payable at par at any branch of the bankers of Big Flash in payment of the remaining portion, if
any, of the total Redemption Call Purchase Price, in each case, less any amounts withheld on account of tax required to be deducted and
withheld therefrom. If Big Flash does not exercise the Redemption Call Right in the manner described above, on the Redemption Date the
holders of the Exchangeable Shares will be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the redemption price otherwise payable by the Corporation
in connection with the redemption of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to section 7 of these Share Provisions.
(d) Big Flash shall at any time be entitled to assign all of its rights in this Section to an Affiliate of Big Flash provided that such company
assumes all of Big Flash's obligations under this Section.
SECTION 9 PURCHASE FOR CANCELLATION
9.1 Subject to applicable law and the articles of the Corporation, the Corporation may at any time and from time to time offer to purchase for
cancellation all or any part of the outstanding Exchangeable Shares at any price by tender to all the holders of record of Exchangeable Shares
then outstanding or through the facilities of any stock exchange on which the Exchangeable Shares are listed or quoted at any price per share
together with an amount equal to the Unpaid Dividend Amount. If in response to an invitation for tenders under the provisions of this section 9,
more Exchangeable Shares are tendered at a price or prices acceptable to the Corporation than the Corporation is prepared to purchase, the
Exchangeable Shares to be purchased by the Corporation shall be purchased as nearly as may be pro rata according to the number of shares
tendered by each holder who submits a tender to the Corporation, provided that when shares are tendered at different prices, the pro rating shall
be effected (disregarding fractions) only with respect to the shares tendered at the price at which more shares were tendered than the
Corporation is prepared to purchase after the Corporation has purchased all the shares tendered at lower prices. If part only of the Exchangeable
Shares represented by any certificate shall be purchased, a new certificate for the balance of such shares shall be issued at the expense of the
Corporation.
SECTION 10 VOTING RIGHTS
10.1 Except as required by applicable law and by sections 11, 12 and 13 hereof, and by the provisions of the Support Agreement referred to in
section 12 hereof, the holders of the Exchangeable Shares shall not be entitled as such to receive notice of or to attend any meeting of the
shareholders of the Corporation or to vote at any such meeting. The holders of Exchangeable Shares shall, however, be entitled to notice of
meetings of the shareholders called for the purpose of authorizing the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation or the sale,
lease, or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the Corporation other than in the ordinary course of business of the Corporation.
Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the voting rights of any issued and outstanding Big Flash Common Shares held in trust by the
Trustee or otherwise limit rights reserved to the holders of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the terms of the Exchange and Voting Trust
Agreement.
SECTION 11 AMENDMENT AND APPROVAL
11.1

The rights, privileges, restrictions, and conditions attaching to the
Exchangeable Shares may be added to, changed or removed but only with
the approval of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares given as
hereinafter specified.
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11.2

Any approval given by the holders of the Exchangeable Shares to add to,
change or remove any right, privilege, restriction or condition
attaching to the Exchangeable Shares or any other matter requiring the
approval or consent of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares shall be
deemed to have been sufficiently given if it shall have been given in
accordance with applicable law subject to a minimum requirement that
such approval be evidenced by resolution passed by not less than
two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast on such resolution at a meeting of
holders of Exchangeable Shares duly called and held at which the
holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding Exchangeable
Shares at that time are present or represented by proxy; provided that,
if at any such meeting the holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the
outstanding Exchangeable Shares at that time are not present or
represented by proxy within one-half hour after the time appointed for
such meeting, then the meeting shall be adjourned to such date not less
than five (5) days thereafter and to such time and place as may be
designated by the Chairman of such meeting. At such adjourned meeting
the holders of Exchangeable Shares present or represented by proxy
thereat may transact the business for which the meeting was originally
called and a resolution passed thereat by the affirmative vote of not
less than two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast on such resolution at such
meeting shall constitute the approval or consent of the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares.
SECTION 12 RECIPROCAL CHANGES, ETC.
IN RESPECT OF PARENT COMMON SHARES

12.1

Each holder of an Exchangeable Share acknowledges that the Support
Agreement provides that Big Flash will not without the prior approval
of the Corporation and the prior approval of the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with section 11.2 of these
Share Provisions:
(a)

issue or distribute Big Flash Common Shares (or securities
exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire
Big Flash Common Shares) to the holders of all or substantially
all of the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares by way of
stock dividend or other distribution, other than an issue of Big
Flash Common Shares (or securities exchangeable for or convertible
into or carrying rights to acquire Big Flash Common Shares) to
holders of Big Flash Common Shares who exercise an option to
receive dividends in Big Flash Common Shares (or securities
exchangeable for or convertible into or carrying rights to acquire
Big Flash Common Shares) in lieu of receiving cash dividends;

(b)

issue or distribute rights, options or warrants to the holders of
all or substantially all of the then outstanding Big Flash Common
Shares entitling them to subscribe for or to purchase Big Flash
Common Shares (or securities exchangeable for or convertible into
or carrying rights to acquire Big Flash Common Shares) ; or

(c)

issue or distribute to the holders of all or substantially
the then outstanding Big Flash Common Shares:
(i)

all of

shares or securities of Big Flash of any class other than Big
Flash Common Shares (other than shares convertible into or
exchangeable for or carrying rights to acquire Big Flash
Common Shares);

(ii) rights, options or warrants
section 12.1(b) above;
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other than those referred to in

(iii) evidences of indebtedness of Big Flash; or
(iv) assets of Big Flash,
unless (a) Big Flash is permitted under applicable law to
issue or distribute the economic equivalent on a per share
basis of such rights, options, securities, shares, evidences
of indebtedness or other assets to holders of the Exchangeable
Shares in which any and all such cases, such rights, options,
securities, shares, evidences of indebtedness or other assets
shall be delivered by Big Flash to the Trustee; and (b) the
economic equivalent on a per share basis of such rights,
options, securities, shares, evidences of indebtedness or
other assets is issued or distributed simultaneously by the
Trustee to holders of the Exchangeable Shares.
12.2

Each holder of an Exchangeable Share acknowledges that the Support
Agreement further provides that Big Flash will not without the prior
approval of the Corporation and the prior approval of the holders of
the Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with section 11.2 of these
Share Provisions:
(i)

subdivide, redivide or change the then outstanding Big Flash
Common Shares into a greater number of Big Flash Common
Shares;

(ii) reduce, combine,
Big Flash Common
Common Shares; or

consolidate or change the then outstanding
Shares into a lesser number of Big Flash

(iii) reclassify or otherwise change the Big Flash Common Shares
or effect an amalgamation, merger, reorganization or other
transaction affecting the Big Flash Common Shares,
unless (a) Big Flash is permitted under applicable law to undertake an
action described in items (i), (ii) or (iii) above; and (b) the same or
an economically
equivalent
change shall on a per share basis
simultaneously be made to, or in the right of the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares.
12.3

Each holder of an Exchangeable Share acknowledges that the Support
Agreement further provides that the aforesaid provisions of the Support
Agreement shall not be changed without the approval of the holders of
the Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with section 11.2 of these
Share Provisions.
SECTION 13 ACTIONS BY THE CORPORATION UNDER THE SUPPORT AGREEMENT

13.1

The Corporation will take all such actions and do all such things as
shall be necessary or advisable to perform and comply with and to
ensure performance and compliance by Big Flash and the Corporation with
all provisions of the Support Agreement and the Share Provisions
applicable to Big Flash, the Corporation and the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares, in accordance with the terms thereof including,
without limitation, taking all such actions and doing all such things
as shall be necessary or advisable to enforce to the fullest extent
possible for the direct benefit of the Corporation and the holders of
the Exchangeable Shares all rights and benefits in favour of the
Corporation and the holders of the Exchangeable Shares under or
pursuant to such agreement.
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13.2

The Corporation shall not propose, agree to or otherwise give effect to
any amendment to, or waiver or forgiveness of its rights or obligations
under, the Support Agreement without the approval of the holders of the
Exchangeable Shares given in accordance with section 11.2 of these
Share
Provisions,
other than such
amendments,
waivers and/or
forgiveness as may be necessary or advisable for the purposes of:
(a)

adding to the covenants of Big Flash to such agreement for the
protection of the Corporation or the holders of the Exchangeable
Shares thereunder;

(b)

making such provisions or modifications not inconsistent with such
agreement as may be necessary or desirable with respect to matters
or questions arising thereunder which, in the good faith opinion
of the Board of Directors, it may be expedient to make, provided
that the Board of Directors shall be of the good faith and
reasonable opinion, after consultation with counsel, that such
provisions and modifications will not be prejudicial to the
interests of the holders of the Exchangeable Shares; or

(c)

making such changes in or corrections to such agreement which, on
the advice of counsel to the Corporation, are required for the
purpose of curing or correcting any ambiguity or defect or
inconsistent provision or clerical omission or mistake or manifest
error contained therein, provided that the Board of Directors
shall be of the good faith and reasonable opinion, that such
changes or corrections will not be prejudicial to the interests of
the holders of the Exchangeable Shares.
SECTION 14 LEGEND; CALL RIGHTS

14.1

The certificates evidencing the Exchangeable Shares shall contain or
have affixed thereto a legend in form and on terms approved by the
Board of Directors, with respect to the Support Agreement, the
provisions
herein relating to the Liquidation
Call Right, the
Retraction Call Right and the Redemption Call Right.

14.2

Each holder of an Exchangeable Share, whether of record or beneficial,
by virtue of becoming and being such a holder shall be deemed to
acknowledge each of the Liquidation Call Right, the Retraction Call
Right and the Redemption Call Right, in each case, in favour of Big
Flash, and the overriding nature thereof in connection with the
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or the
retraction or redemption of Exchangeable Shares, as the case may be,
and to be bound thereby in favour of Big Flash as therein provided.
SECTION 15 NOTICES

15.1

Any notice, request or other communication to be given to the
Corporation by a holder of Exchangeable Shares shall be in writing and
shall be valid and effective if given by personal or courier delivery
to the registered office of the Corporation and addressed to the
attention of the President.
Any such notice, request or other
communication shall only be deemed to have been given and received upon
actual receipt thereof by the Corporation.

15.2

Any presentation and surrender by a holder of Exchangeable Shares to
the Corporation, the Trustee or the Transfer Agent of certificates
representing Exchangeable Shares in connection with the liquidation,
dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or the retraction or
redemption of Exchangeable Shares shall be made by personal or courier
delivery to the registered office of the Corporation or to such office
of the Trustee or the Transfer Agent as may be specified by the
Corporation, in each case, addressed to the attention of the President
of the Corporation. Any such presentation and surrender of certificates

-31-

shall only be deemed to have been made and to be effective upon actual
receipt thereof by the Corporation, the Trustee or the Transfer Agent,
as the case may be.
15.3

Any notice, request or other communication to be given to a holder of
Exchangeable Shares by or on behalf of the Corporation shall be in
writing and shall be valid and effective if given by personal or
courier delivery to the address of the holder recorded in the
securities register of the Corporation or, in the event of the address
of any such holder not being so recorded, then at the last known
address
of such
holder.
Any such
notice,
request or other
communication, if given by mail, shall be deemed to have been given and
received on the date of delivery. Accidental failure or omission to
give any notice, request or other communication to one or more holders
of Exchangeable Shares shall not invalidate or otherwise alter or
affect any action or proceeding to be taken by the Corporation pursuant
thereto.
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APPENDIX 1
FORM OF NOTICE OF RETRACTION
To: 6544631 Canada Inc. (the "Corporation")
This notice is given pursuant to section 6 of the provisions (the "Share Provisions") attaching to the Class A Special Shares of the Corporation
represented by the certificate (the "Certificate") which accompanies this notice and all capitalized words and expressions used in this notice that
are defined in the Share Provisions have the meanings ascribed to such words and expressions in such Share Provisions.
The undersigned hereby notifies the Corporation that, subject to the Retraction Call Right referred to below, the undersigned desires to have the
Corporation redeem in accordance with section 6 of the Share Provisions:
[ ] all share(s) represented by the Certificate; or
[ ] _________________ share(s) only.
The undersigned hereby notifies the Corporation that the Retraction Date shall be:
NOTE: the Retraction Date must be a Business Day and must not be less than 10 Business Days or more than 15 Business Days after the date
upon which this notice is delivered to the Corporation. If no such Business Day is specified above, the Retraction Date shall be deemed to be
the 15th Business Day after the date on which this notice is delivered to the Corporation.
The undersigned acknowledges the overriding Retraction Call Right of Big Flash Corp. ("Big Flash") to purchase all but not less than all the
Retracted Shares from the undersigned and that this notice is and shall be deemed to be a revocable offer by the undersigned to sell such shares
to Big Flash in accordance with the Retraction Call Right on the Retraction Date for the Purchase Price and on the other terms and conditions
set out in section 6.3 of the Share Provisions. This notice of retraction, and this offer to sell the Retracted Shares to Big Flash, may be revoked
and withdrawn by the undersigned only by notice in writing given to the Corporation at any time before the close of business on the Business
Day immediately preceding the Retraction Date as provided in section 6.7 of the Share Provisions.
The undersigned acknowledges that if, as a result of solvency provisions of applicable law, the Corporation is unable to redeem all Retracted
Shares, the undersigned will be deemed to have exercised the Exchange Right (as defined in the Share Provisions) so as to require Big Flash, to
purchase the unredeemed Retracted Shares.
The undersigned hereby represents and warrants to the Corporation and Big Flash that the undersigned:
(select one):
[ ] is
[ ] is not
-33-

a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada). The undersigned acknowledges that, in the absence of an indication
that the undersigned is not a non-resident of Canada, withholding on account of Canadian tax may be made from amounts payable to the
undersigned on the redemption or purchase of the Retracted Shares.
The undersigned hereby represents and warrants to the Corporation and Big Flash that the undersigned has good title to, and owns, the share(s)
represented by the Certificate to be acquired by the Corporation or Big Flash, as the case may be, free and clear of all liens, claims and
encumbrances except with respect to restrictions and legends required for purposes of compliance with U.S. federal securities laws.
[ ] Please check box if the securities and any cheque(s) resulting from the retraction or purchase of the Retracted Shares are to be held for pickup by the shareholder from the Transfer Agent, failing which the securities and any cheque(s) will be mailed to the last address of the
shareholder as it appears on the register.
Date:

Name of Person in Whose Name Securities or Cheque(s) are to be Registered, Issued or Delivered (please print)

Street Address or P.O. Box

Signature of Shareholder

City, Province and Postal Code

Signature Guaranteed by
NOTE: (1) This panel must be completed and the Certificate, together with such additional documents as the Transfer Agent may require, must
be deposited with the Transfer Agent. The securities and any cheque(s) resulting from the retraction or purchase of the Retracted Shares will be
issued and registered in, and made payable to, respectively, the name of the shareholder as it appears on the register of the Corporation and the
securities and any cheque(s) resulting from such retraction or purchase will be delivered to such shareholder as indicated above, unless the form
appearing immediately below is duly completed.
(2) If this notice of retraction is for less than all of the shares represented by the Certificate, a certificate representing the remaining share(s) of
the Corporation represented by the Certificate will be issued and registered in the name of the shareholder as it appears on the register of the
Corporation, unless the share transfer power on the reverse side of the Certificate is duly completed in respect of such share(s).
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ANNEX A
CAPITALIZATION OF EXCHANGECO
The authorized capital of Exchangeco consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of Class A Special Shares.
The rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions of the Class A Special Shares are attached to this Agreement as Schedule "A".
-35-

ESCROW AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the 28th day of April, 2006.
AMONG:
BIG FLASH CORP.
A Delaware corporation
("Big Flash")
AND:
6544631 CANADA INC.
An corporation incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act

(the "Issuer")
AND:
EQUITY TRANSFER SERVICES INC.
A corporation continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act

(the "Escrow Agent")
AND:
EACH OF THE UNDERSIGNED SECURITYHOLDERS OF THE ISSUER
(a "Securityholder" or "you")
(collectively, the "Parties")
WHEREAS:
A. This Agreement is being entered into by the Parties pursuant to and in compliance with the Share Exchange Agreement (the "Share
Exchange Agreement") by and among the Securityholders, the Issuer, Big Flash and Intelgenx Corp. dated <>, 2006.
B. The escrow securities (as defined herein) are exchangeable for common shares of Big Flash pursuant to the terms of a support agreement
dated <>, 2006 among the Issuer, Big Flash and the Escrow Agent and an exchange and voting trust agreement dated <>, 2006 among the
Parties (the "Collateral Agreements").
For good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as follows:
PART 1 ESCROW
1.1 Appointment of Escrow Agent
Big Flash, the Issuer and the Securityholders appoint the Escrow Agent to act as escrow agent under this Agreement. The Escrow Agent
accepts the appointment.

1.2 Deposit of Escrow Securities in Escrow
(1) You are depositing the securities ("escrow securities") listed opposite your name in Schedule "A" with the Escrow Agent to be held in
escrow under this Agreement. You will immediately deliver or cause to be delivered to the Escrow Agent any share certificates or other
evidence of these securities which you have or which you may later receive.
(2) If you receive any other securities ("additional escrow securities"):
(a) as a dividend or other distribution on escrow securities;
(b) on the exercise of a right of purchase, conversion or exchange attaching to escrow securities, including all securities of Big Flash which you
may receive in the future in connection with such exercise of a right of purchase, conversion or exchange;
(c) on a subdivision, or compulsory or automatic conversion or exchange of escrow securities; or
(d) from a successor issuer in a business combination, if Part 4 of this Agreement applies,
you will deposit them in escrow with the Escrow Agent. You will deliver or cause to be delivered to the Escrow Agent any share certificates or
other evidence of those additional escrow securities. When this Agreement refers to escrow securities, it includes additional escrow securities.
(3) You will immediately deliver to the Escrow Agent any replacement share certificates or other evidence of additional escrow securities
issued to you.
1.3 Direction to Escrow Agent
Big Flash, the Issuer and the Securityholders direct the Escrow Agent to hold the escrow securities in escrow until they are released from
escrow under this Agreement.
PART 2 RELEASE OF ESCROW SECURITIES
2.1 Release Provisions
The provisions of Schedule 2.1 are incorporated into and form part of this Agreement.
2.2 Additional escrow securities
If you acquire additional escrow securities in connection with the transaction to which this Agreement relates or otherwise, those securities will
be added to the securities already in escrow, to increase the number of escrow securities. After that, all of the escrow securities will be released
in accordance with the provisions of schedule 2.1.
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2.3 Delivery of Share Certificates for Escrow Securities
The Escrow Agent will send to each Securityholder any share certificates or other evidence of that Securityholder's escrow securities in the
possession of the Escrow Agent released from escrow as soon as reasonably practicable after the release.
2.4 Replacement Certificates
If, on the date a Securityholder's escrow securities are to be released, the Escrow Agent holds a share certificate or other evidence representing
more escrow securities than are to be released, the Escrow Agent will deliver the share certificate or other evidence to the Issuer or Big Flash,
as the case may be, or its transfer agent and request replacement share certificates or other evidence. The Issuer or Big Flash, as the case may
be, will cause replacement share certificates or other evidence to be prepared and delivered to the Escrow Agent. After the Escrow Agent
receives the replacement share certificates or other evidence, the Escrow Agent will send to the Securityholder or at the Securityholder's
direction, the replacement share certificate or other evidence of the escrow securities released. The Escrow Agent, Big Flash and Issuer will act
as soon as reasonably practicable.
PART 3. DEALING WITH ESCROW SECURITIES
3.1 Restriction on Transfer, etc.
Unless it is expressly permitted in this Agreement, you will not sell, transfer, assign, mortgage, enter into a derivative transaction concerning,
or otherwise deal in any way with your escrow securities or any related share certificates or other evidence of the escrow securities. If a
Securityholder is a private company controlled by one or more directors, officers or employees of Big Flash or a holder of securities in or
securities exchangeable or convertible into voting securities of Big Flash carrying more than 10% of the votes attached to all outstanding voting
securities of Big Flash (collectively, the "Principals"), the Securityholder may not participate in a transaction that results in a change of its
control or a change in the economic exposure of the Principals to the risks of holding escrow securities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon
receipt of a written request from a Securityholder, the disinterested directors of Big Flash (as defined below) may consent to a proposed
transfer within escrow of escrow securities in the circumstances and on such terms and conditions as they, in their sole discretion, may deem
appropriate provided beneficial ownership of the escrow securities proposed to be transferred shall remain with the Securityholder following
the transfer.
3.2 Pledge, Mortgage or Charge as Collateral for a Loan
Subject to and only with approval by a duly passed resolution of directors of Big Flash excluding all Securityholders and Principals who own
or control Securityholders (the "disinterested directors of Big Flash"), you may pledge, mortgage or charge your escrow securities to a financial
institution as collateral for a loan, provided that no escrow securities or any share
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certificates or other evidence of escrow securities will be transferred or delivered by the Escrow Agent to the financial institution for this
purpose. The loan agreement must provide that the escrow securities will remain in escrow if the lender realizes on the escrow securities to
satisfy the loan.
3.3 Voting of Escrow Securities
Although you may exercise voting rights attached to your escrow securities, you may not, while your securities are held in escrow, exercise
voting rights attached to any securities (whether in escrow or not) in support of one or more arrangements that would result in the repayment of
capital being made on the escrow securities prior to a winding up of the Issuer or Big Flash.
3.4 Exercise of Other Rights Attaching to Escrow Securities
You may exercise your rights to exchange or convert your escrow securities in accordance with this Agreement and the Collateral Agreements.
PART 4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
4.1 Business Combinations
This Part applies to the following ("business combinations"):
(a) a formal take-over bid for all outstanding equity securities of the Issuer or Big Flash or which, if successful, would result in a change of
control of the Issuer or Big Flash, (b) a formal issuer bid for all outstanding equity securities of the Issuer or Big Flash, (c) a statutory
arrangement involving the Issuer or Big Flash or both, (d) an amalgamation involving the Issuer or Big Flash or both, (e) a merger involving
the Issuer or Big Flash or both, and (f) a reorganization that has an effect similar to an amalgamation or merger.
4.2 Delivery to Escrow Agent
You may tender your escrow securities to a person or company in a business combination pursuant to the terms of this Part 4. At least ten
business days prior to the date the escrow securities must be tendered under the business combination, you must deliver to the Escrow Agent:
(a) a written direction signed by you that directs the Escrow Agent to deliver to the depositary under the business combination any share
certificates or other evidence of the escrow securities, and a completed and executed cover letter or similar document and, where required,
transfer power of attorney completed and executed for transfer in accordance with the requirements of the Issuer or Big Flash's depository, and
any other documentation specified or provided by you and required to be delivered to the depositary under the business combination;
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(b) written consent of the disinterested directors of Big Flash, unless the business combination consists of a statutory plan of arrangement in
which case the consent of the disinterested directors shall not be required; and
(c) any other information concerning the business combination as the Escrow Agent may reasonably require.
4.3 Delivery to Depositary
As soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event no later than three business days after the Escrow Agent receives the documents and
information required under section 4.2, the Escrow Agent will deliver to the depositary, in accordance with the direction, any share certificates
or other evidence of the escrow securities and a letter addressed to the depositary that:
(a) identifies the escrow securities that are being tendered;
(b) states that the escrow securities are held in escrow;
(c) states that the escrow securities are delivered only for the purposes of the business combination and that they will be released from escrow
only after the Escrow Agent receives the information described in section 4.4;
(d) if any share certificates or other evidence of the escrow securities have been delivered to the depositary, requires the depositary to return to
the Escrow Agent, as soon as practicable, the share certificates or other evidence of escrow securities that are not released from escrow into the
business combination; and
(e) where applicable, requires the depositary to deliver or cause to be delivered to the Escrow Agent, as soon as practicable, share certificates or
other evidence of additional escrow securities that you acquire under the business combination.
4.4 Release of Escrow Securities to Depositary
(1) The Escrow Agent will release from escrow the tendered escrow securities provided that:
(a) you provide written notice to Big Flash of the proposed release of the tendered securities; and
(b) the Escrow Agent and Big Flash receives a declaration signed by the depositary or, if the direction identifies the depositary as acting on
behalf of another person or company in respect of the business combination, by that other person or company, that
(i) the terms and conditions of the business combination have been met or waived; and
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(ii) the escrow securities have either been taken up and paid for or are subject to an unconditional obligation to be taken up and paid for under
the business combination.
4.5 Escrow of New Securities
If you receive securities ("new securities") of another issuer ("successor issuer") in exchange for your escrow securities, the new securities will
be subject to escrow in substitution for the tendered escrow securities.
4.6 Release from Escrow of New Securities
(1) The Escrow Agent will send to a Securityholder share certificates or other evidence of the Securityholder's new securities as soon as
reasonably practicable after the Escrow Agent receives;
(a) a certificate from the successor issuer signed by a director or officer of the successor issuer authorized to sign (who is not a Securityholder):
(i) stating that it is a successor issuer to the Issuer or Big Flash, as applicable, as a result of a business combination;
(ii) containing a list of the securityholders whose new securities are subject to escrow under section 4.5;
(iii) containing a list of the securityholders whose new securities are not subject to escrow under section 4.5; and
(b) written confirmation from or on behalf of the disinterested directors of Big Flash that they have accepted the list of Securityholders whose
new securities are not subject to escrow under section 4.5; and
(2) If your new securities are subject to escrow, the Escrow Agent will hold your new securities in escrow on the same terms and conditions,
including release dates, as applied to the escrow securities that you exchanged.
PART 5 RESIGNATION OF ESCROW AGENT
5.1 Resignation of Escrow Agent
(1) If the Escrow Agent wishes to resign as escrow agent, the Escrow Agent will give written notice to the Issuer and Big Flash.
(2) If the Issuer and Big Flash wish to terminate the Escrow Agent as escrow agent, the Issuer and Big Flash will give written notice to the
Escrow Agent.
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(3) If the Escrow Agent resigns or is terminated, the Issuer and Big Flash will be responsible for ensuring that the Escrow Agent is replaced not
later than the resignation or termination date by another escrow agent that is acceptable to Big Flash and that has accepted such appointment,
which appointment will be binding on the Issuer, Big Flash and the Securityholders.
(4) The resignation or termination of the Escrow Agent will be effective, and the Escrow Agent will cease to be bound by this Agreement, on
the date that is 60 days after the date of receipt of the notices referred to above by the Escrow Agent or Issuer and Big Flash, as applicable, or
on such other date as the Escrow Agent, Big Flash and the Issuer may agree upon (the "resignation or termination date"), provided that the
resignation or termination date will not be less than 10 business days before a release date.
(5) If the Issuer and Big Flash have not appointed a successor escrow agent within 60 days of the resignation or termination date, the Escrow
Agent will apply, at the Issuer's expense, to a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor escrow agent, and the duties
and responsibilities of the Escrow Agent will cease immediately upon such appointment.
(6) On any new appointment under this section, the successor Escrow Agent will be vested with the same powers, rights, duties and obligations
as if it had been originally named herein as Escrow Agent, without any further assurance, conveyance, act or deed. The predecessor Escrow
Agent, upon receipt of payment for any outstanding account for its services and expenses then unpaid, will transfer, deliver and pay over to the
successor Escrow Agent, who will be entitled to receive, all securities, records or other property on deposit with the predecessor Escrow Agent
in relation to this Agreement and the predecessor Escrow Agent will thereupon be discharged as Escrow Agent.
PART 6 OTHER CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
6.1 Duties and Liability of Escrow Agent.
(1) The duties of the Escrow Agent under this Agreement are only ministerial in nature and except for its wilful misconduct, fraud or grossly
negligent acts or omissions and the wilful misconduct, fraud or negligent acts or omissions of its directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers
or other representatives (collectively, its "Representatives"), the Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any act or omission by it in good faith or
for any mistake of fact or law.
(2) The Escrow Agent shall have no duties or obligations except those which are expressly set out in this Agreement which shall be deemed
those of a custodian and shall be entirely administrative and not discretionary, and under no circumstance shall the Escrow Agent be deemed a
fiduciary for the parties. The Escrow Agent shall not refer to, and shall not be bound by, the provisions of any agreement other than the terms
of this Agreement and no implied duties or obligations of the Escrow Agent may be read into this Agreement. This Agreement
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sets forth all matters pertinent to the escrow contemplated hereunder, and no additional obligations of the Escrow Agent shall be inferred from
the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement.
(3) The Escrow Agent shall not be required to defend any legal proceedings which may be instituted against it in respect of or arising out of
any matter contained in this Agreement unless requested to do so in writing by another Party and indemnified and funded to its reasonable
satisfaction against the cost and expense of that defence, so long as that legal proceeding does not arise as a result of an allegation of wilful
misconduct, fraud or grossly negligent acts or omissions on the part of the Escrow Agent or its Representatives.
(4) Each of the other Parties acknowledges that the Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility or obligation to determine any dispute or
evaluate any equities between the other parties, regardless of any knowledge or any fact that it may have or receive, its only responsibility as
Escrow Agent being to hold, safeguard and disburse the escrow securities in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
(5) The Escrow Agent shall not be under any duty to give the property held by it under this Agreement any greater degree of care than it gives
its own similar property. The Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility or liability for any diminution in value of any assets held hereunder
which may result from any investments or reinvestment made in accordance with any provision which may be contained herein so long as in
doing so the Escrow Agent shall not have acted with wilful neglect, negligence or in bad faith.
(6) The Escrow Agent shall not be required to use, advance or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of any
of its duties or the exercise of any of its rights under this Agreement other than any such liability as may arise from the failure of the Escrow
Agent to perform such duties as are specifically set forth in this Agreement or as a result of wilful misconduct, fraud or negligent acts or
omissions on the part of the Escrow Agent or its Representatives.
(7) Notwithstanding anything contained herein or in the Share Exchange Agreement to the contrary, the Escrow Agent shall have no duty to
determine the performance or non-performance of any term or provision of the Share Exchange Agreement and shall have no obligations,
responsibilities or liability arising under any other agreement to which the Escrow Agent is not a party, even though reference to such other
agreement may be made in this Agreement or the Share Purchase Agreement.
(8) The Escrow Agent shall not be responsible to ensure the validity or legality of the issuance of any escrow securities.
6.2 Reliance on Documents. The Escrow Agent shall be fully protected in acting and relying on any document delivered to it pursuant to this
Agreement as to its due execution, validity and effectiveness and as to the truth and accuracy of any information contained therein, whether that
document bears original or facsimile signature(s), so long as the Escrow Agent in good faith believes that document to be genuine and to be
what it purports to be.
6.3
Legal Counsel. The Escrow Agent may consult and obtain advice from independent legal counsel in the event of any question as to any of the
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provisions of this Agreement or as to its duties under this Agreement and the Escrow Agent shall incur no liability and shall be fully protected
in acting in good faith in accordance with the opinion and advice of such legal counsel.
6.4 Indemnity.
(1) Subject to Section 6.7, the parties shall jointly and severally indemnify and hold harmless the Escrow Agent and its Representatives from
any liability, loss, claim, action, cost, and expense, including legal fees and disbursements, (collectively, the "Liabilities") suffered or incurred
by them as a result of or arising directly or indirectly out of or in connection with the Escrow Agent acting or having acted as Escrow Agent
under this Agreement, except such as may result from the wilful misconduct, fraud or negligent acts or omissions of the Escrow Agent or of its
Representatives.
(2) The Escrow Agent shall act as trustee for its Representatives of the covenants of the parties under this Section 6.4 in respect of those
Representatives and accepts the trust and shall hold and enforce the covenants on their behalf.
(3) The covenants of the parties under this Section 6.4 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
6.5 Court Orders.
(1) The Escrow Agent is authorized, in its sole discretion, to rely on and comply with any order, writ, judgment or decree which it is advised by
independent legal counsel (retained by it pursuant to Section 6.3) is binding on it without the need for appeal or other action and which purports
to:
(a) attach, garnish or be levied on any part of the escrow securities;
(b) stay or enjoin the disbursement, payment or delivery of the escrow securities or any part thereof; or
(c) affect the escrow securities or any part thereof in any way.
If the Escrow Agent relies on or complies with any such order, writ, judgment or decree, it shall not be liable to any of the other Parties or to
any other Person by reason of such reliance or compliance even though such order, writ, judgment or decree may be subsequently reversed,
modified, annulled, set aside or vacated.
6.6 Fees, Expenses and Disbursements.
(1) The other Parties shall jointly and severally be responsible for and shall pay to the Escrow Agent all Escrow Agent Fees, all reasonable
expenses and disbursements of the Escrow Agent and all reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of legal counsel retained by the Escrow
Agent pursuant to Section 6.3.
(2) The Escrow Agent Fees are considered compensation for ordinary services as contemplated by this Agreement. If the Escrow Agent renders
any service not provided for in this Agreement, or if the other Parties request a substantial
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modification of the terms of this Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall be reasonably compensated for such extraordinary services and
reimbursed for all costs, lawyers' fees, and expenses reasonably occasioned in connection with such extraordinary services. The other Parties
shall jointly and severally be responsible for and shall pay to the Escrow Agent all such additional compensation and amounts.
6.7 Prohibition Against Disbursement from Escrow Securities. The Escrow Agent is not authorized to deliver to itself or any other Persons
from the escrow securities in satisfaction of any amounts due to the Escrow Agent or any other Person under Section 6.6. Notwithstanding any
provisions contained in this Agreement, if any of the Escrow Agent's Fees to which it is entitled under this Agreement, or any of the Escrow
Agent's expenses and disbursements which it is entitled to incur pursuant to this Agreement, are in arrears, the Escrow Agent reserves the right
to withhold, to the extent of any those arrears, the release of any escrow securities from escrow until those fees, expenses and disbursements are
paid in full.
PART 7 NOTICES
7.1 Notice to Escrow Agent
Documents will be considered to have been delivered to the Escrow Agent on the next business day following the date of transmission, if
delivered by fax, the date of delivery, if delivered by hand or by prepaid courier, or 5 business days after the date of mailing, if delivered by
mail, to the following:
Equity Transfer Services Inc.
120Adelaide Street West, Suite 420
Toronto, Ontario M5H 4C3
Attention: President
Fax: (416) 361-0470
7.2 Notice to Issuer
Documents will be considered to have been delivered to the Issuer on the next business day following the date of transmission, if delivered by
fax, the date of delivery, if delivered by hand during normal business hours or by prepaid courier, or 5 business days after the date of mailing, if
delivered by mail, to the following:
6544631 Canada Inc.
95 Wellington Street West, Suite 1704, P.O. Box 20 Toronto, Ontario M5J 2N7
Attention: Tim Leon
Fax: (416) 368-1608
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7.3 Notice to Big Flash
Documents will be considered to have been delivered to Big Flash on the next business day following the date of transmission, if delivered by
fax, the date of delivery, if delivered by hand during normal business hours or by prepaid courier, or 5 business days after the date of mailing, if
delivered by mail, to the following:
Big Flash Corp.
56 West 400 South, Suite #220
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
Attention: Geoff Williams, Secretary
Fax: (801) 595-0967
7.3 Deliveries to Securityholders
Documents will be considered to have been delivered to a Securityholder on the date of delivery, if delivered by hand or by prepaid courier, or
5 business days after the date of mailing, if delivered by mail, to the address on the Issuer's share register.
Any share certificates or other evidence of a Securityholder's escrow securities will be sent to the Securityholder's address on the Issuer's share
register unless the Securityholder has advised the Escrow Agent in writing otherwise at least ten business days before the escrow securities are
released from escrow. The Issuer will provide the Escrow Agent with each Securityholder's address as listed on the Issuer's share register.
7.4 Change of Address
(1) The Escrow Agent may change its address for delivery by delivering notice of the change of address to the Issuer and to each
Securityholder.
(2) The Issuer may change its address for delivery by delivering notice of the change of address to the Escrow Agent and to each
Securityholder.
(3) A Securityholder may change that Securityholder's address for delivery by delivering notice of the change of address to the Issuer and to the
Escrow Agent.
7.5 Postal Interruption
A party to this Agreement will not mail a Document if the party is aware of an actual or impending disruption of postal service.
PART 8 GENERAL
8.1 Interpretation - holding securities
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Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms that are not otherwise defined in this Agreement, shall have the meanings as defined
in the Share Exchange Agreement and, to the extent such definitions do not conflict with the Share Exchange Agreement, the Collateral
Agreements.
When this Agreement refers to securities that a Securityholder "holds", it means that the Securityholder has direct or indirect beneficial
ownership of or control or direction over the securities.
8.2 Enforcement by Third Parties
Each of the Issuer and Big Flash enters this Agreement both on its own behalf and as trustee for the stockholders of Big Flash, and this
Agreement may be enforced by either the Issuer, or Big Flash, or the stockholders of Big Flash, or all of them.
8.3 Termination, Amendment, and Waiver of Agreement
(1) Subject to subsection 8.3(3), this Agreement shall only terminate:
(a) with respect to all the Parties:
(i) as specifically provided in this Agreement;
(ii) subject to section 8.3(2), upon the agreement of all Parties; or
(iii) when the escrow securities of all Securityholders have been released from escrow pursuant to this Agreement; and
(b) with respect to a Party:
(i) as specifically provided in this Agreement; or
(ii) if the Party is a Securityholder, when all of the Securityholder's escrow securities have been released from escrow pursuant to this
Agreement.
(2) An agreement to terminate this Agreement pursuant to section 8.3(1)(a)(ii) shall not be effective unless and until the agreement to terminate
(a) is evidenced by a memorandum in writing signed by all Parties;
(b) has been consented to in writing by the disinterested directors of Big Flash; and
(c) has been approved by a majority of securityholders of Big Flash who are not Securityholders.
(4) No amendment or waiver of this Agreement or any part of this Agreement shall be effective unless the amendment or waiver:
(a) is evidenced by a memorandum in writing signed by all Parties;
-12-

(b) has been approved in writing by the disinterested directors of Big Flash; and
(c) has been approved by a majority of securityholders of Big Flash who are not Securityholders.
(5) No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provision (whether similar or
not), nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver, unless expressly provided.
8.4 Severance of Illegal Provision
Any provision or part of a provision of this Agreement determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable
shall be deemed stricken to the extent necessary to eliminate any invalidity, illegality or unenforceability, and the rest of the Agreement and all
other provisions and parts thereof shall remain in full force and effect and be binding upon the parties hereto as though the said illegal and/or
unenforceable provision or part thereof had never been included in this Agreement.
8.5 Further Assurances
The Parties will execute and deliver any further documents and perform any further acts reasonably requested by any of the Parties to this
Agreement which are necessary to carry out the intent of this Agreement.
8.6 Time
Time is of the essence of this Agreement.
8.7 Governing Laws
The laws of the Province of Ontario and the applicable laws of Canada will govern this Agreement.
8.8 Counterparts
The Parties may execute this Agreement by fax and in counterparts, each of which will be considered an original and all of which will be one
agreement.
8.9 Singular and Plural
Wherever a singular expression is used in this Agreement, that expression is considered as including the plural or the body corporate where
required by the context.
8.10 Benefit and Binding Effect
This Agreement will benefit and bind the Parties and their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and permitted assigns and all persons
claiming through them as if they had been a Party to this Agreement.
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8.11 Entire Agreement
This is the entire agreement among the Parties concerning the subject matter set out in this Agreement and supersedes any and all prior
understandings and agreements.
8.12 Successor to Escrow Agent
Any corporation with which the Escrow Agent may be amalgamated, merged or consolidated, or any corporation succeeding to the business of
the Escrow Agent will be the successor of the Escrow Agent under this Agreement without any further act on its part or on the part or any of
the Parties.
The Parties have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date set out above.
EQUITY TRANSFER SERVICES INC.

Authorized signatory

Authorized signatory
BIG FLASH CORP.

Authorized signatory

Authorized signatory
6544631 CANADA INC.

Authorized signatory

Authorized signatory
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Signed, sealed and delivered by
HORST ZERBE in the presence of:
----------------------------------------Name
----------------------------------------Address
-----------------------------------------

---------------------------------------Occupation

Signed, sealed and delivered by
INGRID ZERBE in the presence of:
----------------------------------------Name
----------------------------------------Address
-----------------------------------------

---------------------------------------Occupation
Signed, sealed and delivered by
JOEL COHEN in the presence of:
----------------------------------------Name
----------------------------------------Address
-----------------------------------------

---------------------------------------Occupation
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-----------------------HORST ZERBE

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

-----------------------INGRID ZERBE

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

-----------------------JOEL COHEN

SCHEDULE "A" TO ESCROW AGREEMENT
Securityholder
Name: HORST ZERBE
Signature:
Address for Notice:

Securities:
---------------------------- ---------------------- -------------------------Class and description
Number of Shares
Certificate Number(s) (if
applicable)
---------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- --------------------------

Securityholder
Name:

INGRID ZERBE

Signature:
Address for Notice:
------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Securities:
---------------------------- ---------------------- -------------------------Class and description
Number of Shares
Certificate Number(s) (if
applicable)
---------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- --------------------------
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Securityholder
Name: JOEL COHEN
Signature:
Address for Notice:

Securities:
---------------------------- ---------------------- -------------------------Class and description
Number of Shares
Certificate Number(s) (if
applicable)
---------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------------------------------------- ---------------------- --------------------------
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SCHEDULE 2.1 TO ESCROW AGREEMENT
ESCROW SECURITIES RELEASE SCHEDULE
Timed Release
---------------------

--------------------April <>, 2009

----------------------Percentage of Total
Escrowed Securities
to be Released
----------------------100%

---------------------Total Number of
Escrowed Securities
to be Released
----------------------10,991,000

--------------------TOTAL
---------------------

----------------------100%
-----------------------

----------------------

Release Date
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Intelgenx Corp. (a company in the development stage) as at December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004 and the related statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders' deficit and cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 and for the period from inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. These standards require that we plan and
perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 and
for the period from inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As described in note
2 to the financial statements, the Company has experienced an operating loss that raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a
going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in note 2. The financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Signed RSM Richter LLP
Chartered Accountants
Montreal, Quebec
January 27, 2006
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Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)

Balance Sheet
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
December 31,
2005
-----------

As at
December 31,
2004
-----------

$

$

Assets
Current
Cash (note 5)
Accounts receivable
Income taxes recoverable
Prepaid expenses
Investment tax credits receivable

10,938
5,858
9,400
3,186
69,576
-----------

6,481
18,159
-4,750
51,704
-----------

98,958

81,094

100,176
-----------

119,680
-----------

$
199,134
===========

$
200,774
===========

67,322
-14,000
-----------

53,432
10,124
------------

81,322
-----------

63,556
-----------

Long-Term Debt (note 8)

63,386
-----------

------------

Loan Payable, Shareholder (note 7)

86,253
-----------

41,857
-----------

77

77

Fixed Assets (note 4)

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 6)
Income taxes payable
Current maturity of long-term debt

Commitment (note 9)
Shareholders' Deficiency
Capital Stock (note 10)
Accumulated Retained Earnings (Deficit) During the
Development Stage

See accompanying notes
Approved on Behalf of the Board:
Director
Director
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(31,904)
-----------

95,284
-----------

(31,827)
-----------

95,361
-----------

$
199,134
===========

$
200,774
===========

Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Statement of Shareholders' Deficiency
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
Accumulated
(Deficit)
Cumulative
Earnings
Common Stock
Foreign Currency during the
------------------------Translation
Development
Shares
Amount
Adjustment
Stage
----------------------------------------Balance - June 15, 2003 (date of inception)

June 15, 2003 - issue of common shares
Foreign currency translation adjustment for the period
June 15 to December 31, 2003
Net loss from inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2003

Balance - December 31, 2003

--

$

--

--

--

-------------

(823)
------------

-(10,215)
-----------

(823)
(10,215)
-----------

10,000

77

(823)

(10,215)

(10,961)

7,316
--

-99,006

7,316
99,006

----------6,493

----------88,791

----------95,361

----------10,000

------------10,000
===========

See accompanying notes
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------------77

------------$
77
===========

--

$

-------------

---

--

$

77

Foreign currency translation adjustment
for the year ended December 31, 2005
Net loss for the year ended - December 31, 2005

Balance - December 31, 2005

--

10,000

Foreign currency translation adjustment for the year
ended December 31, 2004
Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2004

Balance - December 31, 2004

$

Total
Shareholders'
Equity
(Deficiency)
-----------

77

(1,668)
--

-(125,520)

(1,668)
(125,520)

----------$
4,825
===========

----------$
(36,729)
===========

----------$
(31,827)
===========

Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
From Inception
For the
(June 15, 2003)
Years Ended
to
-----------------------------------December 31,
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
2005
------------------------------Revenue

$
19,168
-----------

$
257,374
-----------

$
282,640
-----------

91,969
23,105
7,119
844
2,671
10,362
4,884
3,186
22,384
1,773
5,946
19,212
3,878
1,233
465
(44,298)
------------

131,547
15,375
4,538
484
3,225
1,271
6,071
868
7,931
587
1,921
11,957
2,006
876
1,074
(47,759)
2,817
-----------

232,410
38,480
11,657
1,328
5,896
11,633
20,643
4,054
30,315
2,360
7,867
32,189
6,830
2,204
1,539
(92,461)
2,817
-----------

154,733
-----------

144,789
-----------

319,761
-----------

(135,565)
-----------

112,585
-----------

(37,121)
-----------

(10,045)
------------

9,352
4,227
-----------

(693)
301
-----------

(10,045)
-----------

13,579
-----------

(392)
-----------

(125,520)
-----------

99,006
-----------

(36,729)
-----------

Foreign currency translation adjustment

(1,668)
-----------

7,316
-----------

4,825
-----------

Comprehensive Income

$ (127,188)
===========

$
106,322
===========

$
(31,904)
===========

Expenses
Research and development costs
Administrative salaries
Travel expenses
Advertising and promotion
Telecommunications
Professional fees
Office and general
Taxes and insurance
Rent
Interest and bank charges
Interest on long-term debt and loan payable, shareholder
Amortization - laboratory and office equipment
Amortization - leasehold improvements
Amortization - computer equipment
Foreign exchange
Research and development tax credits
Loss on disposal of fixed assets

Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes

Income taxes
Current
Deferred

Net Earnings (Loss)

Other Comprehensive Income

See accompanying notes
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Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)

Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

From
For the
Inception
Years Ended
(June 15, 2003)
-------------------------to
December 31,
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
2005
------------------------------Funds Provided (Used) Operating Activities
Net earnings (loss)
Amortization
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Foreign currency translation adjustment

$

(125,520)
24,323
-(1,668)
----------(102,865)

Changes in non-cash operating elements
of working capital

$

99,006
14,839
2,817
7,316
----------123,978

$

(36,729)
41,223
2,817
4,825
----------12,136

(9,641)
-----------

(46,747)
-----------

(20,698)
-----------

(112,506)
-----------

77,231
-----------

(8,562)
-----------

77,386
44,396
------------

-3,292
------------

77,386
86,253
77
-----------

121,782
-----------

3,292
-----------

163,716
-----------

(4,819)
------------

(115,513)
15,962
-----------

(160,178)
15,962
-----------

(4,819)
-----------

(99,551)
-----------

(144,216)
-----------

Financing Activities
Long-term debt
Loan payable, shareholder
Issue of capital stock

Investing Activities
Additions to fixed assets
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets

Increase (Decrease) in Cash

4,457

(19,028)

10,938

Cash
Beginning of Period

6,481
-----------

25,509
-----------

------------

End of Period

$
10,938
===========

$
6,481
===========

$
10,938
===========

See accompanying notes
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Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Notes to Financial Statements
From Inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
1. Organization and Basis of Presentation
The Company specializes in the development of pharmaceutical products in co-operation with various pharmaceutical companies.
Although the Company has the ability to develop pharmaceutical products, there can be no assurance that it will be able to obtain sufficient
contracts to generate sufficient revenue to pay its operating costs.
The Company is a development stage enterprise as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 7, "Accounting and Reporting by Development Stage Enterprises". The Company's main activities to date
have been establishing contracts with pharmaceutical companies and the development of pharmaceutical products. Because the Company is in
the development stage, the accompanying financial statements should not be regarded as typical for normal operating periods. The revenue
generated from inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005 is principally from one development contract which was cancelled prior to
completion.
The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. This basis of
accounting involves the application of accrual accounting and consequently, revenues and gains are recognized when earned, and expenses and
losses are recognized when incurred.
The financial statements are expressed in U.S. funds.
2. Going Concern
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company has
reported a net loss of $36,729 from inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005. As reported on the statement of cash flows, the Company
has reported deficient cash flows from operating activities of $8,562 from inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005. To date, these
losses and cash flow deficiencies have been financed principally through long-term debt and debt from related parties. Additional capital and/or
borrowings will be necessary in order for the Company to continue in existence until attaining and sustaining profitable operations.
Management has continued to develop a strategic plan to develop a management team, maintain reporting compliance and establish contracts
with pharmaceutical companies. Management anticipates generating revenue through development contracts during the next year. The
Company has commenced the process of raising additional capital. Should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be
unable to realize the carrying value of its assets and to meet its liabilities as they become due.
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Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Notes to Financial Statements
From Inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The financial statements
include estimates based on currently available information and management's judgment as to the outcome of future conditions and
circumstances.
Changes in the status of certain facts or circumstances could result in material changes to the estimates used in the preparation of the financial
statements and actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue from development contracts as the contracted services are performed or when milestones are achieved, in
accordance with the terms of the specific agreements. Amounts received in advance of recognition, if any, are included in deferred income.
Financial Instruments
The Company estimates the fair value of its financial instruments based on current interest rates, market value and pricing of financial
instruments with comparable terms. Unless otherwise indicated, the carrying value of these financial instruments approximates their fair market
value. It is not practical to determine the fair value of the amounts due from related parties due to their related party nature and the absence of a
market for such instruments.
Accounts Receivable
The Company accounts for trade receivables at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a review of all
outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual
customer receivables and considering a customer's financial condition, credit history and current economic conditions. The Company writes off
trade receivables when they are deemed uncollectible. The Company records recoveries of trade receivables previously written-off when they
receive them. Management considers the reserve for doubtful accounts of $Nil to be adequate to cover any exposure to loss in its December 31,
2005 and December 31, 2004 accounts receivable.
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Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Notes to Financial Statements
From Inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Cont'd)
Investment Tax Credits
Investment tax credits relating to qualifying expenditures are recognized in the accounts at the time at which the related expenditures are
incurred and there is reasonable assurance of their realization. Management has made estimates and assumptions in determining the
expenditures eligible for investment tax credits claimed.
Amortization
On the declining balance method Computer equipment
Laboratory and office equipment

30%
20%

On the straight-line method Leasehold improvements

5 years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets held and used by the Company are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of the assets to the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value thereof.
Foreign Currency Translation
The Company's reporting currency is the United States dollar. The Canadian dollar is the functional currency of the Company's Canadian
operations which is translated to the United States dollar using the current rate method. Under this method, accounts are translated as follows:
Assets and liabilities - at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date;
Revenue and expenses - at average exchange rates prevailing during the year.
Gains and losses arising from foreign currency translation are included in other comprehensive income.
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Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Notes to Financial Statements
From Inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
4. Fixed Assets

Cost
---------Laboratory and office equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

Laboratory and office equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

Accumulated
Amortization
----------

2005
Net Carrying
Amount
----------

$

110,789
5,113
21,171
----------

$

29,769
2,117
5,011
----------

$

81,020
2,996
16,160
----------

$ 137,073
==========

$
36,897
==========

$ 100,176
==========

Cost
----------

Accumulated
Amortization
----------

2004
Net Carrying
Amount
----------

$

108,462
5,096
20,183
----------

$

12,469
953
639
----------

$

95,993
4,143
19,544
----------

$ 133,741
==========

$
14,061
==========

$ 119,680
==========

5. Credit Facility
As at December 31, 2005, the Company had a credit facility of $43,000. Borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at prime rate plus
1.3% per annum. As security for the credit facility, the Company has pledged its assets to a maximum of $49,500.
6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is approximately $31,600 (2004 - $45,000) payable to shareholders.
7. Loan Payable, Shareholder
The loan payable, shareholder is unsecured, bears interest at 6% per annum and is not repayable prior to January 1, 2007. An amount of
$63,000 has been postponed in favor of the Bank (see note 8). Interest incurred during the year amounted to approximately $4,000 (2004 $1,900) which is measured at the exchange amount.
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Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Notes to Financial Statements
From Inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
8. Long-Term Debt

Loan from Business Development Bank of Canada, bearing interest at the lender's prime rate (6.25% at the inception of the loan) plus 1.5% per
annum, maturing in 2011 and payable in annual instalments of $15,500
commencing February 12, 2006
$

77,386

Current maturity
14,000
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

$

63,386

Principal payments due in each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter

$

14,000
15,500
15,500
15,500
15,500
1,386

As security for the loan from Business Development Bank of Canada, the Company has pledged all of its assets. As additional security, two
shareholders of the Company have provided a guarantee for an amount representing 25% of the current commitment, and the loan payable,
shareholder has been postponed for an amount of $63,000.
The term of the loan agreement require the Company to comply with certain financial covenants.
9. Commitment
The Company has entered into an agreement to lease premises up to August 2009. The future minimum lease payments over the next four years
are approximately as follows:
2006
2007
2008
2009

$
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13,000
13,000
13,500
9,200

Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Notes to Financial Statements
From Inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
10. Capital Stock
2005 2004

Authorized without limit as to number and without par value common shares
Issued 10,000 common shares $ 77 $ 77

11. Income Taxes
As at December 31, 2005, there were Canadian and provincial income tax losses of approximately $100,000, relating to the current year's
operations, that may be applied against earnings of future years, not later than 2015. As a result, a valuation allowance of $31,000 has been
applied against the deferred tax assets balance.
12. Statement of Cash Flows Additional Information
Changes in non-cash operating elements of working capital:
2005
-----------

2004
-----------

2003
-----------

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Investment tax credits receivable
Deferred income taxes
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred income

$

12,301
1,564
(17,872)
-13,890
(19,524)
-----------$
(9,641)
===========

$

(12,495)
(4,750)
(51,267)
4,242
18,510
10,124
(11,111)
----------$
(46,747)
===========

$

Interest paid

$
7,760
===========

$
2,340
===========

$
-===========

Income taxes paid

$
9,000
===========

$
-===========

$
-===========
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(5,664)
-(437)
(4,242)
34,922
-11,111
----------$
35,690
===========

Intelgenx Corp.
(A Company in the Development Stage)
Notes to Financial Statements
From Inception (June 15, 2003) to December 31, 2005
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
13. Major Customers
One customer accounts for more than 95% of the Company's revenue. This Company is no longer a customer. Outstanding accounts receivable
with this customer are $Nil as at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004.
14. Related Party Transactions
During the year, the Company incurred expenses of approximately $17,500 (2004 - $10,000) for laboratory equipment leased from a
shareholder. The agreement to lease the laboratory equipment expires in August 2007 and the future minimum lease payments are as follows:
2006 $ 17,500 2007 11,500
In 2004 and 2003, the Company incurred consulting fees of $22,500 and $7,500 respectively for services rendered by a shareholder. These
consulting fees have been included in research and development costs.
On June 30, 2005, the Company purchased patents and patent applications from a shareholder for a total consideration of $8,200, which is
included in accounts payable as at December 31, 2005.
The above related party transactions have been measured at the exchange amount which is the amount of the consideration established and
agreed to by the related parties.
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www.rsmrichter.com
Compilation Report
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Big Flash Corporation.
We have read the accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of Big Flash Corporation as at December 31, 2005, and the
related pro forma consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2005, and have performed the following procedures:
1) Compared the figures in the column captioned "Intelgenx Corp." to the audited financial statements of Intelgenx Corp. for the year ended
December 31, 2005 and found them to be in agreement.
2) Compared the figures in the column captioned "Big Flash Corporation" to the audited financial statements of Big Flash Corporation for the
year ended December 31, 2005 and found them to be in agreement.
3) Made enquiries with certain officials of Intelgenx Corp. who are responsibile for financial and accounting matters with respect to:
a) the basis for determination of the pro forma adjustments; and
b) whether the pro forma consolidated financial statements comply as to form in all material respects with various Securities Commissions
requirements.
The officials:
a) described to us the basis for determination of the pro forma adjustments; and
b) stated that the pro forma consolidated statements comply as to form in all material respects with various Securities Commissions
requirements.
4) Read the notes to the pro forma consolidated statements, and found them to be consistent with the basis described to us for determination of
the pro forma adjustments.
5) Recalculated the application of the pro forma adjustments to the aggregate of the amounts in the columns captioned "Intelgenx Corp" and
"Big Flash Corporation" as at December 31, 2005 and for the year then ended, and found the amounts in the columns captioned "Consolidated
Balance Sheet" and "Consolidated Statement of Operations" to be arithmetically correct.
The pro forma consolidated balance sheet and related pro forma consolidated statement of operations are based on management's assumptions
and adjustments which are inherently subjective. The foregoing procedures are substantially less than either an audit or a review, the objective
of which is the expression of assurance with respect to management's assumptions, the pro forma adjustments, and the application of the
adjustments to the historical financial information. Accordingly, we express no such assurance. The foregoing procedures would not
necessarily reveal matters of significance to the pro forma consolidated balance sheet and related pro forma consolidated statement of
operations, and we therefore make no representation about the sufficiency of the procedures for the purposes of a reader of such statements.
Signed RSM Richter LLP
Chartered Accountants
Montreal, Quebec
March 10, 2006
-1-

Big Flash Corporation
(A Development Stage Company)
-1Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet
As At December 31, 2005
(Unaudited - See Compilation Report)
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

Pro Forma
Adjustments
-----------

Consolidated
Balance
Sheet
------------

Intelgenx
Corp.
-----------

Big Flash
Corporation
-----------

$

10,938
5,858
3,186
69,576
9,400
----------98,958

$

-b) $
817,129
-----------------------------817,129

$

100,176
-----------

------------

------------

100,176
------------

$
199,134
===========

$
-===========

$
817,129
===========

$ 1,016,263
===========

67,322
-14,000
----------81,322
-----------

350
21,662
-----------22,012
-----------

-------------------------

67,672
21,662
14,000
-----------103,334
------------

63,386
----------86,253
-----------

-----------------------

-----------------------

63,386
-----------86,253
------------

Assets
Current
Cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Investment tax credits receivable
Income taxes recoverable

Property and Equipment

828,067
5,858
3,186
69,576
9,400
-----------916,087

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to shareholder
Current maturity of long-term debt

Long-Term Debt
Loan Payable, Shareholder

Shareholders' Equity
Capital Stock

77

Additional Paid-In Capital
Deficit

--

15 b)c) 1,227,437
985

(31,904)
----------(31,827)
-----------

(23,012)
----------(22,012)
-----------

$
199,134
===========

$
-===========

See accompanying notes
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(985)
c) (409,323)
----------817,129
----------$
817,129
===========

1,227,529
-(464,239)
-----------763,290
-----------$ 1,016,263
===========

Big Flash Corporation
(A Development Stage Company)
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
(Unaudited - See Compilation Report)
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)

Intelgenx
Corp.
----------Revenue

Big Flash
Corporation
-----------

Pro Forma
Adjustments
-----------

Consolidated
Statement of
Operations
------------

$
19,168
------------

$
-------------

$
-------------

$
19,168
------------

91,969
23,105
7,119
844
2,671
10,362
4,884
3,186
22,384
1,773
5,946
19,212
3,878
1,233
465
(44,298)
------------

------9,906
--1,217
------------------

-----(b) 410,326
----------------------

91,969
23,105
7,119
844
2,671
420,688
14,790
3,186
22,384
2,990
5,946
19,212
3,878
1,233
465
(44,298)
------------

154,733
------------

11,123
------------

410,326
------------

576,182
------------

Expenses
Research and development costs
Salaries
Travel expenses
Advertising and promotion
Telecommunications
Professional fees
Office and general
Taxes and insurance
Rent
Interest and bank charges
Interest on long-term debt
Amortization - laboratory and office equipment
Amortization - leasehold improvements
Amortization - computer equipment
Foreign exchange
Research and development tax credits

Loss Before Income Taxes

(135,565)

(11,123)

(410,326)

(557,014)

Income taxes

(10,045)
------------

--------------

-------------

(10,045)
------------

Net Loss

$
(125,520)
============

$
(11,123)
=============

$
(410,326)
============

$
(546,969)
============

============

=============

============

16,000,000
============

============

=============

============

$
(0.03)
============

Weighted Average Number of
Shares Outstanding

Loss Per Share

See accompanying notes
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Big Flash Corporation
(A Development Stage Company)
Notes to Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
(Unaudited - See Compilation Report)
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
1. Basis of Presentation
Effective April 28, 2006, Big Flash Corporation completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding shares of common stock of Intelgenx
Corp. in a transaction that has been accounted for as a recapitalization of Intelgenx Corp.
All of Intelgenx Corp.'s shares, through a series of exchanges, are exchanged for shares of Big Flash Corporation's common shares and/or
exchangeable shares of Big Flash Corporation's Exchangeco, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Big Flash Corporation. The exchangeable shares
are exchangeable for common shares of Big Flash Corporation on a one for one basis. Until such time as the holders of the exchangeable shares
wish to exchange their shares for Big Flash Corporation shares, the Big Flash Corporation shares are held in trust by a trustee on behalf of the
exchangeable share holders. The trustee shall be entitled to the voting rights in Big Flash Corporation as stated in the terms of the exchange and
voting agreement and shall exercise these voting rights according to the instructions of the holders of the exchangeable shares on a basis of one
vote for every exchangeable share held.
In the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements, the adjustments are made to reflect the financial condition and results of
operations of Intelgenx Corp. as the independent public operating entity.
The pro forma unaudited consolidated financial information may not be indicative of the financial position and results of operations that would
have occurred if the recapitalization had been in effect on the date indicated or of the financial position or operating results which may be
obtained in the future.
The pro forma unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Big Flash Corporation as at December 31, 2005 and the related pro forma unaudited
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 have been derived from the audited financial statements of
Intelgenx Corp. and Big Flash Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2005 and the assumptions and adjustments outlined in note 2.
The Big Flash Corporation's audited financial statements have been audited by Chisholm, Bierwolf & Nilson, LLC, while Intelgenx Corp.'s
audited financial statements have been audited by RSM Richter, LLP.
2. Pro Forma Assumptions and Adjustments
The accompanying pro forma unaudited consolidated financial statements of Big Flash Corporation have been prepared to reflect the following
assumptions and adjustments:
a) Intelgenx Corp. will exchange its existing 10,000 common shares for 10,991,000 common shares.
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(A Development Stage Company)
Notes to Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements For the Year Ended December 31, 2005
(Unaudited - See Compilation Report)
(Expressed in U.S. Funds)
2. Pro Forma Assumptions and Adjustments (Cont'd)
b) Intelgenx Corp. will issue 3,191,489 common shares for aggregate net proceeds of $1,000,000 Canadian, converted at a rate of
C$1.23/US$1.00, on closing of the Offering after deducting estimated expenses of the Offering and related transaction fees.
c) Big Flash Corporation will purchase all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Intelgenx Corp. on the basis of each issued and
outstanding common share being exchanged for one Big Flash Corporation common share or one Class B exchangeable share of Big Flash
Corporation's Exchangeco (and ancillary rights), which is substantially the economic equivalent of a common share of Big Flash Corporation.
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